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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 20-F contains forwardkiog statements. A forwarldoking statement is a projection about a futureng\or result, ar
whether the statement comes true is subject to maky and uncertainties. These statements otiarbe identified by the use of terms such as “mayill,”
“expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “appximate” or “continue,”or the negative thereof. The actual results owiies of the Company will likel
differ from projected results or activities of tBempany as described in this Annual Report, andl gifterences could be material.

Forwardiooking statements involve known and unknown riskscertainties and other factors that may causetheal results and performance of
Company to be different from any future resultsf@enance and achievements expressed or impligtidge statements. In other words, our performanight
be quite different from what the forward-lookingtements imply. You should review carefully aformation included in this Annual Report.

You should rely only on the forwaldoking statements that reflect management's viewfahe date of this Annual Report. We undertad@bligatior
to publicly revise or update these forwdodking statements to reflect subsequent eventsroumstances. You should also carefully review tisk factor
described in other documents we file from timeiteet with the Securities and Exchange Commissioa (8EC”). The Private Securities Reform Act of 1¢
contains a safe harbor for forward-looking statetmem which the Company relies in making such dsates. In connection with the “safe harbavg are
hereby identifying important factors that could sawctual results to differ materially from thosatained in any forwaréboking statements made by us ol
our behalf. Factors that might cause such a diffee include, but are not limited to, those disedsa the section entitled “Risk Factors” undemnit8. - Key
Information.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND CURRENCY PRESENTATION

We prepare our consolidated financial statemenés@ordance with accounting principles generalyeated in the United States of America and pu
our financial statements in United States Dollars.

REFERENCES

In this Annual Report, “Chinatefers to all parts of the People's Republic ofn@hither than the Special Administrative RegiorHohg Kong. Th
terms “Bonso,” “we,” “our,” “us,” “The Group” anche “Company’refer to Bonso Electronics International Inc. antiere the context so requires or sugg
our direct and indirect subsidiaries. Referenoe&lollars,” “U.S. Dollars” or “US$” are to UniteBtates Dollars, “HK$” are to Hong Kong Dollars, ‘f6a” or
“euro” are to the European Monetary Union's Curyerand “RMB” are to Chinese Renminbi.




PART |
Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management ad Advisors
Not Applicable.
Iltem 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable
Not Applicable.
Item 3. Key Information
A. Selected Financial Data.

The selected consolidated financial data as oth&d, 2010 and 2011 and for each of the threalfisgars ended March 31, 2011 are derived fror
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements and netesh appear elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The Financial Statements are prepared in accoedaitb generally accepted accounting principleshie United States of America and express¢
United States Dollars. The selected consolidatezhtial data set forth below as of March 31, 2@0Q8 and 2009, and for each of the two fiscal yéarthe
period ended March 31, 2008, have been derived fsamaudited consolidated financial statements #natnot included in this Annual Report. The sele
consolidated financial data is qualified in theaitieety by reference to, and should be read inwuetjon with, the Consolidated Financial Statememid relate
notes included in the F pages of this Annual Regodt Item 5. — “Operating and Financial Review Bnalspects” included in this Annual Report.

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]




SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Statement of Operations Data

(in 000's US$ except for shares and per share data)

Net sales

Cost of sale:

Gross margit

Selling expense

Salaries and related co:

Research and development expet

Administration and general expen:

Amortization of brand nam

Impairment of goodwil

Impairment of brand narr

Impairment on share investme

Income (loss) from operatiol

Interest incom

Interest expense

Foreign exchange lo:

Gain on disposal of proper

Gain on disposal of intangible ass

Other (expenses) incon

Income (loss) before income taxes and minorityredt

Income tax (expense) bene

Income (loss) from continuing operatic

Loss from discontinued operatio

Net loss

Earnings (loss) per sha
- Continuing operation
- Discontinued operatior
- Total

Weighted average shar

Diluted weighted average shai

Year Ended March 31,

@ &8P

2007(M@)

$
48,27.
(40,302
7,96¢
(874)
(3,017)
(98%)
(1,65¢)
(200)

1,23¢
30¢
(122)
(199)

(236)
997
(910)
87
(1,45¢)
(1,37))

0.01
(0.26)
(0.25)

5,577,63

5,937,64-

@ &8P

2008(M@)

$
45,49¢
(43,629)
1,867
(720)
(3,547)
(882)
(3,35])
(200)
(84%)
(1,597)
(200)
(9,46¢)
19¢
(44€)
(431)
3,12¢

592
(6,439
341
(6,09)
(2,45¢)
(8,550)

(1.09)
(0.49
(1.59)

5,577,63

5,577,63!

$

2009(M)3)

$
40,37¢
(34,707
5,671
(649)
(3,779
(792)
(4,607)

(4,149)
127
(209)
(279
162

707
(3,649
(208)
(3,849)
(3,739
(7,58

079 $

072 $

(145 $
5,246,90:
5,246,90:

2010M@)

$
28,54
(23,69)
4,85(
(375)
(2,539
(580)
(2,019

(65€)
102
(69)

(522)

62C
(529)
9
(532)
(126)
(65¢)

0.10 $

0.09 $

0.19 $
5,246,90:
5,246,90:

20110@
$

28,38

(24,76()

3,621

(249)

(2,716

(339)

(1,95¢9)

(1) The diluted net loss per share was the sartigeasasic net loss per share for the fiscal yeaded March 31, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 20all
potential ordinary shares, including the stockammi are anti-dilutive and therefore excluded ftbecomputation of diluted net loss per share.

(2) The statement of operations for fiscal yeardeel March 31, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 201leptentinuing and discontinued operation

conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statetae

(3) The statement of operations for fiscal yeateghMarch 31, 2009 was restated in conjunction thighConsolidated Financial Statements.




Balance Sheet Data
(in 000's US$ except for shares and per share data)

March 31,
2007W 2008W 2009 2010 2011
$ $ $ $ $
Cash and cash equivale! 8,11¢ 9,65¢ 8,04« 8,08t 5,407
Working capital of continuing operatiol 16,84: 11,81t 11,24« 10,53¢ 7,93¢
Total assets of continuing operatic - 34,04« 25,62( 23,48¢ 21,807
Total assets of discontinued operati - 7,742 3,81¢ 20C 5
Total asset 47,51¢ 41,78¢ 29,43¢ 23,68¢ 21,81:
Current liabilities of continuing operatio 16,39« 11,99( 6,99: 6,78¢ 6,28¢
Long-term debts and capital leas 59 184 52 - -
Deferred income tax asse 87 22 - - -
Total liabilities of continuing operatior - 14,77¢ 9,65¢ 9,40: 8,89¢
Total liabilities of discontinued operatio - 6,107 5,78 1,09¢ 1,08¢
Common stocl 17 17 17 17 17
Shareholder equity 31,05: 20,90 13,99¢ 13,18¢ 11,827

Dividends declared per she - E - - -

(1) The selected financial data for balance sheetiscal years ended March 31, 2007, 2008, 2@090 and 2011 present continuing and disconti
operations in conjunction with the Consolidatedaficial Statements.

Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following riskegether with all other information included inghAnnual Report. The realization of any of thés
described below could have a material adverseteffeour business, results of operations and fuyitwspects.

Political, Legal, Economic and Other Uncertaintiesof Operations in China and Hong Kong

We Could Face Increased Currency Risks If ChinasDidet Maintain The Stability Of The Hong Kong Dplta the Chinese RenminbiThe Hong
Kong Dollar and the United States Dollar have bieead at approximately 7.80 Hong Kong Dollars t0@U.S. Dollar since 1983. From 1994 until JulY2,
the Chinese Renminbi had remained stable agaiedt 1. Dollar at approximately 8.28 to 1.00 U.Sll&o On July 21, 2005, the Chinese currency regma:
altered to link the RMB to a “basket of currencieshich includes the U.S. Dollar, Euro, Japanese afeh Korean Won. Under the rules, the RMB is alldua
move 0.3% on a daily basis against the U.S. Dolldre People's Bank of China, on May 21 2007, wédethe RMB trading band from 0.3% daily moven
against the U.S. Dollar to 0.5%. Following the ol of the U.S. Dollar peg, the RMB appreciatedrenihan 20% against the U.S. Dollar over the foiig
three years. Since July 2008, however, the RMBttzaed within a narrow range against the U.S. DoAa a consequence, the RMB has fluctuated siganifly
since July 2008 against other freely traded cuiesnin tandem with the U.S. Dollar. On June 2A,®Qhe People’s Bank of China (“PBOGihnounced that tl
government of the People’s Republic of China (“PR@06uld further reform the RMB exchange rate regime eacrease the flexibility of the exchange ratés
difficult to predict how this new policy may impattte RMB exchange rate. As of September 20, 20ELIRMB was valued at 6.3595 per U.S. Dollar. Ome
19, 2010, the PBOC released a statement indictiaigt would "proceed further with reform of th&/lB exchange rate regime and increase the RMB ex
rate flexibility.” Any significant revaluation of the RMB may matelyaand adversely affect our cash flows, revenuasniags and financial position and
value of our common shares and any dividends pay@bbur common shareholders in U.S. Dollars. dditéon, the Chinese government continues to re
significant international pressure to further ldére its currency policy and as a result may ferrtbhange its currency policy. The Chinese goverrtnn the
past has expressed its intention in the Basic Lawhe® PRC to maintain the stability of the Hong Igoourrency after the sovereignty of Hong Kong
transferred to China in July 1997. However, theae be no assurance that tiidong Kong Dollar will remain pegged against the \D8llar or that the Chine
Renminbi will not be allowed to fluctuate more thas% on a daily basis. If the current exchange maechanism is changed, we shall face increasednmy
risks, which could have a material adverse effeanuthe Company.




We Face Significant Risks If The Chinese Goverhf@banges Its Policies, Laws, Regulations, Or TamcBure Or Its Current Interpretations Of
Laws, Rules And Regulations Relating To Our Openatin China. Our manufacturing facility and the new manufactgracility we are developing in XinXir
are located in China. As a result, our operatenmd assets are subject to significant politicabneanic, legal and other uncertainties. Changemlities by th
Chinese government resulting in changes in lawsegulations or the interpretation of laws or regoles, confiscatory taxation, changes in employr
restrictions, restrictions on imports and sourdesupply, import duties, corruption, currency rexstion or the expropriation of private enterprisaeld materially
and adversely affect us. Over the past severaksy#ae Chinese government has pursued econonuengiolicies, including the encouragement of pe
economic activity and greater economic decentrédima If the Chinese government does not contitmgursue its present policies that encourage do
investment and operations in China, or if thesécpgd are either not successful or are signifigaattered, then our business operations in Chinddcbe
adversely affected. We could even be subject ¢orisk of nationalization, which could result irethotal loss of investment in that country. Folilogythe
Chinese government'’s policy of privatizing manytestawned enterprises, the Chinese government has tdnto augment its revenues through increase
collection. Continued efforts to increase tax ras could result in increased taxation expensieg liecurred by us. Economic development may ingtdid a:
well by the imposition of austerity measures inghtb reduce inflation, the inadequate developroéntfrastructure and the potential unavailabitifyadequat
power and water supplies, transportation and conations. If for any reason we were required tovenour manufacturing operations outside of China
profitability would be substantially impaired, ocompetitiveness and market position would be matgrjeopardized and we might have to discontinue
operations.

Continuing Economic Weakness May AdversebcA®ur Earnings, Liquidity And Financial PositioriThe Companys business has been challen
recently as a consequence of adverse worldwideoatiorconditions. In particular, there has beeremsion of global consumer confidence from concerre
declining asset values, price instability, geojaditissues, the availability and cost of credgjng unemployment and the stability and solventyirancial
institutions, financial markets, businesses ande®gn nations. These concerns slowed global ecengrowth and resulted in recessions in many coes
including in the U.S., Europe and certain countiieAsia. The global economic weakness has nedgtingacted our operating results since 2008. Wiiiker:
are signs that the overall economic situationaditzing, any recovery in the economy may be weakhortlived. Recessionary conditions may return. If af
these potential negative economic conditions ocurumber of material adverse effects on our bssigeuld occur and could have a negative impaat wp
results of operations. Further, slower overallgtoof the Chinese economy may have a materialradweffect upon the Company and its results ofaijmers.

The Economy Of China Has Been Experiencing Sogmifi Growth, Leading To Some Inflation. If The &oment Tries To Control Inflation
Traditional Means Of Monetary Policy Or Returns Panned Economic Techniques, Our Business WilkBéffReduction In Sales Growth And Expan
Opportunities. The rapid growth of the PRC economy has histogiaabulted in high levels of inflation. If the gevament tries to control inflation, it may h:
an adverse effect on the business climate and brofyprivate enterprise in the PRC. An economigvslown may reduce our revenues. [f inflation Iswaéd tc
proceed unchecked, our costs would likely increasd,there can be no assurance that we would ke@lhcrease our prices to an extent that woulskebthe
increase in our expenses.




Changes To PRC Tax Laws And Heightened EfByt€hinas Tax Authorities To Increase Revenues Are ExpdaieBlubject Us To Greater Tax
Under PRC law before 2008, we were afforded a rarnolh tax concessions by, and tax refunds fromn&hitax authorities on a substantial portion of
operations in China by reinvesting all or part bé tprofits attributable to our PRC manufacturingeragpions. However, on March 16, 2007, the Chi
government enacted a unified enterprise incoméataxor “EIT,” which became effective on January 1, 2008. Pddhé EIT, as a foreign invested enterp
or “FIE,” located in Shenzhen of the PRC, our PRC subsidiargyed a national income tax rate of 15% ancwa&empted from the 3% local income tax.
preferential tax treatment to our subsidiariehmPRC of qualifying for tax refunds as a resultedfivesting their profits earned in previous yeaarthe PRC als
expired on January 1, 2008. Under the EIT, aparmfthose qualified as higiech enterprises, most domestic enterprises ansl\WilEbe subject to a single Pi
enterprise income tax rate of 25% in year 2012 aftetward. We base our tax position upon the gated nature and conduct of our business and ope
understanding of the tax laws of the various adstriative regions and countries in which we havetassr conduct activities. However, our tax posii® subjec
to review and possible challenge by taxing authesriand to possible changes in law, which may hatreactive effect. We cannot determine in advahe
extent to which some jurisdictions may requireaipdy taxes or make payments in lieu of taxes.

We Face Risks By Operating In China, BecalmeQhinese Legal System Relating To Foreign Invegtéind Foreign Operations Such As Bosde’
Evolving And The Application Of Chinese Laws Is éftain. The legal system of China relating to foreign irtmeents is continually evolving, and there cal
no certainty as to the application of its laws aedulations in particular instances. The Chine=gall system is a civil law system based on wr
statutes. Unlike common law systems, it is a sysite which decided legal cases have little prectdemalue. In 1979, the Chinese government bemp
promulgate a comprehensive system of laws and atigns governing economic matters in general. dlation over the past 30 years has significantlyagce
the protections afforded to various forms of foreigvestment in China. Enforcement of existingdaw agreements may be sporadic and implementatic
interpretation of laws inconsistent. The Chinasdidiary is relatively inexperienced in enforcirtietlaws that exist, leading to a higher than usiegiree c
uncertainty as to the outcome of any litigatiorve where adequate law exists in China, it maybeopossible to obtain swift and equitable enforaenoé tha
law. Further, various disputes may be subjeché¢oeixercise of considerable discretion by agerdfiise Chinese government, and forces and factoated t
the legal merits of a particular matter or disputy influence their determination. Continued utaiaty relating to the laws in China and the amtlan of the
laws could have a material adverse effect upomdsoar operations in China.

We Could Be Adversely Affected If China ChantgeEconomic Policies In The Shenzhen Speciahd@o@ Zone Where We Operatén August 198(
the Chinese government passed “Regulations for Spexial Economy Zone of Guangdong Provinaet! officially designated a portion of ShenzhenThe
Shenzhen Special Economy Zone. Foreign enterpriséese areas benefit from greater economic amgrand special tax incentives than enterpriseghai
parts of China. Changes in the policies or lawgegoing The Shenzhen Special Economy Zone could hawaterial adverse effect on us. Moreover, aoa
reforms and growth in China have been more suaglesstertain provinces than others, and the cemtiion or increase of these disparities could affiee
political or social stability of China, which couldive a material adverse effect on us and our bpesanear Shenzhen.

7




Controversies Affecting China’s Trade With Theted States Could Harm Our Results Of Operation®epress Our Stock PriceWhile China ha
been granted permanent most favored nation traassin the United States through its entry inte Ykorld Trade Organization, controversies betweée
United States and China may arise that threatersttes quo involving trade between the UnitedeStaind China. These controversies could mateailt
adversely affect our business by, among other shiogusing our products in the United States t@inecmore expensive, resulting in a reduction ind&ean
for our products by customers in the United Statdsch would have a material adverse effect uporand our results of operations. Further, politimatrade
friction between the United States and China, wérett not actually affecting our business, coukbahaterially and adversely affect the prevailirgrket prict
of our common shares.

If Our Sole Factory Were Destroyed Or Significgrilamaged As A Result of Fire, Flood Or Some ONwegural Disaster, We Would Be Adver:
Affected. All of our products are manufactured at our nfaawring facility located in Shenzhen, China. eMighting and disaster relief or assistance in C
may not be as developed as in Western countrieulfently maintain property damage insurance aggieg approximately $26.4 million covering ourcitan
trade, goods and merchandise, furniture and equipare buildings. We do not maintain businessrinfgion insurance. Investors are cautioned thaensa
damage to, or the loss of, our factory due to Bevere weather, flood or other act of God or caegen if insured, could have a material adverfecebn ou
financial condition, results of operations, busgaad prospects.

Our Results Could Be Harmed If We Have To QpMfith New Environmental Regulation®ur operations create some environmentally sea
waste that may increase in the future dependinthemature of our manufacturing operations. Theegd issue of the disposal of hazardous wastedtasver
increasing attention from Chire’national and local governments and foreign gawents and agencies and has been subject to inogesesjulation. Ot
business and operating results could be mate@alty adversely affected if we were to increase edipemes to comply with any new environmental regjolss
affecting our operations.




Enforcement of the Labor Contract Law, Minimum Wagcreases and Future Changes In The Labor LawSHima May Result In The Contint
Increase In Labor CostOn June 29, 2007, the Standing Committee of théoNalt Peoples Congress of China enacted the Labor Contract lhich becam
effective on January 1, 2008. The Labor Contractv lintroduces specific provisions related to fixedrt employment contracts, pairke employmen
probation, consultation with labor union and empleyassemblies, employment without a written cott@ismissal of employees, severance and colle
bargaining, which together represent enhanced esrfeent of labor laws and regulations. AccordingheLabor Contract Law, an employer is obligedigm sr
unlimitedterm labor contract with any employee who has wotfice the employer for 10 consecutive years. Furtifi@n employee requests or agrees to rer
fixed-term labor contract that has already been entertedtwice consecutively, the resulting contract trhesve an unlimited term, with certain exceptiohise
employer must also pay severance to an employeearly all instances where a labor contract, indgd contract with an unlimited term, is termirthia
expires. In addition, the government has continteethtroduce various new laboelated regulations after the Labor Contract Lawnohg other things, ne
annual leave requirements mandate that annual lemging from five to 15 days is available to ngall employees and further require that the emgr
compensate an employee for any annual leave daysntiployee is unable to take in the amount of tlirees his daily salary, subject to certain excagi Ir
addition, as the interpretation and implementatibthese new regulations are still evolving, werggtrassure you that our employment practices dpanawill
not, violate the Labor Contract Law and other latsated regulations. Between the fiscal years emdath 31, 2007 and 2011, we experienced an ineri
the cost of labor caused by the increase in thénmaim hourly rate. In accordance with the new mumimwage set by the local authorities in May 2016
increased the minimum wage for labor from RMB 960 dpproximately $132) per month to RMB 1,100 (pprximately $162) per month beginning Jul
2010. The minimum wage was increased to RMB 1{82Gpproximately $206) per month beginning April2D11. We believe that increased labor cos
China will have a significant effect on our totabgduction costs and results of operations andwieatvill not be able to continue to increase ourdpiaiion at oL
manufacturing facility without substantially inceéiag our norproduction salaries and related costs. This irs&réa minimum wage will increase our labor ¢
by 20%, or approximately $955,000, annually. If ave subject to severe penalties or incur signifidiabilities in connection with the enforcemerfttioe Labo
Contract Law, disputes or investigations, our besinand results of operations may be adverselgtaffe Any future changes in the labor laws inRRC coulr
result in our having to pay increased labor co3tsere can be no assurance that the labor lawsatithange, which may have a material adversetaffson ou
business and our results of operations.

If We Were To Lose Our Existing Banking Faciliti@sThose Facilities Were Substantially Decreased €ss Favorable Terms Were Imposed L
Us, The Company Could Be Materially And Adversédfgcted. We maintain banking facilities with a number offdient banks, which are typically subjec
renewal on an annual basis. We use our bankinitieEcto fund our working capital requirements recent months, the credit markets in Hong Kongd
throughout the world have tightened and experiemogdiordinary volatility and uncertainty. We hahed discussions with several of our banks anabeltha
the availability of our banking facilities will céinue on terms that are acceptable to us. Howeges, result of changes in the capital or otheallegguirement
applicable to the banks that provide our bankirglifees or if our financial position and operat®mvere to deteriorate further, our costs of borngatoulc
increase or the terms of our banking facilitieslddae changed so as to impact our liquidity. If are unable to obtain needed capital on terms &alolepto us
our business, financial condition, results of ofierss and cash flows could be materially adverséigcted.




Risk Factors Relating to Our Business

We Depend Upon Our Largest Customers For A Sigmifi€ortion Of Our Sales Revenue, And We Cannd@@tain That Sales To These Custor
Will Continue. If Sales To These Customers Do®witinue, Then Our Sales Will Decline And Our BesinWill Be Negatively Impactedlraditionally, we
have relied upon four customers for a significamttipn of our sales during the fiscal year. Durihg fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 2010 arid 2t
same four customers accounted for approximately, B8%b and 83% of sales, respectively. During theaf year ended March 31, 2011, 60% of our sakss
to a single customer (57% during the fiscal yeateehMarch 31, 2010). We do not enter into lé&gn contracts with our customers but manufactased upo
purchase orders and therefore cannot be certairsdites to these customers will continue. The tdsany of our largest customers would likely haveaterie
negative impact on our sales revenue and our k&ssine

Defects In Our Products Could Impair Our Ability Bell Our Products Or Could Result In Litigation dA®ther Significant Costs.Detection of an
significant defects in our products may resultamong other things, delay in time-tearket, loss of market acceptance and sales opmagtucts, diversion
development resources, injury to our reputatiomoreased warranty costs. Because our productsoanglex, they may contain defects that cannotdieatie
prior to shipment. These defects could harm oputaion, which could result in significant costsus and could impair our ability to sell our prothu The
costs we may incur in correcting any product defechy be substantial and could decrease our pnafigins.

Since certain of our products are used in appticatithat are integral to our customedyasinesses, errors, defects or other performaratgdgms coul
result in financial or other damages to our custem&hich would likely result in adverse effectoomur business with these customers. If we warelved ir
any product liability litigation, even if it werensuccessful, it would be timesnsuming and costly to defend. Further, our pebdability insurance may not |
adequate to cover claims.

Our Sales Through Retail Merchants Result In Seaf#tgnSusceptibility To A Downturn In The RetaddBomy And Sales Variances Resulting F
Retail Promotional Programs.Many of our other customers sell to retail merchamccordingly, these portions of our customerebar® susceptible to a furtl
downturn in the retail economy. A greater numbeowr sales of scales and telecommunications pitsdoccur between the months of July and Octobe
shipment in the summer in preparation of the Cima@st holiday. Throughout the remainder of the year,products do not appear to be subject to Samit
seasonal variation. However, past sales pattemsmot be indicative of future performance. A #igant portion of our sales in Europe is attrihl&ato the
promotional programs of our retail industry custesneThese promotional programs result in signifiaarders by customers who do not carry our praoot:
regular basis. We cannot assure you that promadtiparchases by our retail industry customers hbeéllrepeated regularly, or at all. Further, oumprstiona
sales could cause our quarterly results to vamyifsigntly. The reduction in promotional purchasesuld likely have a material adverse effect upanresults c
operations.
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Our Customers Are Dependent On Shipping ComparoeDElivery Of Our Products, And Interruptions Thifging Could Materially And Adverst
Affect Our Business And Operating ResulTypically, we sell our products either F.O.B. Hokgng or Yantian (Shenzhen), and our customersemgonsibl
for the transportation of products from Hong KongYantian (Shenzhen) to their final destinatio@ur customers rely on a variety of carriers fordua
transportation through various world ports. A wetkppage, strike or shutdown of one or more magots or airports could result in shipping delayatenially
and adversely affecting our customers, which im would have a material adverse effect on our lessimnd operating results. Similarly, an incréadeeight
surcharges due to rising fuel costs or generaépricreases could materially and adversely affacbosiness and operating results.

Customer Order Estimates May Not Be Indicative €tiAl Future Sales.Some of our customers have provided us with foteaafstheir requiremen
for our products over a period of time. We makenynmanagement decisions based on these custonmeatest, including purchasing materials, hiring pare
and other matters that may increase our productépacity and costs. If a customer reduces itsreifdem prior estimates after we have increasecpoaductior
capabilities and costs, this reduction may decreas@et sales and we may not be able to reduceastis to account for this reduction in customéecs. Man
customers do not provide us with forecasts of trejuirements for our products. If those custonpdase significant orders, we may not be able tvease ot
production quickly enough to fulfill the customemsders. The inability to fulfill customer ordersudd damage our relationships with customers addae ou
net sales.

Pressure By Our Customers To Reduce Prices AndeApd_ongTerm Supply Arrangements May Cause Our Net Saldar@it Margins To Decline.
Our customers are under pressure to reduce pricéeeio products. Therefore, we expect to expageimcreasing pressure from our customers to rethe
prices of our products. Continuing pressure taicedthe price of our products could have a matadakrse effect upon our business and operatindtsesOu
customers frequently negotiate supply arrangemeitksus well in advance of placing orders for defiy within a year, thereby requiring us to comruifptice
reductions before we can determine if we can aehibg assumed cost reductions. We believe we madste our manufacturing costs and obtain highkmve
orders to offset declining average sales pricasthEr, if we are unable to offset declining averagles prices, our gross profit margins will degliwhich wouli
have a material adverse effect upon our resultpefations.

We Depend Upon Our Key Personnel And The Loss ®Kéwg Personnel, Or Our Failure To Attract And Retey Personnel, Could Adversely Af
Our Future Performance, Including Product DevelopmeStrategic Plans, Marketing And Other Objectiveshe loss or failure to attract and retain
personnel could significantly impede our performgnacluding product development, strategic plamarketing and other objectives. Our success deptme
substantial extent not only on the ability and ei@ee of our senior management, but particulaplgruAnthony So, our Chairman of the Board. We dhave
key man life insurance on Mr. So. To the exteat the services of Mr. So would be unavailabledpwe would be required to obtain another persgretéorn
the duties Mr. So otherwise would perform. We rbayunable to employ another qualified person withappropriate background and expertise to repiac
So on terms suitable to us.
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Certain Subsidiaries Of The Company Receivedy@ing Enquiries From The Local Tax Authorities DwgiThe Year. If The Subsidiaries Were Fir
Held Liable For Such Additional Taxation, Our Colidated Net Income And The Value Of Your Investr@entid Be Substantially Reduce During the fisce
years ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, cesfaiur subsidiaries were, and continue to be, sl enquiries from the local tax authorities. ddghe
adoption of ASC 740 (formerly FIN 48), “Accountirfgr Uncertainty in Income Taxes — An Interpretatioh FASB Statement No. 109¢r FIN 48, th
Company recorded a provision of approximately $2,060 in relation to uncertain tax positions asAgiril 1, 2007. The assessment is subject to
determination by the local tax authorities and maylifferent from what we have recorded as a piowvisAs such, there can be no assurance thatthgry will
not result in the imposition of additional inconae expense on the Group, which could have a mastaheerse effect upon the Group and its resultgpefations

Contractual Arrangements We Have Entered Into Amdsg\nd Our Subsidiaries May Be Subject To Scriiynyrhe Respective Tax Authorities, Al
Finding That Bonso And Its Subsidiaries Owe AddaloTaxes Could Substantially Reduce Our ConsdididNet Income And The Value Of Your Investn
We could face material and adverse tax consequehties respective tax authorities determine tinet ¢ontractual arrangements among our subsidiarie
Bonso do not represent an arm’s length price ajusa8onso’s, or any of its subsidiariesicome in the form of a transfer pricing adjustmeBonso did nc
consider it necessary to make tax provision in th&ect. However, there can be no assurancehthassessment performed by the local tax autbsniill
result in the same position. A transfer pricinguatient could, among other things, result in auction, for tax purposes, of expense deductionsrdetl by
Bonso or any of its subsidiaries, which could imtincrease its tax liabilities. In addition, ttax authorities may impose late payment fees anerqtenalties ¢
our affiliated entities for underpaid taxes. Oansolidated net income may be materially and addeedfected if our affiliated entitiesax liabilities increase «
if they are found to be subject to late paymens faeother penalties.

Increased Prices For Raw Materials May Have A Negaimpact Upon Us.During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011,dbsts of component pa
increased due to the increase in the price ofs@bun the production of components such as plessio, steel and other raw materials. [f oil esicontinue 1
increase in the future, it will likely result in ancrease in the costs of components to us, asasgetln increase in our operating expenses, whighhaee i
material adverse effect upon our business andtsestibperations.

We May Face An Increased Shortage Of Factory Werk&uring the fiscal years ended March 31, 2007 ar@B2e experienced labor shortages
factory workers. During the fiscal year ended Ntargl, 2009, we reduced our number of factory warkdue to the decrease in demand for
products. Further, we reduced our labor requirgsnby subcontracting out some production procedsesg the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009. Duthm
fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, we increasechtireber of our factory workers. During the fiscalay ended March 31, 2011, we again reduced ot
workforce in Shenzhen, PRC as we prepare to traosibperations to a new factory in XinXing. Séariployees’below. There can be no assurance that we
not experience an increased need for workers im&hi the future or that we can adequately stadf factory, including our new factory in XinXing.hg&
inability to adequately staff our factory could baa material adverse impact on production, whiakicctead to delays in shipments or missed saleghd ever
that we have delayed or lost sales, we may neelblteer goods by air at our cost to ensure thatpyoducts arrive on time, which would likely residtar
increase in air freight costs and vendor fines @oad result in missed sales, any of which couldeha material adverse effect upon our businesandesult
from operations. We intend to monitor the quatifygoods from outsourcing through our incoming gyatontrol process; however, we cannot guararte
ability of our subcontractors to deliver goods ionet.
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Recent Changes In The PRC’s Labor Law Could Pemd@ianso If It Needs To Make Additional WorkforcellR&ons. In June 2007, the Natiol
Peoples Congress of the PRC enacted new labor law I¢gislzalled the Labor Contract Law, which becamfea@ive on January 1, 2008. It formali
workers’rights concerning overtime hours, pensions, lay@faployment contracts and the role of trade unig@ensidered as one of the strictest labor la\
the world, among other things, this new law recuis@ employer to conclude an “open-ended employmmmiract”with any employee who either has wor
for the employer for 10 years or more or has haa cansecutive fixed-term contracts. An “open-endetbloyment contractls in effect a lifetime, permane
contract, which is terminable only in specifiedcaimstances, such as a material breach of the emdayles and regulations, or for a serious derelicti
duty. Under the new law, downsizing by 20% or mofreach individual entity may occur only underdafied circumstances, such as a restructuring uakier
pursuant to China’ Enterprise Bankruptcy Law, or where a companfessiserious difficulties in production and/or mess operations. Also, if we lay off m
than 20 employees at one time, we have to commignigith the labor union of our Company and reporthte District Labor Bureau. During the fiscal §
ended March 31, 2011, we recognized a provisiorsémerance payment of $659,000 in anticipationedficing our full workforce in Shenzhen, PRC a:
transit our operations to a new factory in Xinxif8010: $659,000)This accrued severance payment allowance is rediewery year. We may incur mt
higher costs under Chirglabor laws if we are forced to downsize agaim accordingly, this new labor law may exacerbateativerse effect of the econol
environment on our financial results and financiadition.

We Face Increasing Competition In Our Industry Amaly Not Be Able To Successfully Compete With Oung@ditors. Our business is in an indus
that is becoming increasingly competitive, and mahgur competitors, both local and internatiorelye substantially greater technical, financial avatketing
resources than we have. As a result, we may beleit@ compete successfully with these competitdve compete with scale manufacturers in the Fat, Hae
United States, and Europe. We believe that ourcipal competitors in the scale and telecommurocatimarket are other original equipment manufac
(“OEM”) and original design manufacturer (“*ODMtanufacturers, and all companies engaged in thedlbch ODM and OEM business. Both the scale ar
telecommunications markets are highly competitavagl we face pressures on pricing and lower margisgvidenced by the decline in margins that wes
experienced with our scale and telecommunicationsiycts. Lower margins may affect our ability wver our costs, which could have a material neg
impact on our operations and our business.

We Are Controlled By Our Management, Whose Intévist Differ From Those Of The Other Shareholderss of August 31, 2011, Mr. Anthony ¢
our founder and Chairman, beneficially owns apprately 44.4% of the shares of our common stocKuding shares underlying his outstanding option
40.9% of the issued and outstanding shares of @umnmn stock. Due to his stock ownership, Mr. Sy fp@ in a position to elect the board of directansl
therefore, to control our business and affairduiiag certain significant corporate actions sustaequisitions, the sale or purchase of assetshandsuance a
sale of our securities. Mr. So may be able to @néwr cause a change in control of the Compang.also may be prevented from entering into traimastha
could be beneficial to us without Mr. So’s consefihe interest of our largest shareholder may dfffem the interests of other shareholders.

Due To Inherent Limitations, There Can Be No Asscealhat Our System Of Disclosure And Internal e@dstAnd Procedures Will Be Successft
Preventing All Errors Or Fraud Or In Informing Magament Of All Material Information In A Timely Mam Our disclosure controls and internal controls
procedures may not prevent all errors and all fraiccontrol system, no matter how welnceived and operated, can provide only reasonabteabsoluts
assurance that the objectives of the control systermet. Further, the design of a control systefitects that there are resource constraints, la@dénefits ¢
controls must be considered relative to their coBscause of the inherent limitations in all cohtsystems, no evaluation of controls can provideotute
assurance that all control issues and instancésud, if any, within the company have been or wél detected. These inherent limitations incldderealitie
that judgments in decisiomaking can be faulty and that breakdowns can osicuply because of error or mistake. Additionatigntrols can be circumvented
the individual acts of some persons, by collusibriwm or more people or by circumvention of theeimal control procedures. The design of any systé
controls also is based in part upon certain assomgptabout the likelihood of future events, andré¢hean be no assurance that any design will sucit
achieving its stated goals under all potential feitoonditions; over time, a control may become éupthte because of changes in conditions, or theeeetx
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritatate. Because of the inherent limitations icoateffective control system, misstatements due torem
fraud may occur and may not be detected.
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Compliance Costs With The Securities Laws And Ré&gos Pursuant To The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 200RINg¢rease Our Costs The Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 that became law in July 2002 heguired changes in some of our corporate govemaseurities disclosure, accounting and compli
practices. In response to the requirements of dbgtthe Securities and Exchange Commission an&¥Q have promulgated new rules on a variet
subjects. Compliance with these rules, as welilis the Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, including, but not limited topmpliance with Section 404 that requ
management to assess the effectiveness of its)alteontrol over financial reporting, has increased legal, financial and accounting costs, andewgect th
cost of compliance with these new rules to be paena Further, the new rules may increase the resqeeassociated with our director and officer lit
insurance.

Our Operating Results And Stock Price Are SubjectWide Fluctuations. Our quarterly and annual operating results afiecfd by a wide variety
factors that could materially and adversely affeet sales, gross profit and profitability. Thisulmbresult from any one or a combination of factorgny o
which are beyond our control. Results of operatiam any period should not be considered indicatfeesults to be expected in any future period
fluctuations in operating results may also resufuctuations in the market price of our commauckt

Our Results Could Be Affected By Changes In Cuyrdfxchange Rates.Changes in currency rates involving the Hong Ka@mwlar or Chines
Renminbi could increase our expenses. Duringitttalfyears ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 20Xfjrmncial results were affected by currency fuattons
resulting in a total foreign exchange loss of agjmately $279,000, $522,000 and $130,000, respalgtivGenerally, our revenues are collected in &thiState
Dollars. Our costs and expenses are paid in UStates Dollars, Hong Kong Dollars, and Chinesenfilebi. We face a variety of risks associated witange
among the relative value of these currencies. @gption of the Chinese Renminbi against the Hongd<Dollar and the United States Dollar would it
our expenses when translated into United StatefBahnd could materially and adversely affect margins and results of operations. If the tren€hines:
Renminbi appreciation continues against the Hongg<idollar and the United States Dollar, our opegtiosts will further increase and our financiaiules will
be adversely affected. In addition, a significdetaluation in the Chinese Renminbi or Hong Kondl@@ould have a material adverse effect uponresults o
operations. If we determined to pass onto ourarnsts through price increases the effect of ine®#s the Chinese Renminbi relative to the HongdDwollar
and the United States Dollar, it would make ourdpicis more expensive in global markets, such atttied States and the European Union. This coeddl
in the loss of customers, who may seek, and betatdbtain, products and services comparable teethe offer in lowecost regions of the world. If we did 1
increase our prices to pass on the effect of isg®an the Chinese Renminbi relative to the HongdKbollar and the United States Dollar, our margins
profitability would suffer.

Protection And Infringement Of Intellectual Propert We have no patents, licenses, franchises, coiosssr royalty agreements that are materi
our business. We have obtained a trademark ratisir in Hong Kong for the marks BONSO and MODUS dannection with certain electrol
apparatus. Unauthorized parties may attempt toy cagpects of our products or trademarks or to ob@md use information that we regard
proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of our prdd is difficult. Our means of protecting our prietary rights may not be adequate. In addittbe, laws o
some foreign countries do not protect our propnetights to as great an extent as do the lawshefUnited States. Our failure to adequately ptoten
proprietary rights may allow third parties to deglie our products or develop functionally equival@nsuperior technology. In addition, our compme ma
independently develop similar technology or desigmund our proprietary intellectual property.
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Further, we may be notified that we are infringjpatents, trademarks, copyrights or other intell@ichroperty rights owned by other parties. In
event of an infringement claim, we may be requiedpend a significant amount of money to developminfringing alternative or to obtain licenses. Way
not be successful in developing such an alternativebtaining a license on reasonable terms, @latAny litigation, even without merit, could nds in
substantial costs and diversion of resources anfil ¢tmve a material adverse affect on our busiardsesults of operations.

Cancellations Or Delays In Orders Could Materiafyd Adversely Affect Our Gross Margins And Operatiltome. Sales to our OEM customers
primarily based on purchase orders we receive fiiome to time rather than firm, longrm purchase commitments. Although it is our geheractice t
purchase raw materials only upon receiving a pwelader, for certain customers we will occasignplirchase raw materials based on such custonmalisly
forecasts. Further, during times of potential comgnt shortages we have purchased, and may corntnumerchase, raw materials and component partise
expectation of receiving purchase orders for prtgltiat use these components. In the event gutuehase orders are delayed, are not receivecaraaucellec
we would experience increased inventory levels assible writedowns of raw material inventory that could matdyi@nd adversely affect our business
operating results.

We Generally Have No Written Agreements With Sesplio Obtain Components, And Our Margins And OfrggaResults Could Suffer Frc
Increases In Component Price We are typically responsible for purchasing comgris used in manufacturing products for our custesmWe generally do r
have written agreements with our suppliers of conembs. This typically results in our bearing thek of component price increases because we mayaiele
to procure the required materials at a price leeglessary to generate anticipated margins frororthers of our customers. Prices of componentsin@agase i
the future for a variety of reasons. Accordinglgditional increases in component prices could riale and adversely affect our gross margins aggliits o
operations.

Certain Legal Consequences of Foreign Incorporatioand Operations

Judgments Against The Company And Management M&jffdmilt To Obtain Or Enforce. We are a holding corporation organized as aniat®na
Business Company under the laws of the British Mitglands (“BVI"), and our principal operating subsidiaries are omghunder the laws of Hong Kong
the laws of the PRC. Our principal executive @ffiare located in Hong Kong and the PRC. OutsiddJnited States, it may be difficult for investéwsenforc
judgments obtained against us in actions broughhénUnited States, including actions predicatednufhe civil liability provisions of United Statdedera
securities laws. In addition, most of our officensd directors reside outside the United Stated,the assets of these persons are located outsdBritec
States. As a result, it may not be possible feedtors to effect service of process within thetébhiStates upon these persons or to enforce agha&ompan
or these persons judgments predicated upon thiétligirovisions of United States federal secustlaws. Our Hong Kong counsel and our British Wirtsland:
counsel have advised that there is substantial tdesitio the enforceability against us or any of dwectors or officers in original actions or intiaos fol
enforcement of judgments of United States courtdams for liability based on the civil liabilitgrovisions of United States federal securities laws
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Because We Are Incorporated In The British Virgitaihds, You May Not Have The Same Protections AeBtiders Of U.S. CorporationsWe art
organized under the laws of the British Virgin feda. Principles of law relating to matters affegtthe validity of corporate procedures, the fidngiduties ¢
our management, directors and controlling sharefisldnd the rights of our shareholders differ framg may not be as protective of shareholdershasetthe
would apply if we were incorporated in a jurisdictiwithin the United States. Our directors hawepgbhwer to take certain actions without sharehcéggroval
including amending our Memorandum or Articles ofsAesiation, which are the terms used in the Briiétgin Islands for a corporatioa’charter and bylaw
respectively, and approving certain fundamentapemate transactions, including reorganizationstage@mmergers or consolidations and the sale orstearo
assets. In addition, there is doubt that the soafrthe British Virgin Islands would enforce litities predicated upon United States federal stéeariaws.

Future Issuances Of Preference Shares Could Mdlgiand Adversely Affect The Holders Of Our Comr8biares Or Delay Or Prevent A Change
Control. Our Memorandum and Atrticles of Association provide ability to issue an aggregate of 10,000,00@eshaf preferred stock in four classes. Whil
preferred shares are currently issued or outstgndire may issue preferred shares in the futuréurBussuance of preferred shares could materaalg
adversely affect the rights of the holders of aummon shares, dilute the common shareholders’ ingéddr delay or prevent a change of control.

Our Shareholders Do Not Have The Same Protectiarieformation Generally Available To ShareholdersW@S. Corporations Because The Repoi
Requirements For Foreign Private Issuers Are Moirited Than Those Applicable To Public Corporati@ganized In The United State We are a foreic
private issuer within the meaning of rules promtégaunder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ‘fixehange Act”). We are not subject to certain provisi
of the Exchange Act applicable to United Stateslipulbmpanies, including: the rules under the Exae Act requiring the filing with the SEC of quaty
reports on Form 10-Q or current reports on Fork, 8e sections of the Exchange Act regulatingsbiécitation of proxies, consents or authorizatiomsespec
to a security registered under the Exchange Actthadections of the Exchange Act requiring ingderfile public reports of their stock ownershipdarading
activities and establishing insider liability forgfits realized from any “short-swingtading transaction (i.e., a purchase and salsaler and purchase, of
issuers equity securities within six months or less).c@gse we are not subject to these rules, our shides are not afforded the same protectior
information generally available to investors in [iwlsompanies organized in the United States.

Our Board’s Ability To Amend Our Charter Withouta®sholder Approval Could Have Antiakeover Effects That Could Prevent A Change Inti@b

As permitted by the laws of the British Virginldads, our Memorandum and Articles of Associatioaynbe amended by our board of directors wit

shareholder approval. This includes amendmenitsctease or reduce our authorized capital stockr @ards ability to amend our charter documents witl

shareholder approval could have the effect of detgydeterring or preventing a change in controBohso, including a tender offer to purchase ounmor
shares at a premium over the current market price.

We Have Not Paid Dividends Since 2007 And May Mgt Bividends In The FutureWe have not paid dividends on our Common StonkesR007

and we may not be able to declare dividends, obtieed of directors may decide not to declare @rdsk, in the future. We will determine the amouwdtany
dividends when and if they are declared, in therutt the time of declaration.
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Item 4. Information on the Company
History and Development of the Company

Bonso Electronics International Inc. was formedAargust 8, 1988 as a limited liability InternatiorBiisiness Company under the laws of the Bi
Virgin Islands under the name “Golden Virtue Lindite On September 14, 1988, we changed our name to BBlestronics International, Inc. We opel
under the BVI Business Companies Act.

Effective as of May 1, 2001 we acquired 100% of ¢lqeity of Korona Haushaltswaren GmbH & Co. KGjnaited liability partnership registered
Germany (“Korona”).Korona markets consumer scale products throughordggde to retail merchandisers and distributorsesehproducts feature contempo
designs using the latest materials and attractaokamging. Effective March 31, 2009, we sold ase&tsorona to Beurer GmbH, including inventoriescaunt:
receivable, toolings and intellectual property tgghWe are in the process of liquidating Korona.

Effective as of August 1, 2002, we acquired 51%hefequity of Gram Precision Scales Inc. (“GrancRien”). Gram Precision is primarily engagec
the distribution and marketing of pocket scaleshim United States, Canada and Europe. Effectiveedber 1, 2008, we sold our 51% of the equity cdir€
Precision to Mohan Thadani, the founder of GrantiBien.

In April 2007, we formed a new wholly-owned subaigi, Bonso USA, Inc., a Nevada corporation (“Bokk®A”), to focus on the sales of indust
scales in the U.S. market. We are in the procEkguwdating Bonso USA.

Our corporate administrative matters are conduttiegugh our registered agent, HWR Services Limifed). Box 71, Road Town, Tortola, Briti
Virgin Islands. Our principal executive officesedocated at Unit 1404, 14/F, Cheuk Nang Centrdjll®vood Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. 1t
telephone number is (852) 2605-5822, our facsimilmber is (852) 2691-1724, our e-mail addressfig@bonso.com and our website is www.bonso.com.
Our principal capital expenditures on propertynpland equipment over the last three years arf@gbtbelow:

2009 2010 2011
Property plant & equipment and land use ri $72,000 $491,00C $1,397,00(

Our capital expenditures include the purchase ahim@ry used in the production of certain of owdrcts.

All of the foregoing capital expenditures were ficad principally from internally generated funds.
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In November, 2006, Bonso entered into a land pwetegreement with Xincheng Miech Industrial Estate to acquire a piece of laodsisting o
133,500 square meters for future expansion of t@@2nys operations in XinXing. This new piece of landvisre than triple the size of the land upon w
the Company's existing facilities are located iref&hen, China. The land transfer was complete@0@9. The first phase of construction of the
manufacturing facilities has commenced, and thatrootion is expected to finish in 2012.

Business Overview

Bonso Electronics International Inc. designs, depe| produces and sells electronic sefsmed and wireless products for private label oai
equipment manufacturers (individually “OEM” or, tagitively, “OEM's"), original brand manufacturermdividually “OBM” or, collectively, “OBM's") anc
original design manufacturers (individually “ODM¥,aollectively, “ODM's”).

Since 1989, we have manufactured all of our pradircChina in order to take advantage of the lomarhead costs and competitive labor rates.
factory is currently located in Shenzhen, Chinayutb0 miles from Hong Kong. The convenient lomatpermits us to easily manage manufacturing ojoeis
from Hong Kong and facilitates transportation of ptoducts out of China through the ports of Horan and Yantian (Shenzhen).

Products

Our sensobased scale products include bathroom, kitcheigenffewelry, laboratory, postal and industriallesghat are used in consumer, comme
and industrial applications These products accounted for 75% of revenue fofithal year ended March 31, 2009, 88% for 2010%i# for 2011. We belier
that our industrial scales will continue to be @éa portion of our scales revenue as we are atdedure orders from our major customers.

Our wireless telecommunications products include-tvay radios and cordless telephones that are imsednsumer and commercial applicatians
These products accounted for 24% of revenue Her fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, 11% for 20468 @% for 2011. The decrease in sale
telecommunications products was caused by the ragation of the Company’ decision to give up orders of telecommunicatipreducts with low prof
margins. Management believes that the revenue fmm telecommunications products will end since t@empany terminated its production
telecommunications products in February 2011.

The Company has recently begun to produce certagtrigal pet care products, including a bark colndievice. The Company did not have any rev:

from pet care products during the fiscal year enldch 31, 2011. As of the date of this reportreinains to be seen if pet care products will bexa
significant new product line for the Company.
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We also receive revenue from certain customersttfer development and manufacture of tooling and mgldor scales and telecommunical
products. Generally, these tools and moulds aeel by us for the manufacture of products. We gksoerate some sales of scrap materials. Thesaue
accounted for approximately 1% of net sales forfigeal years ended March 31, 2009, 1% for 20102%sdor 2011.

The following table sets forth the percentage dfsades for each of the product lines mentionedralfor the fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, Z
and 2011:

Year ended March 31,

Product Line 200¢ 201( 2011
Scales 75% 88% 91%
Telecommunication Produc 24% 11% 7%
Others 1% 1% 2%
Total 100% 100% 100%

Business Strategy

We believe that our continued growth depends uporability to strengthen our customer base by eaingnand diversifying our products, increas
the number of customers and expanding into additiorarkets while maintaining or increasing saleswfproducts to existing customers. Our contingevtt
and our ability to become profitable are also deleen upon our ability to control production costsl ancrease production capacity. Our strategyctoese thes
goals is as follows:

Product Enhancement And DiversificatioWWe continually seek to improve and enhance oistiag products in order to provide a longer prdadife-
cycle and to meet increasing customer demandsdditianal features. Our research and developmeft are currently working on a variety of projedt
enhance our existing scale products and in theapsséle/meter area. See “Products, Research eneldpment/Competition” below.

Maintaining And Expanding Business Relations Wikistihg Customers. We promote relationships with our significant tousers through regul
communication, including visiting certain of ourstomers in their home countries and providing dieecess to our manufacturing and quality co
personnel. This access, together with our confrguality, has resulted in a relatively low lewdldefective products. Moreover, we believe that emphas
on timely delivery, good service and low cost hastdbuted, and will continue to contribute, to galations with our customers and increased ordeusther
we solicit suggestions from our customers for poddenhancement and when feasible, plan to deveiapircorporate the enhancements suggested t
customers into our products.

Controlling Production Costs In 1989, recognizing that labor cost is a m&ator permitting effective competition in the canger electronic produc
industry, we relocated all of our manufacturing ipiens to China to take advantage of the largélabla pool of lowereost manufacturing labor. We loca
our manufacturing facilities within 50 miles of HpiKong in order to facilitate transportation of qaoducts to markets outside of China while bemefifrom
the advantages associated with manufacturing in&Caind in the Shenzhen Special Economy Zone.
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We are actively seeking to control production cdstssuch means as redesigning our existing prodnateder to decrease material and labor ¢
controlling the number of our employees, increasirgefficiency of workers by providing regularitiag and tools and redesigning the flow of ourdarctior
lines.

Increasing Production Capacity In November 2006, Bonso entered into a land jage agreement to acquire 133,500 square met&sdfor futur
expansion in XinXing, China. The construction bétnew manufacturing facility began during the disgear ended March 31, 2010 and is expected
completed by 2012. We intend to carefully mondar capacity needs and to expand capacity as regess

Customers and Marketing

We sell our products primarily in the United Stadesl Europe. Customers for our products are pifiyn@EM's, OBM's and ODM's, which market -
products under their own brand names. We contiouearket our products to OEM’s, OBM’s and ODM's@de shows and via e-mail and facsimile.

Net export sales to customers by geographic anesisted of the following for each of the three pgeanded March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

Year ended March 31.:

2009 2010 2011
$ in thousands % $ in thousands % $ in thousands %
United States of Americ 26,92: 67 19,79¢ 69 18,89: 67
Germany 4,78: 12 3,92: 14 5,557 20
Other EuropeaCountries 2,85¢ 7 68E 3 1,011 3
Asia and Other 5,81¢ 14 4,13¢ 14 2,92¢ 10
Total 40,37¢ 10C 28,54 10C 28,387 10C

We maintain a marketing and sales team of eighplpedAlso, our experienced engineering teams windctly with our customers to develop and te
our products to meet the customers’ specific ne&ds. market our products primarily through a corabion of direct contact by our experiencedhse
technical sales staff and our sales representatindshrough the use of direct mail catalogues@oduct literature. During the fiscal years endiéarch 31
2009, 2010 and 2011, we recorded total commissayments of approximately $92,000, $42,000 and $B,88spectively. In addition, our marketing te
contact existing and potential customers by telephmail and facsimile and in person.
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Our major sensor-based electronic scale produsteeiers and their percentage of sales for the piriee fiscal years are below:

Percent of Sales — Year ended March 31:

Electronics Sensor Customer: 2009 2010 2011
Sunbeam Products, In 45% 57% 60%
Gottl Kern + Sohn GMBF 10% 9% 14%
Pitney Bowes Inc 12% 8% 6%

Our major telecommunications products customeri@nukrcentage of sales for each of the prior tfiseal years are below:

Percent of Sales — Year ended March 31:

Telecommunications 2009 2010 2011
Customer
TTI Tech Co., Ltd 11% 7% 3%

Component Parts and Suppliers

We purchase over 1,000 different component padmfmore than 100 major suppliers and are not depgndpon any single supplier for |
components. We purchase components for our preguicharily from suppliers in Japan, Taiwan, Sdkithea, Hong Kong and China.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2007 an@82the costs of component parts increased dubetancrease in the price of oil used in
production of components such as plastic resiel sted other raw materials. Further, we beliew tosts of component parts increased during ithis perioc
due to an increase in worldwide demand for eleatroomponents such as those used in the produefionr products. During the fiscal year ended Ma3d
2009 and 2010, there were no significant changehkedrice of oil, steel or other raw materialsowdver, the price of oil and other raw materialsréase
during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. Weehaken steps to reduce our exposure to any ityatal obtain components by forecasting with arréase:
buffer rate and placing orders for components eadnd allowing for longer delivery lead times. cBese of these actions, we do not expect to experian
difficulty in obtaining needed component partsdar products.
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Quality Control

We have received 1SO 9001:2000 certification frorat Dlorske Veritas Certification B.V., the Nethedan The ISO 9001:2000 certification v
awarded to our subsidiary, Bonso Electronics Lithiémd to Bonso Electronics Limited5ubsidiary Bonso Electronics (Shenzhen) Compamytéd. Furthel
we have received TL 9000 certification for our éelenmunications products. We have also receivetification according to the Environmental Managet
Standards of 1SO 14001:2004, the Occupational Heatd Safety Management Standard of OHSAS 18001nsanthgement system for medical device
1SO13485:2003.

ISO 9001 is one of the ISO 9000 series of qualitytem standards developed by the International dzgdon for Standardization, a worldw
federation of national standards bodies. ISO 9@@Yides a model for quality assurance (and contisuimprovement) in product development, manufaug,
installation and servicing that focuses on meetingtomer requirements. The TL 9000 standard wasldeed by the Quality Excellence for Supplier:
Telecommunications (QUEST) Leadership Forum. ThedT0O0 certification process was developed excklgito address the quality of products and ser
provided by suppliers to the telecommunicationsigtg.

By integrating the Occupational Health and Safegniement Standard of OHSAS 18001 into our quality environmental systems, we have cre
a total Integrated Management System (IMR)uality, Environment and Health and Safety by canirlgy ISO9001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 into
Quality/Environment/Health and Safety registration.

ISO 13485 certification ensures that we have impleted and maintained a quality system for the desigl manufacture of medical devices and al
us to develop and manufacture safe and effectivdicakedevices.

The European Union has enacted the Restrictionhef Use of Certain Hazardous Substances in Elekctaicd Electronic Equipment Directi
(“RoHS™). RoHS prohibits the use of certain substances, diulead, in certain products. We believe thatanein compliance with RoHS and have a su
of compliant components from suppliers.

The Company provides to certain customers an aditione to two percent of certain products ordémeceu of a warranty, which are recognizec
cost of sales when these products are shippedstoroers from our facility. In addition, certainogucts sold by the Company are subject to a lintexdiuc
quality warranty. The Company accrues for estich@eurred but unidentified quality issues basedrupistorical activity and known quality issuesifoss i:
probable and can be reasonably estimated. Thdasthtimited warranty period is one to three yed@siality returns, refunds, rebates and discourtsexorde
net of sales at the time of sale to three yearsestichated based on past history. All sales asedapon firm orders with fixed terms and condsiowhict
generally cannot be modified. Historically, we bawt experienced material differences betweerestimated amounts of quality returns, refunds, tesban:
discounts and the actual results. In all contrabtre is no price protection or similar privileigerelation to the sale of goods.
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Patents, Licenses, Trademarks, Franchises, Concemss and Royalty Agreements
We have obtained a trademark registration in Hongd<and China for the marks BONSO and MODUS in egtion with certain electronic apparatus.

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark aade secret laws, employee and third party disolosure agreements and other intellectual pty
protection methods to protect our proprietary sghthere can be no assurance that third partibsati assert infringement or other claims againstwitt
respect to any existing or future products. Wencamssure you that licenses would be availabémyf of our technology was successfully challenggd bhirc
party, or if it became desirable to use any thiadp technology to enhance the Compangtoducts. Litigation to protect our proprietanjormation or t
determine the validity of any thindarty claims could result in a significant expetseus and divert the efforts of our technical ananagement personr
whether or not such litigation is determined in tavor.

While we have no knowledge that we are infringippmi the proprietary rights of any third party, #aean be no assurance that such claims will n
asserted in the future with respect to existingubure products. Any such assertion by a thirdypaould require us to pay royalties, to particgat costl
litigation and defend licensees in any such suispant to indemnification agreements, or to reffeam selling an alleged infringing product or seer

Product Research and Development/Competition

The major responsibility of the product design,esesh and development personnel is to develop aodupe designs to the satisfaction of, an
accordance with, the specifications provided by@M's, OBM's and ODM's. We believe our enginegdnd product development capabilities are impott
the future success of our business. As an ODM,take specifications that are provided to us by thstomer and design a product to meet t
specifications. Some of our product design, redeand development activities are customer fundetl are under agreements with specific customel
specific products. We have successfully loweresl dbsts for our research and development team hynmanost research and development activities tt
facilities in China. We principally employ Chinesagineers and technicians at costs that are suladiy lower than those that would be requiredHaong
Kong. At March 31, 2011, we employed 25 individual Hong Kong and China for our engineering staffip are at various times engaged in researcl
development. The major responsibility of the pridiesign and research and development persontebisvelop and produce designs of scales prododts
satisfaction of, and in accordance with, the speatibns provided by the ODM's and OEM's. We apéite hiring additional research and developmerggee
to meet the increased demand for scale products.

The manufacture and sale of electronic sessed and wireless products is highly competit@empetition is primarily based upon unit pricepguc
quality, reliability, product features and managattereputation for integrity. Accordingly, reliance is placed on research anceigpment of new products, li
extensions and technological, quality and othetinanus product improvement. There can be no asserthat we will enjoy the same degree of sudoetbest
efforts in the future. Research and developmepeeses aggregated approximately $792,000 durinisibed year ended March 31, 2009, $580,000 duitire
fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 and $334,000 ddiscal year ended March 31, 2011.
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Seasonality

Generally, the first calendar quarter of each yedypically the slowest sales period because oamufacturing facilities in China are closed for
weeks for the Chinese New Year holidays to permipleyees to travel to their homes in China. Iniold, sales during the first calendar quarter othbscale
and telecommunications products usually dip follogvithe increase in sales during the Christmas sea&ogreater number of our sales of scales
telecommunications products occur between the nsaoitApril and September for shipment in the sumimeareparation of the Christmas holiday. Througt
the remainder of the year, our products do not apfiebe subject to significant seasonal variatiales of telecommunication products are genehédjyier ir
the summer months. However, past sales patterpsiotebe indicative of future performance.

Employee incentive compensation is conditionedrenegmployees return to work following the Chinese New Year agaid to employees followil
the reopening of the factory after the holidayse Mélieve that this method has resulted in lowepleyee turnover than might otherwise have occurred.

Transportation

Typically, we sell products either F.O.B. Hong KooigYantian (Shenzhen), which means that our custsrare responsible for the transportatic
finished products from Hong Kong or Yantian (Shesghto their final destination. Transportationcomponents and finished products to and from thet d
shipment is by truck. To date, we have not beetenadly affected by any transportation probleniowever, transportation difficulties affecting a@rgo o
shipping, such as an extended closure of portsntladrially disrupts the flow of our customepsbducts into the United States, could materiafig adversel
affect our sales and margins if, as a result, astaners delay or cancel orders or seek concessiarffset expediting charges they incurred pendesplutior
of the problems causing the port closures.

Government Regulation

We are subject to comprehensive and changing fordigderal, provincial, state and local environraémequirements, including those goverr
discharges to the air and water, the handling @spbdal of solid and hazardous waste and the rextiediof contamination associated with releasdsagfrdou
substances. We believe that we are in compliaritecmrrent environmental requirements. Nevertbgleve use hazardous substances in our operatidng:
is the case with manufacturers in general, if eas¢ of hazardous substances occurs on or froproperties we may be held liable and may be requepay
the cost of remediation. The amount of any resglliability could be material.
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Foreign Operations

A significant amount of our products are manufaetiuat our factory located in China. While China haen granted permanent most favored n
trade status in the United States through its entojthe World Trade Organization, controversiesaeen the United States and China may arisehheaten th
status quo involving trade between the United Stated China. These controversies could matergaity adversely affect our business by, among ottiegs
causing our products in the United States to beaoiore expensive, resulting in a reduction in theaied for our products by customers in the UnitedeSt

Sovereignty over Hong Kong reverted to China oty 1yl1997. The 1984 SinBritish Joint Declaration, the 1990 Basic Law ofridoKong, the 19¢
United Stateddong Kong Policy Act and other agreements provimaes indication of the business climate we belieikagntinue to exist in Hong Kong. Ho
Kong remains a Special Administrative Region (“SARF China, with certain autonomies from the Chingsgernment. Hong Kong is a full member of
World Trade Organization. It has separate custt@mitory from China, with separate tariff ratesdagxport control procedures. It has a separatdléctua
property registration system. The Hong Kong Doltategal tender in the SAR, freely convertible amat subject to foreign currency exchange conthy
China. The SAR government has sole responsilfiitytax policies, though the Chinese governmenttnapprove the SAR' budgets. Notwithstanding
provisions of these international agreements, wmatbe assured of the continued stability of mallt legal, economic or other conditions in Hongrlg. N¢
treaty exists between Hong Kong and the UnitedeStptoviding for the reciprocal enforcement of figngudgments. Accordingly, Hong Kong courts migiot
enforce judgments predicated on the federal séesitdws of the United States, whether arising femtions brought in the United States or, if peteditin Hon
Kong.

Organizational Structure

We have two wholly-owned Hong Kong subsidiariesn&w Electronics Limited (“BEL”) and Bonso Advanc&dchnology Limited (“BATL"). BEL
was organized under the laws of Hong Kong andspassible for the design, development, manufacncdesale of our products. BATL was organized urlde
laws of Hong Kong and has been used to acquiréhaltticertain property investments in China.

BEL has one active Hong Kong subsidiary, Bonso stwent Limited (“BIL"). BIL was organized under the laws of Hong Kong aad been used
acquire and hold our property investments in Hoogd<and China.

BEL also has one active PRC subsidiary, Bonso Eleits (Shenzhen) Company Limited, which is orgedimnder the laws of the PRC and is ust
manufacture all of our products.

BATL has one active PRC subsidiary, Bonso Advantedhnology (Xinxing) Limited, which is organized der the laws of the PRC and is use
acquire and hold our new manufacturing facilityttisebeing constructed in XinXing, China.
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We also have another wholly-owned British Virgitereds subsidiary, Modus Enterprise International In

As of March 31, 2009, Modus Enterprise Internatioime. owned 100% of Korona. Korona was engagednarketing, distributing and retaili
consumer bathroom and kitchen scale products thautgeurope. Effective March 31, 2009, we soldaiarassets of Korona to Beurer GmbH, and we atle
process of dissolving Korona.

Effective November 1, 2008, we sold our 51% of ¢lgeity of Gram Precision to Mohan Thadani, the flrRmof Gram Precision. Gram Precision
primarily engaged in the distribution and marketirigpocket and industrial scales in the Unitede&taCanada and Europe.

In April 2007, we formed a wholly-owned subsidiaBqonso USA, a Nevada corporation. We are in tloegss of dissolving Bonso USA.
Property, Plant and Equipment
British Virgin Islands

Our corporate administrative offices are locate@mgmuir Chambers, Road Town, Tortola, Britishgifirlslands and corporate administrative ma
are conducted through our registered agent, HWRi&sex Limited, located at P.O. Box 71, Road Towwrtdla, British Virgin Islands.

Hong Kong

We own a residential property in Hong Kong, whishdcated at Savanna Garden, House No. 27, TaN@w, Territories, Hong Kong. House No.
consists of approximately 2,475 square feet pllig&square foot terrace and a 2,308 square fodegaarea. The use of House No. 27 is providediageys t
Mr. Anthony So, the Chairman and Chief Executivéicef of the Company.

China

Our existing factory in China is located at Shemzirethe DaYang Synthetical Development Distridgse to the border between Hong Kong
China. This factory consists of four factory builgls, which contain approximately 276,000 squasd, favo workers’dormitories, containing approximat:
103,000 square feet, a canteen and recreationragfinggproximately 26,000 square feet, an officdding, consisting of approximately 26,000 squagetf an
two staff quarters for our supervisory employees)sisting of approximately 34,000 square feet,&dptal of approximately 465,000 square feet. dflthe
facilities noted above are wholly-owned, excepttfoo factory buildings with approximately 90,00Qusge feet.

We also own one residential property in Shenzhdrichwis located at Lakeview Mansion, BC, Hujinju Building No. 63, Xinan Road, Boach
Baoan Shenzhen, China. It consists of approximdt&91 square feet and is utilized by our directehen they require accommodations in China.
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We also own two office units in Beijing, namely tnil2 and 13 on the third floor, Block A of SunghiRlaza in Beijing, China. Unit 12 consist:
1,102 square feet and Unit 13 consists of 1,86@&regteet. One Unit is rented to an unaffiliatenidthparty for an aggregate monthly rental of apprately
RMB 14,000, or approximately $2,000, while the otlit is rented to another unaffiliated third gafor an aggregate monthly rental of approxime
RMB8,000 or approximately $1,000.

In November, 2006, Bonso entered into a land uglet ppurchase agreement with XinchengTiieh Industrial Estate to acquire a piece of laf
133,500 square meters for future expansion of theganys operations in XinXing. The land transfer was pteted in 2009. During the fiscal year en
March 31, 2010, the first phase of constructiothefnew manufacturing facilities commenced, ancctirestruction is expected to be completed in 2012.
Adequacy of Facilities

We believe the manufacturing complex will be adegdiar our reasonably foreseeable needs.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not Applicable.

Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospéds

The following discussion and analysis should bel ieaconjunction with Item 3. — “Key Information Selected Financial Dataind the Consolidat
Financial Statements and Notes to ConsolidatednEiahStatements included elsewhere in this AnRegort.

Overview

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, then@any experienced decreased revenues. Our sappedt due to the Compasydecision t
terminate the manufacturing of telecommunicatiordpcts. Sales for electronic scales increasedalhigher demand for consumer products.

We derive our revenues principally from the salesefisobased scales manufactured in China, which repréxit of total sales for the fiscal y
ended March 31, 2011. As mentioned in Item 3. ey'knformation — Risk Factorsyie are dependent upon a limited number of majoiocusrs for a significal
portion of our revenues. Our revenues and busiogsgation are subject to fluctuation if there i®ss of orders from any of our largest customénstther, th
pricing of our scales and telecommunication proslace becoming increasingly competitive, especiallgur customers in the United States and Germahg
contributed approximately 87% of our revenue duthegfiscal year ended March 31, 2011.
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During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, nétss&rom continuing operations were approximatedf, 878,000, and net loss was approxims
$7,584,000. During the fiscal year ended March2®1,0, net sales from continuing operations wer@pmately $28,543,000, and net loss was appraoaly
$658,000. During the fiscal year ended March X,12 net sales from continuing operations were @pprately $28,387,000, and net loss was approxiy
$1,560,000.

Costs are increasing in China, and our labor aegtiesented approximately 16.8% of our total prtidaccosts in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2
compared to 16.5% in the fiscal year ended March2810. There was no change in the minimum wagbysthe PRC government during the fiscal year d
March 31, 2010, as compared to fiscal year endectiMal, 2009. In accordance with the new minimuegevset by the local authorities in May 2010
increased the minimum wage for labor from RMB 960 dpproximately $132) per month to RMB 1,100 (pprximately $162) per month beginning Jul
2010. The minimum wage was increased to RMB 1{82Gpproximately $206) per month beginning April2D11. We believe that increased labor cos
China will have a significant effect on our totabguction costs and results of operations andwtieatvill not be able to continue to increase ourdpiction at oL
manufacturing facility without substantially incedag our norproduction salaries and related costs. This irseréa minimum wage will increase our labor ¢
by 20%, or approximately $955,000, annually. Theae be no assurance that labor costs will nohéurincrease or that any additional increase inrl@ost:
will not have a material adverse effect upon osuls of operations.

We have not experienced significant difficultiesoiptaining raw materials for our products, and ngen@ent does not anticipate any such difficultie
the foreseeable future. Prices of raw materiatsemsed during the fiscal year ended March 31, 20t Mid not vary significantly during the fiscaéar ende
March 31, 2010. Prices of raw materials decredseuhg the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 dudettreases in oil prices. There can be no assuthateav
material costs will not fluctuate or that any addial increase in raw material costs will not haveaterial adverse effect upon our results of djpers.
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Operating Results
The following table sets forth selected income data percentage of net sales for the periodsatetic

Fiscal Year Ended March 31,

2009 2010 2011
Statement of Operations Date % % %
Net sales 100.( 100.( 100.(
Cost of sale: (86.0 (83.0 (87.2,
Gross margit 14.C 17.C 12.¢
Selling expense (1.6) (1.3 (0.9
Salaries and related co: (9.4) (9.0 (9.6
Research and development expet (2.0) (2.0) (1.2)
Administration and general expen: 11.4, (7.0 (6.9
Loss from operation (10.4 (2.3) (5.7
Interest incomt 0.2 0.4 0.C
Interest expense (0.5) (0.3 0.2
Foreign exchange lo: (0.6) (1.8 (0.5
Gain on disposal of proper 0.4 - -
Other income 1.8 2.1 iLE
Loss before income tax (9.0) (1.9 (5.0)
Income tax expenst (0.5) (0.0 (0.0
Loss from continuing operatiol (9.5) (1.9 (5.0)
Loss from discontinued operatio (9.3) (0.4 (0.5
Net loss (18.8 (2.3) (5.5)

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 compared to fiscgéar ended March 31, 2010

Net Sales. Our sales decreased approximately $156,000,.5%,0from approximately $28,543,000 for the fisgar ended March 31, 2010
approximately $28,387,000 for the fiscal year endéddrch 31, 2011. The decrease in sales was ptynéne result of decreased demand for
telecommunication products. Sales of our scalesadimer business increased 3.2% from approxim&2$5;522,000 for the fiscal year ended March 31,02@
approximately $26,331,000 for the fiscal year enbliedich 31, 2011, and sales for telecommunicationdyxcts decreased 32.0% from approximately $3,08
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 to appnaxely $2,056,000 for the fiscal year ended Marth2®11. The increase in sales for scales and bthenes
was the result of increased demand for consumeitrefécs scale products. The decrease in salesefecommunications products was caused b
continuation of the Company’s decision to give ugens of telecommunications products with low profargins.

Gross Margin. Gross margin as a percentage of revenue dedrémsg@proximately 12.8% during the fiscal yearezhMarch 31, 2011, as compare
approximately 17.0% during the fiscal year endeddii881, 2010. The lower gross margin was primdtily result of the increased prices of raw mate@ak
increase in labor costs mainly due to the incréaseinimum wage in China.

Selling Expenses Selling expenses decreased by approximately ,8026from approximately $375,000 for the fiscal yeaded March 31, 2010
approximately $249,000 for the fiscal year endeddfie81, 2011, or 33.6%. Local freight costs arldtegl selling expenses decreased during the yeaitc
consolidation of shipments made during the fiseginended March 31, 2011.

Salaries And Related CostsSalaries and related costs increased by appateiyn$177,000, or 7.0%, from approximately $2,889,for the fiscal ye:

ended March 31, 2010 to approximately $2,716,00@He fiscal year ended March 31, 2011. The irsea salaries and related costs was primarilyekelt o
increased salary for staff in China as a resuthefminimum wage increase during the fiscal yededrMarch 31, 2011.
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Research And DevelopmenResearch and development expenses decreasaiapgiely $246,000, or 42.4%, from approximate8@®00 for th
fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 to approximat&$43000 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 20Ife decrease in research and development was pyi
the result of a reduction in the number of totajieaers employed. Research and Development accanpage of revenue decreased from 2.0% durinf§jgbal
year ended March 31, 2010 to 1.2% during the figeal ended March 31, 2011.

Administration And General ExpensesAdministration and general expenses decreasedppyoximately $52,000, or 2.6%, from approxime
$2,011,000 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2@il@pproximately $1,959,000 for the fiscal yeadesh March 31, 2011. The reduction was the red
various cost reductions undertaken by the Comparmppe with the reduced revenue. During the figeak ended March 31, 2011, the Company termirtiie
rented office in Hong Kong and combined all thections with the existing factory in Shenzhen.

Loss From Operations As a result of the factors described above, filass operations increased by 149.0% from a losappfroximately $655,000 f
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 to a losppf@imately $1,631,000 for the fiscal year endeatdhh 31, 2011.

Interest Income. Interest income decreased by $97,000, or 9426t approximately $103,000 for the fiscal year eshdViarch 31, 2010
approximately $6,000 for the fiscal year ended Ma8&, 2011. The decrease was the result of fegpodts in savings accounts and a decrease ir#ttete
for interest bearing accounts during the fiscakryraled March 31, 2011.

Interest Expenses Interest expenses decreased approximately $13,00®.8%, from approximately $69,000 for the fisgahr ended March 31, 2C
to approximately $56,000 for the fiscal year entitatch 31, 2011. This decrease was primarily tiselteof a decrease in utilization of the Companiyanking
facilities during the fiscal year ended March 3012.

Foreign Exchange Los$oreign exchange loss decreased approximately @392por 75.1%, from approximately $522,000 for fiseal year ende
March 31, 2010 to approximately $130,000 for tteedl year ended March 31, 2011. This decreasepvirasrily the result of the appreciation of the téo
States Dollar compared to the Chinese Renminbindutie fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, as cordp@ara significant appreciation of the Chinese Riefbi
to the United States Dollar during the fiscal yeaded March 31, 2010.

Other Income. Other income decreased approximately $436,0000%3, from approximately $620,000 for the fiscahyended March 31, 2010
approximately $184,000 for the fiscal year endeddfi&1, 2011. During the fiscal years ended M&th2010 and 2011, the Company recovered $210,04
$45,000, respectively, of a bad debt from the sif@ram Precision that was previously impaired.

30




Income Tax Expenselncome tax expense was $9,000 during the figeat ended March 31, 2010, as compared to $0 dthiadiscal year end
March 31, 2011. The income tax expense decreasetbdosses in each of our segments for the fisgal ended March 31, 2011.

Loss from Discontinued Operatiorisoss from discontinued operations increased apprately $3,000 from $126,000 for the fiscal yearezharct
31, 2010 to approximately $129,000 for the fisashryended March 31, 2011. The increase was thét mfsincreased liquidation costs recognized dyitine
fiscal year ended March 31, 2011.

Net Loss As a result of the factors described above)osst increased from a loss of approximately $63Bf00 the fiscal year ended March 31, 2
to a loss of approximately $1,560,000 for the figear ended March 31, 2011, an increased losppaimately $902,000, or 137.1%.

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustmentdzoreign currency translation adjustments, neBgf increased from a loss of approximately $152,f0
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 to a gainppfaximately $199,000 for the fiscal year ended dfiaB1, 2011, an increase of approximately $351,0¢
230.9%. The increased foreign currency translaéidjustment, net of tax, was primarily the resilfloctuation of the Chinese Renminbi against theiteb
States Dollar.

Comprehensive LossAs a result of the factors described above, celmgnsive loss increased from a loss of approxi;n&&10,000 for the fiscal ye
ended March 31, 2010 to a loss of approximatel@&IL000 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 20hlinarease of approximately $551,000, or 68.0%.

Fiscal year ended March 31, 2010 compared to fiscgéar ended March 31, 2009

Net Sales Our sales decreased approximately $11,835,0029.8%, from approximately $40,378,000 for thedisyear ended March 31, 200¢
approximately $28,543,000 for the fiscal year endédrch 31, 2010. The decrease in sales was ptynéne result of decreased demand for
telecommunication products and consumer electrastages products. Sales of our scales and otrendss decreased 17.4% from approximately $30,00
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 to appnaxely $25,522,000 for the fiscal year ended Ma&th 2010, and sales for telecommunications pro
decreased 68.1% from approximately $9,475,000 Herfiscal year ended March 31, 2009 to approximga$8l,022,000 for the fiscal year ended March
2010. The decrease in sales for scales and oti@ndss was the result of reduced demand for cozisehactronics scale products due to the world
economic downturn since the end of calendar ye@820he decrease in sales for telecommunicatioodusts was caused by the continuation of the Coyipa
decision to give up orders of telecommunicatiorsdpcts with low profit margins.
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Gross Margin. Gross margin as a percentage of revenue inctéasgpproximately 17.0% during the fiscal yearesharch 31, 2010, as compare
approximately 14.0% during the fiscal year endeddfi@1, 2009. The higher gross margin was thdtresthe Companys decision to reduce products with
profit margins from its telecommunication produasgd reduced costs of raw materials both as atreétie Companys efforts to purchase materials more
effectively and the effort to redesign existing gwots with less material consumption. As a restithese factors, our gross profit margin increase®.0%
when compared to the prior fiscal year.

Selling Expenses Selling expenses decreased by approximately 8Q@4from approximately $649,000 for the fiscal yeaded March 31, 2009
approximately $375,000 for the fiscal year endedda31, 2010. Local freight costs and relatedirsglexpenses decreased during the year due to
shipments made as a result of decreased salesefdistal year ended March 31, 2010. As a resalting expenses decreased by 42.2% when compaitée
prior fiscal year.

Salaries And Related CostsSalaries and related costs decreased by appatelyr$1,238,000, or 32.8%, from approximately $3,000 for the fisci
year ended March 31, 2009 to approximately $2,989f0r the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. Téduction in salaries and related costs was prignéré
result of streamlining the managerial and operafipersonnel to correspond to the reduction inssilethe fiscal year ended March 31, 2010.

Research And DevelopmenResearch and development expenses decreasaiapgely $212,000, or 26.8%, from approximate\@&D00 for th
fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 to approximat&80d5000 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 20I8e decrease in research and development was i
the result of a reduction in the number of totalieeers employed. Research and Development axarnpage of revenue remained at 2.0% during tlcalfiea
ended March 31, 2010 and the fiscal year ended iMat¢c 2009.

Administration And General Expensegdministration and general expenses decreaseappyoximately $2,591,000, or 56.3%, from approxity
$4,602,000 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2@0&pproximately $2,011,000 for the fiscal yeadesh March 31, 2010. During the fiscal year endextdy
31, 2009, the Company recognized a one-off bad pievision of approximately $1,700,000 relatingtlie disposition of the ComparsyCanadian subsidia
Gram Precision, in November 1, 2008. The Compmeffort to reduce expenses as a result of lowles $ar the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010, togetvith
the absence of any omwéf bad debt provision such as the approximately?®2,000 made in fiscal year 2009, resulted inldlreer administration and gene
expenses for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010.

Loss From Operations As a result of the factors described above, fiasa operations decreased by 84.2% from a losgppfoximately $4,149,000 {
the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009 to a losppf@imately $655,000 for the fiscal year ended éheB1, 2010.
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Interest Income. Interest income decreased by $24,000, or 188éfn approximately $127,000 for the fiscal year eshdViarch 31, 2009
approximately $103,000 for the fiscal year endeddfi@1, 2010. This decrease was primarily thelre$dewer deposits in higher yield accounts ardkareas
in interest rates for interest bearing accountinduthe fiscal year ended March 31, 2010.

Interest Expenses Interest expenses decreased approximately $1400008¥,.0%, from approximately $209,000 for the disgear ended March
2009 to approximately $69,000 for the fiscal yeaderl March 31, 2010. This decrease was primargyresult of a decrease in interest rates duriaditita
year ended March 31, 2009 and decreased utilizafittne Company’s banking facilities.

Foreign Exchange Los$oreign exchange loss increased approximately $283,0r 87.1%, from approximately $279,000 for fiseal year ende
March 31, 2009 to approximately $522,000 for therdl year ended March 31, 2010. This increase puasarily the result of the change in the ratt
appreciation of Chinese Renminbi against the UnBtates Dollar during the fiscal year ended Marth2910, as compared to that during the fiscal yeaie
March 31, 2009.

Other Income. Other income decreased approximately $87,000, @d%2from approximately $707,000 for the fiscal yeaded March 31, 2009
approximately $620,000 for the fiscal year endeddi@1, 2010. During the fiscal year ended Marth2)09, the sale of a warehouse in Hong Kong tecburt
a gain of $136,016, but there was no disposal @bgrties which could result in a gain during theedil year ended March 31, 2010.

Income Tax Expenselncome tax expense decreased approximately @29%rom $208,000 during the fiscal year ended Mait, 2009 to $9,0(
during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. Rerfiscal year ended March 31, 2009, the Compaiyensff deferred income tax assets of $191,618umzxa
operations loss for the year, but for the fiscaryended March 31, 2010, the Company recognizedcaease in deferred tax liability of $5,000.

Gain on Disposal of Subsidiary under Loss from brgmued OperationsEffective November 1, 2008, the Company disposedtsofCanadia
subsidiary, Gram Precision, since this reportind arperienced operating losses in the fiscal yesmded March 31, 2007 and 2008 and for the sevemt
period ended October 31, 2008. The Company rezedra gain of approximately $363,000 from the digjpm because the Company was relieved of Gsam’
liabilities during the fiscal year ended March 2009. There was no disposal of subsidiaries aor galoss thereof for the fiscal year ended Marth2®10.

Net Loss As a result of the factors described above|asst decreased from a loss of approximately $708®4for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2
to a loss of approximately $658,000 for the fisezdr ended March 31, 2010, a decrease of approaiyrsé,926,000, or 91.3%.

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustmentgzoreign currency translation adjustments, net®f decreased from a gain of $811,000 for theafigea

ended March 31, 2009 to a loss of approximately3flI® for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009¢eerehse of approximately $964,000, or 118.9%.
decrease in foreign currency translation adjustmenrdt of tax, was primarily the result of fluctoatof the Chinese Renminbi against the UnitedeStaxollar.
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Comprehensive LossAs a result of the factors described above, cehgnsive loss decreased from a loss of approxiyn$6:773,000 for the fisc
year ended March 31, 2009 to a loss of approxim&®@10,000 for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2@1@ecrease of approximately $5,963,000, or 88.0%.

Impact of Inflation

We believe that inflation had an impact on our bess during the fiscal year ended March 31, 20k minimum wage increased from RMB 900
approximately $132) per month to RMB 1,100 (or appmately $162) per month beginning July 1, 20The minimum wage increased to RMB 1,320
approximately $206) per month beginning April 1,120 As a result, we believe that inflation willntmue to increase our operating costs and cosaw
materials and have a significant impact upon uthénfuture. We have generally been able to maalifgt improve our product designs so that we cotuhkl
increase the prices of our products or lower thalpction costs in order to keep pace with inflati@il prices have been volatile in recent yedfil prices
increase, it will likely result in an increase hetcost of components to us, as well as an incrieager operating expenses, which will have a niatedvers
effect upon our business and results of operatiéusther, the increase in labor costs and opeyaists in the PRC had a material impact on ouitphility.

Taxation

The companies comprising the Group are subjecixah an entity basis on income arising in, or\dgtifrom, Hong Kong, the PRC, Germany,
United States and Canada. The current rate ofitexaf the subsidiary operating in Hong Kong is3B6. The Group is not subject to income taxes@Britist
Virgin Islands. The statutory tax rates in Canadd the United States were 36% and 34%, respegticelthe three years ended March 31, 2011.

The tax rates for our subsidiary in PRC were 22%01h0, 24% in 2011 and 25% in 2012 and beyond.reTiseno tax payable in Hong Kong on offst
profit or on dividends paid to Bonso Electronicsnited by its subsidiaries or to us by Bonso Elette Limited. Therefore, our overall effective tate may b
lower than that of most United States corporatidrayever, this advantage could be materially andesgtly affected by changes in the tax laws ofBhesh
Virgin Islands, Hong Kong or China.

On March 16, 2007, the Chinese government enactetfiad enterprise income tax law, or “ElTwhich became effective on January 1, 2008. Pad
the EIT, as a foreign invested enterprise, or “FlIB¢cated in Shenzhen of the PRC, our PRC subsigiamgoyed a national income tax rate of 15% ance
exempted from the 3% local income tax. The preféabtax treatment to our subsidiaries in the PRQualifying for tax refunds as a result of reintieg theil
profits earned in previous years in the PRC algures on January 1, 2008. Under the EIT, apart ftbose qualified as higtech enterprises, most dome
enterprises and FIEs will be subject to a singl€RRterprise income tax rate of 25% in year 20XRafterward.

Efforts by the Chinese government to increase eaemues could result in decisions or interpretatiofithe tax laws by the Chinese tax authoritied

are unfavorable to us and which increase our fumxdiabilities or deny our expected refunds. @jes in Chinese tax laws or their interpretatioamplicatior
may subject us to additional Chinese taxation énfthure.
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No reciprocal tax treaty regarding withholding taxexists between the United States and the BMigdin Islands. Under current British Virgin Islds
law, dividends, interest or royalties paid by usnidividuals are not subject to tax as long asréuépient is not a resident of the British Virgsldnds. If we wel
to pay a dividend, we would not be liable to witlthany tax, but shareholders would receive grogisleinds, irrespective of their residential or nasibstatus.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2008, 2889 2010, certain of our subsidiaries were, andiwoa to be, subject to inquiries from the loca
authorities. Upon the adoption of ASC 740 (formé¥IN 48), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income @ — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109,”
the Company recorded a provision of approximatelyl4,000 in relation to uncertain tax positionsoésApril 1, 2007. The assessment is subject hal
determination by the local tax authorities and rbeydifferent from what we have recorded as a prawvisAs such, there can be no assurance than¢huery will
not result in imposing additional income tax exgeon the Group, which could have a material adveffeet upon the Group and its results of operation

Contractual arrangements we have entered into amisngnd our subsidiaries in different locations nh&y subject to scrutiny by respective
authorities, and a finding against the Company imdubsidiaries may result in additional tax lisigis that could substantially reduce our consaitd ne
income. We could face material and adverse taseguences if respective tax authorities deterniaethe contractual arrangements among our subsislian
Bonso do not represent an arm’s length price afdsa@onso’s or its subsidiariegicome. Our consolidated net income may be méiergend adversel
affected if our affiliated entities’ tax liabiliteeincrease.

Dividends, if any, paid to any United States restder citizen shareholder are treated as dividembrne for United States federal income
purposes. Such dividends are not eligible for 7086 dividendseceived deduction allowed to United States compmia on dividends from a domes
corporation under Section 243 of the United Staté=rnal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (therflat Revenue Code”Various Internal Revenue Cc
provisions impose special taxes in certain circam3ts on notnited States corporations and their shareholdéos are urged to consult your tax advisor \
regard to such possibilities and your own tax situe

In addition to United States federal income taxatghareholders may be subject to state and lagastupon their receipt of dividends.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

We sell most of our products to international oostrs. Our principal export markets are North Angfmainly the United States), Europe (ma
Germany) and Asia. Other markets are other Europeantries (such as the United Kingdom), Australid Africa. Sales to international customersraaele
directly by us to our customers. We sell all of ptoducts in United States Dollars and pay for material components principally in United Statesdl&rs anc
Hong Kong Dollars. A very small portion of the cpoments used are paid for in Japanese Yen. Masoria expenses incurred are paid in Chil
Renminbi. Because the Hong Kong Dollar is peggedhe United States Dollar, in the past our onlytarial foreign exchange risk previously arose f
potential fluctuations in the Chinese Renminbi andevaluation in United States Dollars. For thasoms discussed in the paragraphs below, manac
believes that it may be possible that there willsbene fluctuation in the coming year. During tieedl year ended March 31, 2011, we experiencesteigi
currency loss of approximately $130,000. We doaustently engage in hedging transactions; howevennay undertake hedging activities in the future.

A summary of our debts from our banking faig§ utilized as at March 31, 2011 and 2010 whiels subjected to foreign currency risk is as follows
March 31, March 31,

2010 2011
$in thousand $ in thousand

Hong Kong dollar: 2,16¢ 1,33:
The amount above is due within one year.

Fluctuations in the value of the Hong Kong Dolt@ve not been significant since October 17, 198&nmhe Hong Kong government tied the valt
the Hong Kong Dollar to that of the United Statesll&r. However, there can be no assurance thatahe of the Hong Kong Dollar will continue to bed tc
that of the United States Dollar. China adoptébaing currency system on January 1, 1994, ungithe market and official rates of foreign excran@hini
approved current account convertibility of the Gisa Renminbi on July 1, 1996, followed by formalegatance of the International Monetary Fundtticles o
Agreement on December 1, 1996. These regulatibngnated the requirement for prior government amat to buy foreign exchange for ordinary tr
transactions, though approval is still requiredrépatriate equity or debt, including interest tloere From 1994 until July 2005, the Chinese Renmirdz
remained stable against the U.S. Dollar at apprateiy 8.28 to 1.00 U.S. Dollar. On July 21, 200, Chinese currency regime was altered to linkRIW to ¢
“basket of currenciesWhich includes the United States Dollar, Euro, d&sa Yen and Korean Won. Under the rules, the RéviBlowed to move 0.3% or
daily basis against the United States Dollar. Pkeple's Bank of China, on May 21 2007, widenedRiMB trading band from 0.3% daily movement agaths
United States Dollar to 0.5%. On June 20, 2010PBO®C announced that the PRC government wouldduréform the RMB exchange rate regime and inc
the flexibility of the exchange rate. It is diffit to predict how this new policy may impact th¥B exchange rate. As of September 20, 2011, thd3 Rs
valued at 6.3595 per U.S. Dollar. There can bassurance that these currencies will remain stabhéll fluctuate to our benefit.

To manage our exposure to foreign currency anslasion risks, we may purchase currency exchaongeafd contracts, currency options, or o

derivative instruments, provided such instrumengg/ rhe obtained at suitable prices. We do not otlreengage in hedging transactions; however we
undertake hedging activities in the future. If are unsuccessful in hedging against currency fatos, it may have a material adverse effect on us
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our growth and cash needs topdeerily from internally generated funds and balgbt. We do not use offalance sheet financi
arrangements, such as securitization of receivabledtaining access to assets through speciabparpntities, as sources of liquidity. Our primasgs of cas
have been to fund expansions and upgrades of ooufaczturing facilities.

Operating activities used $1,190,000 of net cashtHe fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, as comp#red3,486,000 of net cash generated !
operating activities during the fiscal year endeardh 31, 2010. This decrease in the amount of gastl by operating activities was primarily atttdile to ou
reduction in inventory in accordance with the loveales amount for the fiscal year ended March 8102and the recovered accounts receivable fo
discontinued operations during the fiscal year dridarch 31, 2010.

As of March 31, 2011, we had approximately $5,400,0h cash and cash equivalents, as compared @8%800 in cash and cash equivalents i
March 31, 2010. Working capital at March 31, 2@tds approximately $6,851,000, as compared to $3680at March 31, 2010. We believe there ar
material restrictions (including foreign exchangatrols) on the ability of our subsidiaries to séer funds to us in the form of cash dividendsnigadvances
product/material purchases. We believe our workegjtal is sufficient for our present requirements

As of March 31, 2011, we had approximately $1,30Q,0h net trade receivables, as compared to $10824as of March 31, 2010. This decreas
$13,000 was primarily attributable to lower salksse to the end of the fiscal year, compared todhMarch 31, 2010.

As of March 31, 2011, we had approximately $4,8@8,id inventories, as compared to $4,990,000 &davth 31, 2010. This decrease of $142,00C
primarily attributable to reduction of inventorylight of the lower sales amount in the fiscal yeaded March 31, 2011.

As of March 31, 2011, we had a total of approxirya$t,062,000 in notes payable and accounts payableompared to $4,727,000 as of Marct
2010. The decrease of $665,000 was primarilybattsible to the decreased notes payable due toadectertilization of banking facilities.

As of March 31, 2011 we had in place general banKacilities with one financial institution with amnts available aggregating approxima
$8,554,000 (2010: $13,682,000). Such facilitiedude the ability to obtain overdrafts, letterscofédit, short-term notes payable, factoring, shema loans ar
longterm loans. As of March 31, 2011, we had utilizggroximately $1,333,000 from these general banfaeiities. Interest on this indebtedness flutgs
with the prime rate and the Hong Kong Interbanke®fRate as set by the Hong Kong Bankers Associafltre bank credit facilities are collateralized day
bank guarantee. Our bank credit facilities are fduegenewal annually. We anticipate that the lagkacilities will be renewed on substantially theme terrr
and our utilization in the next year will remainaasimilar level as that in the current year. Dgrihe fiscal years ended March 31, 2011 and 20&(aid a tot:
of approximately $56,000 and $69,000, respectivialynterest on indebtedness for continuing opersti During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2@tk o
the banking facilities was terminated and was anewed, which resulted in the reduction of thelabée banking facilities.
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Our current ratio decreased from 2.22 as of Marth2810 to 1.93 as of March 31, 2011. Our quitlordecreased from 1.59 as of March 31, 20:
1.27 as of March 31, 2011.

Due to the new minimum wage set by the local autiesrin May 2010, we have increased the minimumgev for labor from RMB 900 (
approximately $132) per month to RMB 1,100 (or apgmately $162) per month beginning July 1, 20T®e minimum wage was increased to RMB 1,32
approximately $206) beginning April 1, 2011. Thisrease in minimum wage will increase our labastsdoy 20%, or approximately $955,000 annually.

During the fiscal year ending March 31, 2012, weest we will need to expend approximately $548,680the construction of our new facility
XinXing, China.

We believe that our cash flows from operations, curent cash balance and funds available undemmuking capital and credit facilities will |
sufficient to meet our working capital needs anahpled capital expenditures for at least the nexb124 months. However, a decrease in the demandui
products or increase in our costs of goods solekpenses may affect our internally generated fuand,we would further look to our banking facil#ito mee
our working capital demands.

Commitments
The following table sets forth information with pext to our commitments as of March 31, 2011:

Payments due by Perioc
Within 1 to 3 Within 3to 5 More than 5

Total Within 1 year years years years

$ in thousanc $ in thousanc $ in thousanc $ in thousanc $ in thousanc
Notes payable and bank overdrd®) $ 1,33: $ 1,33  $ 0 $ 0 $ 0
Operating lease $ 141 $ 141 $ 0o $ 0 3 0
Capital lease $ 0 3 0 3 0 3 0 3 0
Construction in Xinxing $ 548 $ 548 $ 0 $ 0 3 0
Interest on capital leas $ (O (O (O 0 3 0
Income tax liabilitie<® $ 259 $ 0 $ 2598 $ 0 $ 0
Total $ 4617 $ 2,02: $ 259 $ 0 3 (0]

(1) Represents amounts due within one year ungiebanking facilities agreement.

(2) Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopte&@ 740. As a result of the adoption of ASC 74@ @ompany recognized an approximately
$1,170,000 increase in the liability for unrecoguizax benefits and penalties of approximately $3®3, which were accounted for as a reductionéo th
April 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. Thenfany assessed its tax position during the fiseal ynded March 31, 2011 and concluded that the
same tax liability was carried forward.

For a discussion of interest rates on our noteafgayand short-term loans, see “ltem 11. - Quali#aand Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk”
below.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The methods, estimates and judgments we use iyiagpbur most critical accounting policies haveigngicant impact on the results we report in
financial statements. The SEC has defined the or@&tal accounting policies as the ones thatraost important to the portrayal of our financiahddion anc
results and require us to make our most difficultl &ubjective judgments, often as a result of teednto make estimates of matters that are inhg
uncertain. Based on this definition, our mosticaitpolicies include inventories, impairment, bilarame, trade receivables and deferred income.taxes

Below, we discuss these policies further, as welthee estimates and judgments involved. We belieaethese other policies either do not gene
require us to make estimates and judgments thatsadéficult or as subjective, or it is less likehat they would have a material impact on oupregga results ¢
operations for a given period. For a discussioralbfour significant accounting policies, see famtn 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statementsuéter
elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost orraatizable value with cost determined on a firstfirst-out basis. Net realizable value is the pric
which inventories can be sold in the normal cowfskeusiness after allowing for the costs of comipletaind disposal. The Company continuously revislow/-
moving and obsolete inventory and assesses angtoyeobsolescence based on inventory levels, mmht@mposition and expected usage as of that date.

Revenue Recognition

No revenue is recognized unless there is persuasidence of an arrangement, the price to the bisyfered or determinable, delivery has occurred
collectability of the sales price is reasonablyuasd. Revenue is recognized when title and rislos$ transfers to the customer, which is generalign th
product is shipped to the customer from our faesit Shipping costs billed to our customers actuiled within revenue. Associated costs are dladsin cos
of sales.

The Company provides to certain customers an additione to two percent of certain products ordémdéeu of a warranty, which are recognizec
cost of sales when these products are shippedstoroers from our facilities. In addition, cert@iroducts sold by the Company are subject to aduinjiroduc
quality warranty. The Company accrues for estichéeurred but unidentified quality issues basedrupistorical activity and known quality issuesaifoss i
probable and can be reasonably estimated. Thdasthtimited warranty period is one to three yedpsiality returns, refunds, rebates and discourtsecorde
net of sales at the time of sale to three yearsestichated based on past history. All sales asedapon firm orders with fixed terms and condsiowhict
generally cannot be modified. Historically, we Bawt experienced material differences betweerestimated amounts of quality returns, refunds, tesban
discounts and the actual results. In all contrabtre is no price protection or similar privileigerelation to the sale of goods.

Due to similar contractual terms, the Companggvenue recognition policies do not differ amdsgsignificant product lines (i.e., sensor baseales

versus wireless products) and among various magkegnues used by the Company (i.e., distributndsdirect sales force) and do not vary in diffeneatts o
the world.
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Long-Lived Assets Including Goodwill and Other Acqured Intangible Assets

Long-ived assets held and used by the Group and irtengissets, excluding goodwill, are reviewed fopainment whenever events or change
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounsuzh assets may not be recoverable. The Groupateal recoverability of assets to be held and by
comparing the carrying amount of an asset to fut@teundiscounted cash flows to be generated bydhket. If such assets are considered to be ietpdhn
impairment loss is measured by the amount by wiiiehcarrying amount of the assets exceeds thevdhie of the assets calculated using a discountiedle
cash flows analysis.

Gooduwill is subject to an annual impairment reviethe evaluation of goodwill for impairment invok/éwo steps: (1) the identification of poter
impairment by comparing the fair value of a repagtunit with its carrying amount, including goodwénd (2) the measurement of the amount of goddiest
by comparing the implied fair value of the repagtimit goodwill with the carrying amount of thatagtwill and recognizing a loss by the excess ofléftter ove
the former. The Company measures fair value baped a discounted future cash flow analysis. Navigion was made by the Group on impairment of
lived assets, including goodwill, and other acadiirgangible assets for the years ended March @11,22010 and 2009.

Brand Name

Brand name acquired as part of the purchase ofiadss is capitalized based on the estimated dhievas at the date of acquisition and amortizathy
the straightine method over the related estimated usefuldifd5 years. Where an indication of impairmentstxithe carrying amount of the brand nan
assessed and written down to its recoverable amount

Expected useful lives are reviewed at each balaheet date and, where these differ significantynfrprevious estimates, amortization periods
changed accordingly. Where an indication of impaint exists, such as the downturn of economicunfiom the brand name, changes in business plarse
on, the carrying amounts of brand name is assessderitten down to their recoverable amounts. Measurement of the fair value of brand name igestitc
managemens’ assumptions regarding future estimated cash fldissount rates, etc. Changes in these assumsptimnld significantly affect the recording of
impairment charge related to this asset. No pr@wvigzas made by the Group on impairment of brandentor the years ended March 31, 2011, 2010 an€é.200

Trade Receivables

Provision is made against trade receivables tcegtent that collection is considered to be doubtfihis provision is primarily determined from «
monthly aging analysis. It also requires judgnregiarding the collectability of certain receivablas certain receivables may be identified as ciilke that ar
subsequently uncollectible and which could resukt isubsequent write-off of the related receivablthe statement of operations. Most of the Comijzatradt
receivables are generally unsecured, except for aos¢omer with receivables covered by credit inscea To determine the necessity of a provisioe
Company analyzes the age of the receivables ancugtemers ability to pay based on past payment histongrfaial statements and various information o
customer. Any change in the collectability of @aats receivable that were not previously provided could significantly change the calculation afck
provision and the results of our operations.
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Income Taxes, Deferred Income Taxes

On April 1, 2007, the Company adopted FIN 48, nodified with ASC 740. ASC 740 prescribes a recagnithreshold and measurement attribute
the financial statement recognition and measureméra tax position taken or expected to be taker itax return. ASC 740 also provides guidanc
derecognition, classification, interest and peaaltaccounting in interim periods, disclosure aaddition. Only tax positions that meet the makel-thannot
recognition threshold at the effective date maydmognized or continue to be recognized upon adopif ASC 740. The Compars/accounting policy is
treat interest and penalties as a component ofiiedaxes.

Amounts in the consolidated financial statemeniated to income taxes are calculated using theciplizs of ASC 740. ASC 740 requires recogni
of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expe future tax consequences of events that hame ineluded in the financial statements or taxrretu Unde
this method, deferred tax assets and liabilitiesdmtermined based on the temporary differenceseleet the financial reporting basis and the taxsbatasse
and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effestthe year in which the differences are expeaterktverse. Future tax benefits, such as net apgrkiss carr
forwards, are recognized as deferred tax assetsodrized deferred tax assets are reduced by atialallowance if, based on the weight of avaéadlidence
it is more likely than not that some portion oraflthe deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, Etc

We believe that our engineering and product devetop capabilities are important to the future sesa& our business. We have successfully lov
the costs of our research and development teamdwnm most research and development activitiesutofacility in China and principally employing Claise
engineers and technicians at costs that are suiadaifower than those that would be required iang Kong. Research and development costs are expen
the financial period during which they are incurred

Trend Information

Although we are optimistic about our future in timanufacture and sale of sendased scales products, we are dependent upontadimimber c
customers for a significant portion of our revenuasd the loss of any of these customers could lsaweaterial adverse effect upon us and our resid
operations. As of March 31, 2011, our backlog aihofacturing orders was $5,951,000 as compared, 888,000 as of March 31, 2010. We expect th#té
fiscal year ending March 31, 2012, the trend obsdrom scales will be more or less the same asydlae ended March 31, 2011, while the sale
telecommunication products will be discontinuedhia fiscal year ended March 31, 2012.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any offalance sheet arrangements that have, or are eddgdikely to have, a current or future effect owor financial conditior
changes in financial condition, revenues or expgnssults of operations, liquidity, capital expiémes or capital resources that are material vestors.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
The new accounting pronouncements in the UniteteStaat may be relevant to the Group are as fellow

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, “NMailue Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820yproving Disclosures about Fair Va
Measurements” (“ASU 2010-06"). ASU 2010-06 requiregorting entities to provide information aboutvaements of assets among Levels 1 and 2 of the-three
tier fair value hierarchy established by ASC 828e Guidance is effective for any fiscal year thegibs after December 15, 2010 and should be useglfoterly
and annual filings. We do not believe that adoptbASU 2010-06 will have a significant impact owardinancial position, results of operations ortcéews.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-O&air Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments ¢hidve Common Fair Value Measurement
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs"StA2011-04"). This update amends ASC Topic 820jr‘Malue Measurement and DisclosurdSU
201104 clarifies the application of certain existingr faalue measurement guidance and expands theodigels for fair value measurements that are esa
using significant unobservable (Level 3) inputs.lLA201104 is effective for annual and interim reportingipds beginning on or after December 15, 2
which means that it will be effective for our fiscparter beginning January 1, 2012. The new gueas to be adopted prospectively, and early adops no
permitted. We do not believe that adoption of ASX1P-04 will have a significant impact on our fina@lgosition, results of operations or cash flows.

On June 16, 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 201T®@&mprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentatio@a@fprehensive Income” (“ASU 2011-05"
This update amends ASC Topic 220, “Comprehensigene”to provide that total comprehensive income willrbported in one continuous statement or
separate but consecutive statements of financiémeance. Presentation of total comprehensivernmem the statement of stockholders' equity orftlménote:
will no longer be allowed. The calculation of netdme and basic and diluted net income per shdteneti be affected. ASU 201Q05 is effective for fisci
years, and interim periods within those years, tr@igg on or after December 15, 2011, which meaasittwill be effective for our fiscal year begimgi July 1
2012. Retrospective adoption is required and estyption is permitted. We do not believe that aidopdf ASU 201105 will have a significant impact on ¢
financial position, results of operations or caskws.
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Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees
Directors and Senior Management

Our board of directors and executive officers @t below:

Name Age Position with Bonso
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer @idector, President and

Anthony So 68 Treasure
Kim Wah Chung 53 Director of Engineering and Research and Developraed Directol
Woa-Ping Fok 62 Director
J. Stewart Jackson, | 75 Director
Henry F. Schluete 60 Director and Assistant Secretze
Albert So 33 Chief Financial Officer and Secrete

ANTHONY SO is the founder of Bonso. He has been®@oairman of the Board of Directors since July898ie was appointed as the Chief Exect
Officer and President on November 16, 2006. Mrre&deived his BSE degree in civil engineering fidational Taiwan University in 1967 and a mastatégre
in business administration (“MBAfrom the Hong Kong campus of the University of Hidull, England in 1994. Mr. So has been Chairmfithe Hong Kon
GO Association since 1986 and also served as Chaiohthe Alumni Association of National Taiwan Maisity for the 1993:994 academic years. Mr. So
served as a trustee of the Chinese University afgH¢ong, New Asia College since 1994.

KIM WAH CHUNG has been a director since Septemtier1®94. Mr. Chung has been employed by us sif8& and currently holds the positior
Director of Engineering and Research and Developmign. Chung is responsible for all research prtgeand product development. Mr. Chunigntire
engineering career has been spent with Bonso, eméd$ been involved in all of our major productalepments. Mr. Chung graduated with honors in 188t
the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a Bachelb6cience degree in electronics.

WOO-PING FOK was elected to our Board of Directors ept8mber 21, 1994. Mr. Fok has practiced law ingdong since 1991 and is a Consul
with Messrs. C.K. Mok & Co. Mr. Fok’ major areas of practice include conveyancingeal property law, corporations and business lawnmercia
transactions and international trade with a spemmphasis in China trade matters. Mr. Fok was @iddhito the Canadian Bar as a Barrister & Solicitr
December 1987 and was a partner in the law firwob & Fok, a Canadian law firm with its head officeEdmonton, Alberta, Canada. In 1991, Mr. Fols
qualified to practice as a Solicitor of England &al&s, a Solicitor of Hong Kong and a Barrister &i&tor of Australian Capital Territory.
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J. STEWART JACKSON 1V has been a director sinceudan 10, 2000. From 1962 until its merger with Relc Industries in 1996, Mr. Jacks
served in various management capacities, inclugiegident, of Denver Burglar Alarm Co., Inc., aibass founded by his family. In addition, in thédm
1960’s, Mr. Jackson founded Denver Burglar AlarradRrcts, a separate company which invented, patemaadufactured, distributed and installebe first self-
contained ionization smoke detectors and which la&s sold to a conglomerate manufacturer. Aftermerger of Denver Burglar Alarm Co., Inc., Mrckeor
founded Jackson Burglar Alarm Co., Inc. Mr. Jackserved as Chief Executive Officer of Jackson Burglarm Co. from February 1998 to October 2004r.
Jackson has served as the Chief Executive Offit@r®J Corporation. Mr. Jackson served on thésady board of directors for UnderwriterLaboratories fc
burglar and fire alarm systems for 25 years andbleasn an officer in the Central Station Protec#i@sociation, which, along with the National Burgkdarm
Association, was formed by his family in the la@1Q@’s. Mr. Jackson graduated from the University ofo€ao in 1962 with a degree in Business Manage
and Engineering.

HENRY F. SCHLUETER has been a director since Oat@@1 and has been our Assistant Secretary sint@€r 6, 1988. Since 1992, Mr. Schlu
has been the Managing Director of Schlueter & Agges, P.C., a law firm, practicing in the areas@durities, mergers and acquisitions, financecmgdorat
law. Mr. Schlueter has served as our United Statgsorate and securities counsel since 1988. Ri@89 to 1991, prior to establishing Schlueter &dsates
P.C., Mr. Schlueter was a partner in the Denvetp@do office of Kutak Rock (formerly Kutak, Rock &ampbell), and from 1984 to 1989, he was a paitr
the Denver office of Nelson & Harding. Mr. Schleeis a member of the American Institute of CegtfiPublic Accountants, the Colorado and Denvel
Associations, and the Wyoming State Bar.

ALBERT SO was appointed as the Chief Financial Offiethe Company in March 2009. Mr. So was finstpboyed as the Financial Controller of
Company in January 2008 and as a management trairihe Company in November 2004. Prior to his Expient as a management trainee of the Com
Mr. So was a student. Mr. So is a Certified Mamaget Accountant, Financial Risk Manager, and hasived a Bachelor degree in Mathematics from S
Fraser University in Burnaby, British Columbia, @da.

Anthony So, the Company’s President, Chief Exeeu@fficer and Chairman of the Board of Directorshig father of Albert So, the CompasyChie
Financial Officer.

No arrangement or understanding exists betweersadly director or officer and any other personsymmtsto which any director or executive offi
was elected as a director or executive officerr @itectors are elected annually and serve ungiirteuccessors take office or until their deatisjgeation o
removal. The executive officers serve at the pleasf the Board of Directors.

Compensation

The aggregate amount of compensation paid by usoandubsidiaries during the year ended March 81120 all directors, former directors,
officers as a group for services in all capacities $1,285,000. Total compensation for the beméfiinthony So was $915,000, for the benefit of Kikar
Chung was $165,000, for the benefit of Albert S&wWA18,000 and for the benefit of Henry F. Schiueigs an aggregate of $87,000. The $87,000 lia¢
having been paid for the benefit of Mr. Schluetaswaid to his law firm, Schlueter & Associate€;.Hor legal services rendered.
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We did not set aside or accrue any amounts to gegeénsion, retirement or similar benefits for clioes and officers for the fiscal year ended Ma3it!
2011, other than contributions to our Providentd-Biten, which aggregate®15,000 for officers and directors.

Employment Agreements

We have employment agreements with Anthony So aind Wah Chung. Mr. S& employment agreement provides for a maximum yesadary o
approximately $800,000 per year plus bonus, and®ungs employment agreement provides for a maximum yesalary of approximately $200,000 per y
plus bonus, as stated in their respective employragreements, which expire on March 31, 2013. Gmnthe properties of the Group in Hong Kong is
provided to Mr. So as part of his compensation. Bln's employment agreement contains a provision undeéchwve will be obligated to pay Mr. So
compensation for the remainder of his employmentemgent and five times his annual salary and boopugpensation if a change of control, as defineldis
employment agreement occurs.
Options of Directors and Senior Management

The following table provides information concernimgtions owned by the directors and senior manageateMarch 31, 2011.

Number of Common

Name Shares Subject to Exercise Price
Stock Options Per Share Expiration Date

Anthony Sa 128,00( $3.65 April 9, 201
128,00( $2.50 March 6, 20

222,50( $1.61 March 31, 20

Kim Wah Chunc 20,00( $3.65 April 9, 201
20,00¢( $2.50 March 6, 20:

55,00( $1.61 March 31, 20

Woc-Ping Fok 10,00( $6.12 March 25, 20
10,00( $6.20 September 12, 2(

10,00( $4.50 December 4, 2C

J. Stewart Jackson | 10,00( $2.55 October 15, 20
10,00( $1.61 March 31, 20

10,00( $6.12 March 25, 20

10,00( $6.20 September 12, 2(

10,00( $4.50 December 4, 2C

Henry F. Schluete 10,00( $6.12 March 25, 20
10,00( $6.20 September 12, 2(

10,00( $4.50 December 4, 2C
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Directors

Except as mentioned above, our directors do nativecany additional monetary compensation for sgnin their capacities. All directors

reimbursed for all reasonable expenses incurredmmection with their services as a director.

Employee retirement benefits

@

(b)

With effect from January 1, 1988, BEL, a whotiysned foreign subsidiary of the Company in Hong ¢gomplemented a defined contribution plan
“Plan™) with a major international assurance company toigeolife insurance and retirement benefits for eémployees. All permanent full tir
employees who joined BEL before December 2000,uebiet factory workers, are eligible to join the yident fund plan. Eligible employees of
Plan are required to contribute 5% of their mon#ajary, while BEL is required to contribute fro®30 10% based on the eligible employesalary
depending on the number of years of the eligiblplegee’ s service

The Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPRVgs introduced by the Hong Kong Government and cenaad in December 2000. BEL joined the |
by implementing a plan with a major internationak@ance company. All permanent Hong Kong fulletiemployees who joined BEL on or a
December 2000, excluding factory workers, are leligio join the MPF. Eligible employees’ and thrapdoyer’s contributions to the MPF are bott
5% of the eligible employee’s monthly salary anel subject to a maximum mandatory contribution off#000 (US$128) monthly.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Gisupquired to make contributions for each empioya rates based upon the emplogestandar
salary base as determined by the local Social 8gd&ureau, to a defined contribution retiremerftesme organized by the local Social Security Bu
in respect of the retirement benefits for the Giegmployees in the PRC.

The contributions to each of the above schemegsem@gnized as employee benefit expense when theylee and are charged to the consolic
statement of income (loss). The Graupotal contributions to the above schemes foryirs ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 amota
approximately $325,000, $276,000 and $318,000 otsjedy. The Group has no other obligation to makgments in respect of retirement benefi
the employees

Board Practices

All directors hold office until our next annual ntieg) of shareholders or until their respective sssors are duly elected and qualified or theirtjprs

are earlier vacated by resignation or otherwist.eRecutive officers are appointed by the Board aerve at the pleasure of the Board. There ardineatol
service contracts providing for benefits upon teraibn of employment or directorship.
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NASDAQ Exemptions and Home Country Practices

NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4350 provides that foregivate issuers may elect to follow certain homertoy corporate governance practices so
as they provide NASDAQ with a letter from outsidminsel in its home country certifying that the &ssis corporate governance practices are not ptetiiby
home country law.

On July 19, 2005, we submitted a letter to NASDA&pti€ying that certain of Bonse’corporate governance practices are not prohibigetthe relevar
laws of the British Virgin Islands. We will folloBritish Virgin Island law in respect to the follavg requirements:

A majority of Bons('s board of directors will not be independe
Bonso will not have a nhominating committ

Bonso will not have a compensation commit

Bons('s independent directors will not meet in execusession; an
Bons('s audit committee may have only one mem

Audit Committee

Mr. Woo Ping Fok and Mr. Henry F. Schlueter are miembers of the Audit Committee. Mr. Fok is “indegent’as defined in the NASDAQ listir
standards, and Mr. Schlueter may not be considarddpendent” since his law firm serves as Bon&fri#ted States counsel.

The Audit Committee was established to: (i) reviemd approve the scope of audit procedures emplbyeslr independent auditors; (i) review |
approve the audit reports rendered by our indeperalelitors; (iii) approve the audit fee chargedhsy independent auditors; (iv) report to the BazfrDirector:
with respect to such matters; (v) recommend thectieh of independent auditors; and (vi) dischasgeh other responsibilities as may be delegatédftom
time to time by the Board of Directors. Effectime of August 17, 2000, the Board of Directors addm formal charter for its Audit Committee, whistas
amended effective June 30, 2005.

Employees
At March 31, 2011, we employed a total of 1,487spas, as compared to 1,879 persons at March 3D, &d 1,557 persons at March 31, 200¢

employees in Hong Kong (22 in 2010 and 24 in 2009%)73 employees in China (1,857 in 2010 and 1j63309). Employees are not covered by colle
bargaining agreements. We consider our globalrlpkactices and employee relations to be good.
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Share Ownership

The following table shows the number of sharesoofimon stock beneficially owned by our directors ardcutive officers as of August 31, 2011:

Total Number of

Shares of

Shares of Common Common Stock Percent of

Stock Owned of Beneficially Beneficial

Name Record Options Helc Owned Ownershig
Anthony So 2,281,77(W) () 350,50( 2,632,27 47.(%
Kim Wah Chunc 93,70( 75,00 168,70( 3.2%
Henry F. Schluete 34,00( 30,00(® 64,00( 1.2%
Woa-Ping Fok 66,50" 30,00(® 96,50 1.8%
J. Stewart Jackson | oM 50,00(®) 50,00( 0.8%
Albert So 0 0 0 0%
All Directors and Officers as a group (6 persc 2,475,97 535,50( 3,011,47 54.2%

Note: The number of shares outstanding is 5,246s8@8s, with 5,577,639 total number of shareegswhich includes 330,736 shares in treasury.
calculations above are based upon the number oéskssued of 5,577,63

(1) Includes 1,143,421 shares of common stock ownegtadrd by a corporation that is wholly owned byrast of which Mr. So is the sc
beneficiary.

(2) Includes options to purchase 128,000 shares of aomstock at an exercise price of $2.50 per shgpé&ieg on March 6, 2012 and options
purchase 222,500 shares of common stock at anisxgnice of $1.61 per share expiring on March231,3.

(3) Includes options to purchase 20,000 shares of canstaxk at an exercise price of $2.50 per shar@irgmon March 6, 2012, and options
purchase 55,000 shares of common stock at an sggudce of $1.61 per share expiring on March 8132

(4) Includes options to purchase 10,000 shares of comstuck at an exercise price of $6.12 expiring card¥t 25, 2014, options to purch
10,000 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$6.20 per share expiring on September 12, 2@#4options to purchase 10,000 share
common stock at an exercise price of $4.50 peres&gpiring on December 4, 20!

(5) Includes options to purchase 10,000 shares of camstuxk at an exercise price of $6.12 expiring card¥t 25, 2014, options to purch
10,000 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$6.20 per share expiring on September 12, 2@#4options to purchase 10,000 share
common stock at an exercise price of $4.50 peres&gpiring on December 4, 20!

(6) Includes options to purchase 10,000 shares of canwstuck at an exercise price of $2.55 expiring atoBer 15, 2011, options to purch
10,000 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$&.61 expiring on March 31, 2013, options toghase 10,000 shares of common sto
an exercise price of $6.12 expiring on March 251£2Mmptions to purchase 10,000 shares of commark stban exercise price of $6.20
share expiring on September 12, 2014 and optiopsiithase 10,000 shares of common stock at anisagnice of $4.50 per share expiring
December 4, 201!

(7) Effective March 31, 2011, John Stewart Jackson,d\djrector of the Company sold 455,575 shares.@@3par value of the Company i
private sale of stock to Anthony So for gross peatseof One Million One Hundred Thirty Eight Thoudadine Hundred Thirty Seven Doll:
and Fifty cents (USD$1,138,937.50), or $2.50 peresh Effective March 31, 2011, Anthony So pure200,000 shares of $.003 par v.
common stock of Bonso in a private purchase ofksfoam an individual for gross proceeds of Threentited and Twenty Thousand Doll
(USD$320,000), or $1.60 per she
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Stock Option and Bonus Plans
The 1996 Stock Option Plan

In October 1996, our stockholders adopted the 186k Option Plan (the “Employees’ Planijhich provides for the grant of options to purchas
aggregate of not more than 400,000 shares of qummm stock. In January 2000, our shareholdersoapprthe proposal of the Board of Directors to éas
from 400,000 to 900,000 in the aggregate the nurabeptions to purchase common stock under the Byegls’ Plan. The purpose of the Employd#anh is t
make options available to management and employeesder to encourage them to secure or increaseecasonable terms their stock ownership ar
encourage them to remain with the Company.

The EmployeesPlan is administered by a committee appointed byBbard of Directors which determines the persoriset granted options under
Employees’Plan, the number of shares subject to each optienexercise price of each option and the optiatogesubject to the requirement that no of
may be exercisable more than ten years after tteeadagrant. The exercise price of an option meydss than the fair market value of the underlghgres c
common stock. No options granted under the Emplgi\®an are transferable by the optionee other thawnilbpr the laws of descent and distribution, aratt
option will be exercisable during the lifetime bk&toptionee only by such optionee.

The exercise price of an option granted pursuatheoEmployeesPlan may be paid in cash, by the surrender of ngtiom common stock, in ott
property, including the optionee’s promissory nateby a combination of the above, at our discretio

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, ndomgtwere granted under the Employees’ Plan.
The 2004 Stock Option Plan

On March 23, 2004, our stockholders adopted thel Z30ck Option Plan (the “2004 Planiyhich provides for the grant of up to six hundredusan
(600,000) shares of the Company’s common stockerfdrm of stock options, subject to certain adjesits as described in the 2004 Plan.

The purpose of the 2004 Plan is to secure key grapkto remain in the employ of the Company arehtturage such employees to secure or inc

on reasonable terms their common stock ownershipegrCompany. The Company believes that the 2084 [romotes continuity of management and incre
incentive and personal interest in the welfarehef€ompany.
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The 2004 Plan is administered by a committee appaiby the Board of Directors, which consists deast two but not more than three members ¢
Board, one of whom shall be a non-employee of them@any. The committee members currently are Antf@mand Wod?ing Fok. The committee determi
the specific terms of the options granted, inclgdine employees to be granted options under the e number of shares subject to each optiont,gtiae
exercise price of each option and the option pesodject to the requirement that no option magxercisable more than 10 years after the dateasftgrThe
exercise price of an option may be less than tlirenfarket value of the underlying shares of comnstock. No options granted under the plan wil
transferable by the optionee other than by wilther laws of descent and distribution, and eacloaptiill be exercisable during the lifetime of thetionee onl;
by the optionee.

The exercise price of an option granted pursuatitéc2004 Plan may be paid in cash, by the surresfdeptions, in common stock, in other prope
including a promissory note from the optionee, yalzombination of the above, at the discretiothefCommittee.

As of March 31, 2011, no options had been grantebuthe 2004 Plan.
2004 Stock Bonus Plan

On September 7, 2004, our stockholders adopte®@3d Stock Bonus Plan (the “Stock Bonus Plamfjch authorizes the issuance of up to
hundred thousand (500,000) shares of the Comp&uismon Stock in the form of stock a stock bonus.

The purpose of this Stock Bonus Plan is to: (@uice key employees to remain in the employ of then@@any or of any subsidiary of the Company
encourage such employees to secure or increasestioek ownership in the Company; and (iii) rewamiployees, noemployee directors, advisors :
consultants for services rendered, or to be reudéoeor for the benefit of the Company or anytefsubsidiaries. The Company believes that thekSBmnus
Plan will promote continuity of management and éased incentive and personal interest in the weeltiithe Company.

The Stock Bonus Plan shall be administered by antittee appointed by the Board of Directors whichsists of at least two but not more than t
members of the Board, one of whom shall be a nopl@yee of the Company. The Committee members gtiyrare Anthony So and WoBing Fok. Th
Committee has the authority, in its sole discreti¢ifto determine the parties to receive bonuslstthe times when they shall receive such awahgsnumbe
of shares to be issued and the time, terms andtmm=lof the issuance of any such shares; (igdwstrue and interpret the terms of the Stock BéHas; (iii) tc
establish, amend and rescind rules and regulattrthe administration of the Stock Bonus Plan; émjito make all other determinations necessargdwisabl
for administering the Stock Bonus Plan.

As of March 31, 2011, no shares had been grantddruhe Stock Bonus Plan.
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Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Tranactions

Major shareholders

We are not directly or indirectly owned or contedllby any foreign government or by another corpamatThe following table sets forth, as of Au
31, 2011, beneficial ownership of our common stbgleach person, to the best of our knowledge, knmwawn beneficially 5% or more of our common ¢
outstanding as of such date. Except as otherwiieated, all shares are owned directly and holdikbgpoting rights.

Percent of
Shares of Common  Options to Purchase Beneficial
Name Stock Ownec Common Stocl Ownershig®)
Anthony Sc 2,281,77( 350,50(4) 44.4%
W. Douglas Morelani 501,40( - 8.9%%
CAS Corporatior 290,65¢ - 5.21%
2) Based on beneficial ownership of both skafecommon stock and of options to purchase comstmek that are immediately exercisabl€he
calculations above are based upon the number oéskssued of 5,577,63
2) Includes 1,143,421 shares of common steahkeal of record by a corporation that is wholly odmy a trust of which Mr. So is the sole
beneficiary.
?3) See"Share Ownersh” for additional information

There are no arrangements known to us which mayabsequent date result in a change in contitheo€ompany.

Related Party Transactions

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, wel (#dhlueter & Associates, P.C. an aggregate of0¥87for legal fees. Mr. Henry F. Schluete
director of the Company, is the Managing Directb&ohlueter & Associates, P.C.

Interests of Experts and Counsel
Not Applicable.
Legal Proceedings
Not Applicable.
Item 8. Financial Information
Financial Statements

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are set fortler ltem 18. - Financial Statements.
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Item 9. The Offer and Listing
Listing Details

Our common stock is traded only in the United Stateer-thesounter market. It is quoted on the NASDAQ Capifrket under the trading symi
“BNSO."” The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, the range of high and low closing salesgsrper share reported by NASDAQ. The quota
represent prices between dealers and do not inckidi markup, markdown or commissions and mayneaessarily represent actual transactions.

The following table sets forth the high and lowesptices for each of the last five years:

Period High Low

April 1, 2006 to March 31, 20C $ 547 $ 3.01
April 1, 2007 to March 31, 20C $ 46¢ $ 1.8€
April 1, 2008 to March 31, 200! $ 248 3 0.0z
April 1, 2009 to March 31, 201 $ 14z $ 0.65
April 1, 2010 to March 31, 201 $ 244 $ 0.8€

The following table sets forth the high and lowesatices during each of the quarters in the twa-peaod ended June 30, 2011.

Period High Low

July 1, 2009 to September 30, 20( $ 14z $ 0.8z
October 1, 2009 to December 31, 20! $ 137 $ 0.7€
January 1, 2010 to March 31, 20 $ 1.2C $ 0.62
April 1, 2010 to June 30, 201( $ 1.3 % 0.9z
July 1, 2010 to September 30, 20! $ 14¢ $ 0.8€
October 1, 2010 to December 31, 2C $ 1.78 % 1.1%
January 1, 2011 to March 31, 20 $ 244 $ 1.3C
April 1, 2011 to June 30, 201 $ 2371 $ 1.7

The following table sets forth the high and lowesatices during each of the most recent six months.

Period High Low

March 2011 $ 2371 $ 1.8C
April 2011 $ 237 $ 1.91
May 2011 $ 231 $ 1.7
June 201: $ 224 3% 1.7
July 2011 $ 28C $ 1.92
August 2011 $ 21 % 1.32
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On September 13, 2011, the closing price of ourmomstock was $1.49. Of the 5,577,639 shares wiman stock issued as of August 31, 2!
5,246,903 shares were outstanding, 3,361,877 shamesheld in the United States by 190 holderseobrd and 330,736 shares were held by the Comps
treasury stock. We have 198 shareholders of remoddestimate that we have 601 shareholders hotb@igstock in street name (who have not objetbetthei
names being disclosed to us).

Transfer and Warrant Agent

The transfer agent and registrar for the commocks®Computershare, 1745 Gardena Avenue #200dalenCalifornia 91204.
Item 10. Additional Information
Share Capital

Our authorized capital is $170,000, consisting 333,334 shares of common stock, $0.003 par \@dueshare, and 10,000,000 authorized shat
preferred stock, $0.01 par value, divided into 8,600 shares each of class A preferred stock, @apseferred stock, class C preferred stock andsck
preferred stock. Information with respect to thenber of shares of common stock outstanding ab#ggnning and at the end of the last three fisealry i

presented in the Consolidated Statements of ChanddsareholdersEquity for the fiscal years ended March 31, 20@,®and 2011 included herein in Item

At August 31, 2011, there were 5,577,639 sharemuofcommon stock issued, 5,246,903 shares wer¢aadtag, and 330,736 shares were held b
Company in treasury. All shares were fully paid.addition, we had outstanding 630,500 optionguthase common stock as follows:

Number of Expiration
Options per Share Date
10,00( $2.5¢ October 15, 201
168,00( $2.5( March 6, 201
342,50( $1.61 March 31, 201
40,00( $6.1:2 March 25, 201
40,00( $6.2( September 12, 20
30,00¢( $4.5( December 4, 20:

At August 31, 2011, there were no shares of ouiepred stock outstanding.
Memorandum and Articles of Association

We are registered in the British Virgin Islands drade been assigned company number 9032 in theteéegif companies. Our registered agent is t
Services Limited at Craigmuir Chambers, P.O. BoxRdad Town, Tortola, British Virgin Islands. Thbject or purpose of the Company is to engage ynaal
or activity that is not prohibited under Britishryin Islands law as set forth in Paragraph 4 of demorandum of Association. As an InternationakiBes:
Company, we are prohibited from doing business wétsons resident in the British Virgin Islands,navg real estate in the British Virgin Islands otiag as .
bank or insurance company. We do not believettieste restrictions materially affect our operations
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Paragraph 57(c) of our Amended Articles of Assaomatthe “Articles”) provides that a director may be counted as onemfaum in respect of a
contract or arrangement in which the director igemally interested; however, if the agreementransaction cannot be approved by a resolution refcthr:
without counting the vote or consent of any intedslirector, the agreement or transaction may belyalidated by approval or ratification by a tason of the
members. Paragraph 53 of the Articles allows ihectbrs to vote compensation to themselves inaetspf services rendered to the Company. Paragiépi
the Articles provides that the directors may byhation exercise all the powers of the Companydodw money and to mortgage or charge its underggkan:
property or any part thereof, to issue debentulebenture stock and other securities whenever manéprrowed or as security for any debt, liabiliy
obligation of ours or of any third party. Such tweving powers can be altered by an amendment tdtlieles. There is no provision in the Articlesr fthe
mandatory retirement of directors. Directors averequired to own shares of the Company in ordaetve as directors.

Our authorized share capital is $170,000, divided 23,333,334 shares of common stock, $0.003 phrey and 10,000,000 authorized share
preferred stock, $0.01 par value. Holders of ammon stock are entitled to one vote for each wisbiere on all matters to be voted upon by shareh&
including the election of directors. Holders of @@mmon stock do not have cumulative voting rightthe election of directors. All of our commoheses ar
equal to each other with respect to liquidation dividend rights. Holders of our common shareseartitled to receive dividends if and when declaogdul
board of directors out of funds legally availaliterefor under British Virgin Islands law. In theeat of our liquidation, all assets available fistdbution to th
holders of our common shares are distributable gnbem according to their respective holdings. ddad of our common stock have no preemptive righ
purchase any additional unissued common sharesshbies of our preferred stock have been issuedever, the board of directors has the ability teedaine
the rights, preferences and restrictions of théepred stock at their discretion.

Paragraph 7 of the Memorandum of Association pewvithat without prejudice to any special rights/jmesly conferred on the holders of any exis
shares, any share may be issued with such prefeteéerred or other special rights or such restnst, whether in regard to dividend, voting, retofrcapital o
otherwise, as the directors may from time to tireeedmine.

Paragraph 10 of the Memorandum of Association piewithat if at any time the authorized share casitdivided into different classes or serie:

shares, the rights attached to any class or sexgsbe varied with the consent in writing of thédeos of not less than thrdeurths of the issued shares of
other class or series of shares which may be affdzy such variation.
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Paragraph 105 of the Articles of Association presgidhat our Memorandum and Articles of Associatiay be amended by a resolution of membe
a resolution of directors. Thus, our board of clives without shareholder approval may amend oumbtandum and Articles of Association. This incls
amendments to increase or reduce our authorizathtafck. Our ability to amend our Memorandund @aticles of Association without shareholder apad
could have the effect of delaying, deterring orvprging a change in control of the Company, inalgda tender offer to purchase our common share
premium over the then current market price.

Provisions in respect of the holding of general tings and extraordinary general meetings are seinoBaragraphs 68 through 77 of the Articles
under the International Business Companies Ace dinectors may convene meetings of the membesuict times and in such manner and places ¢
directors consider necessary or desirable, andshalf convene such a meeting upon the writtenesigof members holding more than 30% of the vofesut
outstanding voting shares.

British Virgin Islands law and our Memorandum andiéles of Association impose no limitations on tight of nonresident or foreign owners to t
or vote our securities. There are no provisionshizn Memorandum and Articles of Association govegnthe ownership threshold above which shareh
ownership must be disclosed.

A copy of our Memorandum and Articles of Associatias amended, was filed as an exhibit to our Regjiisn Statement on Form Z{SEC File Nc
333-32524).

Material Contracts

The following summarizes each material contradtepothan contracts entered into in the ordinaryrs®wf business, to which Bonso or any subsi
of Bonso is a party, for the two years immediafaigceding the filing of this report:

We signed a Banking Facility Letter dated June28,1 with Hang Seng Bank for a HK$63,000,000 lettiecredit, trust receipt facility, export C
bills, export trade loan, factoring and overdrattifity. A copy of this Banking Facilities Lettes attached to this Annual Report on FormR2@s Exhibit 4.1 ar
is incorporated herein by this reference.

Exchange Controls

There are no exchange control restrictions on paysnef dividends on our common stock or on the cehaf our operations either in Hong Ko
where our principal executive offices are locatedthe British Virgin Islands, where we are incaigged. Other jurisdictions in which we conduct i@iens
may have various exchange controls. Taxation apdtriation of profits regarding our China openasiare regulated by Chinese laws and regulatigvigh
respect to our PRC subsidiaries, with the excepifamrequirement that approximately 11% of prafigssreserved for future developments and staffacelfther
are no restrictions on the payment of dividends edremoval of dividends from China once all tazes paid and assessed and losses, if any, fromope
years have been made good. To date, these coh&reésnot had, and are not expected to have, aialdtepact on our financial results. There arenmateria
British Virgin Islands laws that impose foreign Baoge controls on us or that affect the paymerdiwtiends, interest or other payments to holdersw
securities who are not residents of the BritishgWirlslands. British Virgin Islands law and our Merandum and Articles of Association impose no titidns
on the right of nonresident or foreign owners ttdrar vote our securities.
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Taxation

No reciprocal tax treaty regarding withholding ésibetween the United States and the British Vitgiands. Under current British Virgin Islands |
dividends, interest or royalties paid by us to widiials are not subject to tax as long as the iegips not a resident of the British Virgin IslandIf we were t
pay a dividend, we would not be liable to withhaldy tax, but shareholders would receive gross didd, if any, irrespective of their residentialnationa
status.

Dividends, if any, paid to any United States resider citizen shareholder are treated as dividemmbme for United States federal income
purposes. Such dividends are not eligible for 7086 dividends:eceived deduction allowed to United States cotpmra on dividends from a domes
corporation under Section 243 of the Internal Reee@ode. Various Internal Revenue Code provisionmse special taxes in certain circumstances on no
United States corporations and their sharehold¥éo are urged to consult your tax advisor witharelgto such possibilities and your own tax situatio

A foreign corporation will be treated as a passoreign investment company (“PFICfr United States federal income tax purposesfiérapplying
relevant lookthrough rules with respect to the income and asdessibsidiaries, 75% or more of its gross incomesésts of certain types of passive incom
50% or more of the gross value of its assets igatable to assets that produce passive inconaeeoheld for the production of passive income. tRs purpose
passive income generally includes dividends, ister®yalties, rents (other that rents and roysitierived in the active conduct of a trade or kesgh annuitie
and gains from assets that produce passive inciMepresently believe that we are not a PFIC andatoanticipate becoming a PFIC. This is, howewa
factual determination made on an annual basisssdhject to change. If we were to be classified 8FIC in any taxable year, (i) U.S. holders waénerall
be required to treat any gain on sales of our shiaed by them as ordinary income and to pay arest charge on the value of the deferral of theited State
federal income tax attributable to such gain apdi{tributions paid by us to our United Stateddiecs could also be subject to an interest chahgeddition, wi
would not provide information to our United Statedders that would enable them to make a “qualiétting fund’election under which, generally, in lieu
the foregoing treatment, our earnings would beanily included in their United States federal ineom

In addition to United States federal income taxatghareholders may be subject to state and lagastupon their receipt of dividends.
Documents on Display

You may read and copy documents referred to inAlmisual Report on Form 20-F that have been filethwhe SEC at the SE€'Public Referenc
Room, 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. Yoay obtain information on the operation of the IRuReference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. You can also obtain copies of our SEC fgibg going to the SEC’s website at http://www.see.g

The SEC allows us to “incorporate by referentt® information we file with the SEC. This meahattwe can disclose important information to yo!

referring you to another document filed separateitph the SEC. The information incorporated by refee is considered to be part of this Annual Repr
Form 20-F.
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Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative DisclosuresAbout Market Risk
We are exposed to a certain level of interestniakeand foreign currency exchange risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Our interest rate risk primarily arises from oundeterm debt and our general banking facilities aAMarch 31, 2011, there was no ldegn debt. W
had utilized approximately $1,333,000 of our tdiahking facilities of $8,554,000. Based on theurigt profile and composition of our lortgrm debt an
general banking facilities, including the fact tlatr banking facilities are at variable interesesa we estimatéhat changes in interest rates will not ha
material impact on our operating results or castv§l We intend to manage our interest rate riskulph appropriate borrowing strategies. We haveentere:
into interest rate swap or risk management agretsneowever, it is possible that we may do so @nftiture.

A summary of our debts as at March 31, 2011 whiehevgubjected to variable interest rates is asabelo

March 31, Interest
2011 Rate
Notes payabl: $1,333,00( HIBOR + 2.5%

(Note: HIBOR is the Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate

Interest rates are subject to change if the Complafgults on the amounts due under the facilitgraws in excess of the facility amounts or af
discretion of the banks and range from 4% to 6%didition to the United States and Hong Kong PrimateR respectively.

All the balances above are due within one year.
A change in the interest rate of 1% will increasel@crease the interest expense of the Companggrpximately $20,000.
For further information concerning our banking fiieis, the interest rates payable and repaymentseplease see Note 8 to our Consolidated Fink

Statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

For a discussion of our Foreign Currency Exchang#,RSee Item 5. - Operating and Financial Review and ProspéeForeign Currency Exchan
Rates.”

Item 12. Description of Securities Other Than Equy Securities
Not applicable.
PART II
Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delingencies
None.
Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of curity Holders and Use of Proceeds
None.
Item 15. Controls and Procedures

The Companys management, with the participation of its Chigkeé&utive Officer and the Chief Financial Officegnelucted an evaluation of ¢
disclosure controls and procedures, as definediiagraph (e) of Rule 13a-15 or 15d-15 under thén&mxge Act, as of March 31, 2011.

Based on this evaluation, Anthony So, the Chiefdakge Officer, and Albert So, the Chief Finandfficer, have concluded that, as of March 31, 2
the Companys disclosure controls and procedures were effe¢ttiverovide reasonable assurance that informaggpired to be disclosed by the Compan
reports it files or submits under the Exchange i8aecorded, processed, summarized and reportéihvifte time periods specified in the rules andan®of the
SEC, and included controls and procedures desitmethsure that information required to be disclosgdhe Company in such reports is accumulatec
communicated to the Company’s management, inclutiegCompanys Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offic as appropriate, to allow tim
decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Management's Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for dstdabf and maintaining adequate internal contra@rdinancial reporting, as such term is define
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Then@anys internal control over financial reporting is aopess designed to provide reasonable asst
regarding the reliability of financial reporting dithe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with applicable geneseaitepte
accounting principles. A comparsyinternal control over financial reporting inclsdéose policies and procedures that: (1) pettathe maintenance of reco
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and faidflect the transactions and dispositions of thestasef the Company; (2) provide reasonable assearém
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepagation of financial statements in accordanch g&nerally accepted accounting principles, antréeeipt:
and expenditures of the Company are being madeiom@gcordance with authorizations of managemedtdarectors of the Company; and (3) provide reabta
assurance regarding prevention or timely deteafoimauthorized acquisition, use or dispositiorih&f companys assets that could have a material effect o
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Also, projections of any evadumadt
effectiveness to future periods are subject tarislethat controls may become inadequate becauskasfges in conditions or that the degree of canpé witt
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management has evaluated the effeetss of the Comparsyinternal control over financial reporting as oaidh 31, 2011 based uf
criteria established in Internal Control Integrafedmework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringg@irations of the Treadway Commission. Baseche
assessment, the Company’s management, includi@hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officeoncluded that, as of March 31, 2011, the Comjzan
internal control over financial reporting was effee based on these criteria.

Changes in internal controls over financial reporthg

There were no changes in the Compangternal controls over financial reporting durithg year ended March 31, 2011 that have materdfibcted, ¢
are reasonably likely to materially affect, ourimtal control over financial reporting.

Item 16. Reserved
Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert
Henry F. Schlueter is a member of the Company’stacammittee and is deemed to be a financial expeit Schlueter, the Comparsy'outsid

securities counsel, may not be deemed to be “intig®” within the definition of “independence” pigiled by NASDAQ.
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Item 16B. Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies tdChief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offic We intend to disclose any changes ir
waivers from, our code of ethics by filing a ForaK6 Stockholders may request a free copy in gonin from our Chief Financial Officer at:

Bonso Electronics International, Inc.
Unit 1404, 14/F, Cheuk Nang Centre
9 Hillwood Road, Tsimshatsui
Kowloon

Hong Kong

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Audit Committee’s Pre-approval Policies and Procedre

The Audit Committee must pre-approve the audit aod-audit services performed by the independent auditarder to assure that the provisiot
such services does not impair the auditor's indégece. Before the Company or any of its subsieagngage the independent auditor to render aceehi
engagement must be either:

2) specifically approved by the Audit@mittee; or
2 entered into pursuant to this Pre-ddppl Policy.

The term of any pre-approval is 12 months fromdhte of preapproval, unless the Audit Committee specificaltgyides for a different period. T
Audit Committee may periodically revise the listpye-approved services.

The Audit Committee may delegate @peproval authority to one or more of its membéree member or members to whom such authority isgdeé
shall report any prepproval decisions to the Audit Committee at itgtreeheduled meeting. The Audit Committee maydelegate to management the A
Committee's responsibilities to pre-approve ses/performed by the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee must specifically pagprove the terms of the annual audit servicesgargant. The Audit Committee shall approve, if sseey
any changes in terms resulting from changes intagdpe, Company structure or other matters. dhitiad to the annual audit services engagementoyepr by
the Audit Committee, the Audit Committee may grpra-approval for other audit services, which are themwices that only the independent auditor readg
can provide.

The Audit Committee may grant pre-approval to thpsamissible noraudit services classified as other services thaelieves would not impair tl
independence of the auditor, including those thatrautine and recurring services.

The Audit Committee may consider the amount or eanfjestimated fees as a factor in determining kdrea proposed service would impair
auditor's independence. Where the Audit Committae approved an estimated fee for a service, thapproval applies to all services described in
approval. However, in the event the invoice inpext of any such service is materially in excesthefestimated amount or range, the Audit Committeils
approve such excess amount prior to payment ointfeéce. The Audit Committee expects that any esisi to pay invoices in excess of the estimatecuate
will include an explanation as to the reason ferdkerage. The Company’s independent auditorbeilihformed of this policy.
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The Company’s management shall inform the Audit @uitee of each service performed by the independeditor pursuant to this PAgprova
Policy. Requests or applications to provide sewithat require separate approval by the Audit Cittenshall be submitted to the Audit Committeeblogh the
independent auditor and the Chief Financial Offimed must include a joint statement as to whetheheir view, the request or application is cotesis with the
SEC's and the Public Company Accounting Oversighar (United States)’s rules on auditor independenc

The audit fee indicated below was pre-approvechbyAudit Committee before the auditor commencei therk.
Audit Fees

The aggregate fees billed by Moore Stephens fdiepsimnal services rendered for the audit of then@any’s annual consolidated financial statem
for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2011 and 204@ $190,000 and $195,000, respectively.

Audit Related Fees

There were no fees billed by Moore Stephens fofegional services rendered for assurance ancedetarvices that were reasonably related t
performance of the audit and are not reported aboder “Audit Fees” for the fiscal year ended Ma8dh 2011 and for the fiscal year ended March 8102

Tax Fees

The aggregate fees billed by a company controlledbore Stephens for professional services rendémethx compliance for the fiscal year en
March 31, 2011 were approximately $4,000 and $3f@dChe fiscal year ended March 31, 2010. Theregate fees billed by PricewaterhouseCooper
professional services rendered for tax compliamecetfe fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 were apprately $32,000 and $22,000 for the fiscal yeareg
March 31, 2010.

Iltem 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards fo Audit Committees

Pursuant to NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 4350(a), aifpreprivate issuer may follow its home country pieein lieu of Rule 4350, which sets forth
qualitative Listing Requirements for NASDAQ listedmpanies. Rule 4350 requires, among other ththgsa listed company have at least three mentdreits
audit committee. The Company currently has antaugihmittee consisting of two directors, one of whis deemed to be “independeat defined in NASDA!
Marketplace Rule 4200. The Company has obtainletter from independent counsel in the British VMirgslands certifying that having a single membuedit
committee is not prohibited by British Virgin Isidtaw. See “NASDAQ Exemptions and Home CountrycEcas.”
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Item 16E. Purchasers of Equity Securities by thessuer and Affiliated Purchasers

In August of 2001, the Company's Board of Directaushorized a program for the Company to repurchigse $500,000 of its common stock. 1
repurchase program does not obligate the Compaagduoire any specific number of shares or acquiezes over any specified period of time. No stdwke
been repurchased up to March 31, 2006. On Noverh®eP006, the Company's Board of Directors autiearian additional $1,000,000 for the Company’
repurchase of its common stock under the sameclepse program. This authorization to repurchaaeeshncreased the amount authorized for repurdnas
$500,000 to $1,500,000. During the fiscal yeareehilarch 31, 2007, 260,717 shares valued at $58Q8yere purchased under this program. No shasee
repurchased during the fiscal year ended Marct28@8. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 20@9019 shares valued at $133,765 were purchasiad
this program. No shares were repurchased durinfisbal years ended March 31, 2010 and 2011. Téragany may from time to time repurchase sharets
Common Stock under this program.
Item 16F. Changes in Registrant’s Certifying Accontants.

Not applicable.
Item 16G. Corporate Governance.

For a discussion of the ways in which the Compamgrporate governance differs from those follokgddomestic companies under the NASC
Marketplace listing requirements, see “NASDAQ Exéoms and Home Country Practices” above.

PART Il
Item 17. Financial Statements
Not applicable.
Item 18. Financial Statements

The following Financial Statements are filed ag pathis Annual Report:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfinm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 20d@@hl F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Compsefeehoss for the years ended March 31, 2009, 260 Fa
2011
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockh¢ Equity for the years ended March 31, 2009, 2010201d F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeadecMarch 31, 2009, 2010 and 20 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem: F-7 to F-37
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Item 19. Exhibits
4.1 Banking Facility Letter, dated June 15, 2011 betwBenso and the Hang Seng Bank Limi
11.1  Code of Ethics For Chief Executive Officer and Gligmancial Officer (1)
12.1  Certification of Officer Pursuant to Section 13588,adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002
12.2  Certification of Officer Pursuant to Section 1386,adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 200z
13.1  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopteduant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z
13.2  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 as adopteduant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 200z

(1) Filed as an Exhibit on Form -F filed with the Commission on August 13, 20
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SIGNATURE

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets &the requirements for filing on Form Zand that it has duly caused and authorized tdersigned t
sign this Annual Report on its behalf.

BONSO ELECTRONICS INTERNATIONAL INC.

Dated: September 30, 20 /s/ Anthony So
Anthony So, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executfécer, Treasurer and Direct

Dated: September 30, 2011 /sl Albert Sc
Albert So, Chief Financial Officer and Secret
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Bonso Electronics International Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Bonso Electronics International Imel subsidiaries (the “Companyds of March 31, 20!
and 2010 and the related consolidated statememfgeshtions and comprehensive loss, changes ikhsilters’equity, and cash flows for each of the three y
in the period ended March 31, 2011. These cors@itifinancial statements are the responsibilithefCompanys management. Our responsibility is to exg
an opinion on these consolidated financial statésieased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBo(United States). Those standards require tb
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablerasse about whether the consolidated financiééstents are free of material misstatement. The @omw it
not required to have, nor were we engaged to parfan audit of its internal control over finanaieporting. Our audits included consideration ®&inal contrc
over financial reporting as a basis for designiaditaprocedures that are appropriate in the cir¢cantes, but not for the purposes of expressingparan on the
effectiveness of the Compasyinternal control over financial reporting. Acdorgly, we express no such opinion. An audit idels examining, on a test ba
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosureleirconsolidated financial statements. An audib ahcludes assessing the accounting principled age
significant estimates made by management, as wellaluating the overall financial statement pregean. We believe that our audits provide a reabmbasi
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the consolidated financial positiothef Company ¢
of March 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results obfsrations and cash flows for each of the threesymathe period ended March 31, 2011, in conformiith
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl Moore Stephens
Moore Stephens

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
September 30, 2011
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Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalel
Trade receivables, n
Other receivables, deposits and prepaym
Inventories
Income tax recoverab
Held-to-maturity investment
Current assets of discontinued operations
Total current assets

Deferred income tax asset
Goodwill
Brand name and other intangible assets, ne

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings
Constructio-in-progress
Plant and machinel
Furniture, fixtures and equipme
Motor vehicles

Less: accumulated depreciation and impairment

Property, plant and equipment, 1

Non-current assets of discontinued operations

Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities
Bank overdraft— securec
Notes payabl
Accounts payabl
Accrued charges and depos
Income tax liabilities
Current portion of capital lease obligatic
Current liabilities of discontinued operations

Total current liabilities

Income tax liabilities
Deferred income tax liabilities
Commitments

Stockholders’ equity
Common stock par value $0.003 per st
- authorized share- 23,333,33¢
- issued shares: 2010 and 2011- 5,577,639,
- outstanding shares: 2010 and 2- 5,246,902
Additional pai«in capital

Treasury stock at cost: 2010 and 2~ 330,736 share

Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Note

11

13

See notes to these consolidated financial statement
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March 31

2010
$ in thousands

2011
$ in thousands

8,08t 5,407
1,32 1,311
1,35¢ 70¢
4,99( 4,84¢
1,56¢ 1,94

20C 5
17,52, 14,22
3,85¢ 4,031
9,60: 9,71¢
47¢ 1,801
20,03’ 20,88
3,28¢ 3,14¢
445 445
33,85: 35,99t

(31,544) (32,43)

2,307 3,55¢

23,68 21,81
69 -
2,09¢ 1,33
2,63: 2,72¢
1,93¢ 2,19¢
7 24

52 -
1,09¢ 1,08¢
7,881 7,371
2,59¢ 2,59¢
19 19

17 17
21,76t 21,76t
(1,469 (1,469
oy orey
13,18 11,82,
23,68 21,81







Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehsive Loss
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Year ended March 31,
Note 2009 2010 2011

$inthousands  $inthousands  $in thousands

(restated)
Net sales 19 40,37¢ 28,54! 28,38’
Cost of sales (34,707 (23,697) (24,760
Gross profit 5,671 4,85( 3,627
Selling expense (649) (375) (249)
Salaries and related co: (3,777) (2,539 (2,716
Research and development expet (792) (580) (3349)
Administration and general expenses (4,607) (2,01 (1,959
Loss from operation 19 (4,149 (655) (1,63))
Interest incom 127 10s 6
Interest expense (209) (69) (5€)
Foreign exchange lo: (279 (522) (230)
Gain on disposal of proper 162 - 15k
Gain on disposal of intangible ass - - 41
Other income 707 62C 184
Loss before income tax (3,64)) (529) (1,43))
Income tax expense 9 (20€) (9) -
Loss from continuing operatiol (3,849 (532) (1,43))
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 12 (3,735 (12€) (129)
Net loss (7,589 (65¢) (1,560)
Other comprehensive income, net of 1
Foreign currency translation adjustments, netf ta 811 (152) 19¢
Comprehensive loss (6,779 (810) (1,367)
(see note 1:

Loss per shar
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 18 5,246,90: 5,246,90: 5,246,90:
- basic and dilute

- Continuing operation (0.79) (0.10 (0.279)

- Discontinued operations (0.72) (0.07) (0.02)

(1.4%) (0.17) (0.29)

See notes to these consolidated financial statement
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholdergquity
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Common stocl Treasury stocl Accumulatec
other
Retainec comprehensiv
Additional Treasury earnings income-foreign Total
Shares Amount paic-in Shares Amount (Accumulatec currency stockholder’
Issuec outstanding capital held outstanding deficit) adjustment: equity
$ in thousand $ in thousand $ in thousand $ in thousand $ in thousand $ in thousand
Balance, March 31, 20( 5,577,63! 17 21,76¢ 260,71° (1,329 (1,130 1,581 20,90¢
Net loss - - - - - (7,589 - (7,589
Shares repurcha: - - - 70,01¢ (139 - - (139
Foreign exchange translation adjustrr - - - - - - 811 811
Balance, March 31, 20( 5,577,63 17 21,76t 330,73t (1,462) (8,714 2,392 13,99¢
Net loss - - - - - (65¢) - (65¢)
Foreign exchange translation adjustn - - - - - - (152) (152)
Balance, March 31, 201 5,577,63! 17 21,765 330,73t (1,462) (9,377) 2,24C 13,18¢
Net loss - - - - - (1,560) - (1,560
Foreign exchange translation adjustrr - - - - - - 19¢ 19¢
Balance, March 31, 201 5,577,63! 17 21,76¢ 330,73t (1,462) (10,937) 2,43¢ 11,827

See notes to these consolidated financial statement
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Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Loss from discontinued operatio

Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby operating activitie

Depreciatior
Amortization

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipmbiaté 5)

Gain on disposal of intangible as

Write off of accounts payab

Inventory allowanct

Bad debt allowance / (reversal of bad de
Others

Changes in assets and liabiliti
Trade receivable

Long term deposit

Other receivables, deposits and prepaym
Inventories

Income tax recoverab

Notes payabl

Accounts payabl

Accrued charges and depos
Income tax liabilities

Deferred income tax liabilities

Operating activities of continuing operatic
Operating activities of discontinued operations

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating iéietsv

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from disposal of intangible as
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and egaeigt
Acquisition of property, plant and equipm:
Acquisition of hel-to-maturity investment
Acquisition of intangible asse
Proceeds from investments

Investing activities of continuing operatio
Investing activities of discontinued operations

Net cash (used in)/generated from investing awvit

Cash flows from financing activities
Repurchase of common stc
Capital lease paymer
Net advance / (repayment of) from banking faesit

Financing activities of continuing operatic
Financing activities of discontinued operations

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing agtwi

Net decrease in cash and cash equiva

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashatnts held in foreign currenci

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of

Less: cash and cash equivalents at the end oftre-ydiscontinued operations

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the yeamntihuing operations

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior

Year Ended March 31,

2009 2010 2011
$in thousands  $inthousands $in thousands
(restated)

(7,582 (65€) (1,560)
3,73¢ 12¢ 12¢
2,282 1,79¢ 99

17z 164 20¢
(163) - (155)
- - (47)

= = (32

55¢ (10¢) 98
1,95¢ (365 (45)
(12 (59 -
(390) 12¢ 58
15E - -
1,807 (522) 651
1,60¢ 1,40¢ 44
(581) (582) (375)
(2,502) 73: (762)
(2,269 (470 127
(272) (79) 26t

- ) 17

31 5 -
(1,469 1,51¢ (1,279
(359) 1,97( 84
(1,817) 3,48¢ (1,190
- - 51¢

564 - 252
(72) (491 (1,397%)
(1,000) - .
- - (682)

- 1,05¢ -
(50¢) 56¢ (1,319

- 4 -
(50€) 572 (1,319
(1393 - -
(17¢) (130 (52)
85 (317) (69)
(226) (447) (120
29¢ (3,935 -
73 (4,387) (120
(2,257) (329 (2,622
767 (272) (79)
10,19¢ 8,71( 8,11«
8,71( 8,11¢ 5,41z
(667) (29) (5)
8,04: 8,08t 5,407




Cash paid during the year f
Interest paic 47¢
Income tax paid, net of refur 5

Non-cash investing and financing activitit
Interest Income 18C
(see note 1.
See notes to these consolidated financial statement
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Description of business and significant accountingolicies

Bonso Electronics International Inc. (“the Comgg and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Gréumare engaged in the designing, manufacturing
selling of a comprehensive line of electronic ssaed weighing instruments, telecommunication petsland other product

The consolidated financial statements have beguaped in United States dollars and in accordande génerally accepted accounting principles ir
United States of America. The preparation of cadstéd financial statements requires managememtatice estimates and assumptions that affe:
reported amounts of assets and liabilities andiatisce of contingent assets and liabilities atdaees of the consolidated financial statementsthe
reported amounts of revenues and expenses dumngeporting periods. Significant estimates maderniayagement include allowances made ac
inventories and trade receivables, and the valoatidonc-lived assets. Actual results could differ from thestimates

The Group sustained operating losses in fiscalsyeaded March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, includingtdoss of $1,560,000 in the fiscal year er
March 31, 2011.

Notwithstanding the operating losses sustainetiendst three fiscal years, the accompanying cateteld financial statements have been preparec
going concern basis. Management believes the Grallpave sufficient working capital to meet itsifincing requirements based upon their exper
and their assessment of the Group’s projected pedioce, credit facilities and banking relationships

On November 1 2008, the Company disposed ofhallshares of a wholly-owned indirect subsidiaryar® Precision Scales Inc. (“Gram’at
consideration of US$1. As a result, the figure§oim are included as discontinued operationsrsgz12) in the financial statemer

Pursuant to an agreement signed March 30, 200®na Haushaltswaren GmbH & Co. KG (“Koronad)y indirect subsidiary of the Company, ag!
to sell all of its major assets, comprising tra@eeivables, inventories, intellectual property tigland toolings, to a third party purchaser
consideration of approximately EUR 1,990,000 (0iDU%5606,000). The Group decided to liquidate Karafter the completion of the sale. As a re
the figures of Korona are included as discontinoerations (see note 1.

The significant accounting policies are as follows:

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include decounts of the Company and its subsidiaries &fieination of intereompany accounts a
transactions

Acquisitions of companies have been consolidatewh fihe date on which control of the net assetsopedations was transferred to the Grc
Acquisitions of companies are accounted for udireggurchase method of accounti
Cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents are ster, highly liquid investments with original maities of three months or less. Cash equivalergsstated at co:
which approximates fair value because of the -term maturity of these instrumen
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Description of business and significant accountingolicies (Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cosgetermined on a first-in, firsiut basis, or market. Costs of inventories inclpdechase and related cc
incurred in bringing the products to their presiecation and condition. Market value is determitdreference to the selling price after the bal
sheet date or to management estimates based aalipigwnarket conditions. The Company routinelyiegvs its inventories for their salability and
indications of obsolescence to determine if inventearrying values are higher than market valuem& of the significant factors the Comp
considers in estimating the market value of iteemeries include the likelihood of changes in mawked customer demand and expected chang
market prices for its inventories. As of March 2010 and 2011, inventories were stated at markkteyavhich is lower than their costs
approximately $nil and $98,000, respectivt

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recorded at the invoiced atmaet of allowances for doubtful accounts anésatturns. The allowance for doubtful accour
the Group’s best estimate of the amount of probabdelit losses in the Group'existing trade receivables. Bad debt expensacisded in th
administrative and general expenses.

The Group recognizes an allowance for doubtful ivetd#es to ensure accounts and other receivables raot overstated due

uncollectibility. Allowance for doubtful receivads is maintained for all customers based on a tyade factors, including the length of time -
receivables are past due, significant ¢éinge events and historical experience. An add#icallowance for individual accounts is recordedewtthe
Group becomes aware of customers’ or other debioadility to meet their financial obligations, suels bankruptcy filings or deterioration in
customer’s or other debtasrbperating results or financial position. If cintstances related to customers or debtors chantiyjaaéss of the recoverabili
of receivables will be further adjusted.

Deferred income taxes

Amounts in the consolidated financial statemenlated to income taxes are calculated using theciples of ASC 740 “Income TaxesASC 74(
requires recognition of deferred tax assets arllii@s for the expected future tax consequendesvents that have been included in the final
statements or tax returns. Under this method rdefeax assets and liabilities are determined dasethe temporary differences between the fina
reporting bases and tax bases of assets andtl@bilising enacted tax rates in effect for the yearhich the differences are expected to reveRgure
tax benefits, such as net operating loss carry doiig; are recognized as deferred tax assets. Rieedgdeferred tax assets are reduced by a vah
allowance if, based on the weight of available ewizk, it is more likely than not that some portiorall of the deferred tax assets will not be i
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Description of business and signifint accounting policies (Continued)

Brand name

Brand name acquired as part of the purchase ofiadss is capitalized based on the estimated dhilevas at the date of acquisition and amortizety
the straightine method over the related estimated usefuldffé5 years. Brand name is assessed for impairaeaurding to the policy described in r

10)-

Lease prepayments
Lease prepayments represent the cost of land giss iin the People’s Republic of China (“PRQ”nd use rights held by the Company are includ
intangible assets, reclassified from property, ptard equipment. The granted useful life of thrdlase rights are 50 years. They are stated agoc
amortized on a straighed-line basis over the pesfaifhts of 30 years, in accordance with the bess licenses with 30 years of useful life.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets represented taxi licemdech were stated at cost and are amortizedstramhtline basis over the related granted useful lif
50 years, the shorter of the remaining term oflidense period or the expected useful life to theup. Taxi licenses entitle the Group to operate
taxis for 50 years in Shenzhen, PRC. The purpod®ldfing these licenses is to generate additiamadme. All five taxi licenses were disposed ¢
July 2010, for a total consideration of $513,0@3uiting in a gain on disposal of $41,0
Taxi licenses were assessed for impairment acaptdithe policy described in note 1

Property, plant and equipment

0] Property, plant and equipment are statedoat less accumulated depreciation. Leaseholtl dadl buildings are depreciated on a straligiet-
basis over 15 to 50 years, representing the shofrtbie remaining term of the lease or the expeuatedul life to the Grouf

(i) Other categories of property, plant andiipment are carried at cost and depreciated usiagtraightine method over their expected us
lives to the Group. The principal annual rates Usedhis purpose art

Plant and machinel -10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipme -20%
Motor vehicles -20%

(i) The cost of major improvements and bettermentsypétalized, whereas the cost of maintenance arairsefs expensed in the year when
are incurred

(iv) Any gain or loss on disposal is included in thesmidated statements of operations and comprehefsse.
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Description of business and significant accountingolicies (Continued)
Impairment of long-lived assets inclding goodwill and other acquired intangible assets

Longdived assets held and used by the Group and iftengsssets, excluding goodwill, are reviewed fopaimment whenever events or change
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoursush assets may not be recoverable. The Groupatealvecoverability of assets to be held and
by comparing the carrying amount of an asset taréuhet undiscounted cash flows to be generatethdasset. If such assets are considered
impaired, the impairment loss is measured by thewsnrinby which the carrying amount of the assetgeds the fair value of the assets calculated w
discounted future cash flows analysis. Provisiomss ifnpairment made on other lofiged assets are disclosed in the consolidatecerserits ¢
operations and comprehensive loss. Based on Hessment of the land and buildings of the factorglienzhen, PRC, no provision was made b
Group as an impairment (2010: $nil; 2009: $nil).

Gooduwill is subject to an annual impairment revielihe evaluation of goodwill for impairment involvéwo steps: (1) the identification of poter
impairment by comparing the fair value of a repagtunit with its carrying amount, including goodwéind (2) the measurement of the amour
goodwill loss by comparing the implied fair valuktbe reporting unit goodwill with the carrying aomt of that goodwill and recognizing a loss by
excess of the latter over the former. The Compaegsures fair value based upon a discounted fotaste flows analysis. Based on the assessme
the year ended March 31, 2011, no provision wasengdhe Group as an impairment of goodwill (208:@1; 2009: $nil).

Capital and operating leases

Costs in respect of operating leases are chargaidsigncome on a straighite basis over the lease term. Leasing agreememish transfer to tt
Group substantially all the benefits and risks whership of an asset, are treated as if the asskbéen purchased outright. The assets are irttia
property, plant and equipment (“capital leasesi) the capital element of the lease commitmenshdsvn as an obligation under capital leases.
lease rentals are treated as consisting of capithlinterest elements. The capital element isiegpd reduce the outstanding obligation and ther@s
element is charged against profit so as to giversistent periodic rate of charge on the remaimialgnce outstanding at the end of each accot
period. Assets held under capital leases are diepedoover the useful lives of the equivalent owasskets.

Revenue recognitior

No revenue is recognized unless there is persuasidence of an arrangement, the price to the bisyexed or determinable, delivery has occurred
collectibility of the sales price is reasonablyuassl. Revenue is recognized when title and ridkss are transferred to customers, which is gelyettad
point at which products are shipped to the custdnoen the Company’s facilities. Shipping costddallto the Compang’ customers are included wit
revenue. Associated costs are classified as padstfof sales.

The Company provides to certain customers an aaditione to two percent of the quantity of cergaioducts ordered in lieu of a warranty, which
recognized as cost of sales when these productshépped to customers from the Companfecilities. In addition, certain products sold the
Company are subject to a limited product qualityrrasaty. The Company accrues for estimated incueidunidentified quality issues based u
historical activity and known quality issues if@s$ is probable and can be reasonably estimatee.stBndard limited warranty period is one to t
years. Quality returns, refunds, rebates and disiscare recorded net of sales at the time ofaadeestimated based on past history. All salebase:
upon firm orders with fixed terms and conditionshielhh generally cannot be modified. HistoricalljpetCompany has not experienced mat
differences between its estimated amounts of quaditurns, refunds, rebates and discounts and dh&laresults. In all contracts, there is no f
protection or similar privilege in relation to teale of goods.
F-10
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Description of business and significant accountingolicies (Continued)
Research and development costs

Research and development costs include salariéiesitand contractor fees that are directly btitable to the conduct of research and develor
progress primarily related to the development af mesign of products. Research and developmens epstexpensed in the financial period in w
they are incurred.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred anéhaheded within selling expenses. Advertising cosere approximately $54,000, $1,000 and $2
for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 2010201d., respectively

Income taxes

On April 1, 2007, the Company adopted Financial Agtting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation M8, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Incon
Taxes — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No.”10@w codified as part of ASC 740 (Note 9). ASC tiifies the accounting for uncertainty
income taxes recognized in financial statementspredcribes a recognition threshold and measureatgitiutes for the financial statement recogn
and measurement of a tax position taken or expeoted taken in a tax return. ASC 740 also provglédance on derecognition, classification, intt
and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disate and transition. The Compasgccounting policy is to treat interest and pégslas componer
of income taxes.

Foreign currency translations

@) The Groups functional currency is the United States dolldre financial statements of foreign subsidiariegmgtthe United States dollar is
functional currency and which have transactionsod@nated in noridnited States dollar currencies are translated lihided States dollars
the exchange rates existing on that date. Thelatzs of local currencies into United States dallareates transaction adjustments whicl
included in net loss. Exchange differences arertel in the statements of operations and compséretoss

(i) The financial statements of foreign sulisitts, where notJnited States dollar currencies are the functianatencies, are translated i
United States dollars using exchange rates in effeperiod end for assets and liabilities and agerexchange rates during each repc
period for statement of operations. Adjustmentsiltegy from translation of these financial statetseare reflected as a separate compone
shareholder equity in accumulated other comprehensive incc
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

1 Description of business and significant accountingolicies (Continued)
() Stock options and warrants

Stock options have been granted to employees,tdiceand noremployee directors. Upon exercise of the optionbplaler can acquire shares
common stock of the Company at an exercise priterishned by the board of directors. The optionsexercisable based on the vesting terms stipt
in the option agreements or plan.

n Recent accounting pronouncements

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-06, “Nailue Measurements and Disclosures (Topic 820jproving Disclosures about Fair Va
Measurements” (“ASU 2010-06"). ASU 201® requires reporting entities to provide inforroatabout movements of assets among Levels 1 aff
the threetier fair value hierarchy established by ASC 82fe Guidance is effective for any fiscal year thegibs after December 15, 2010 and shou
used for quarterly and annual filings. The Compdogs not believe that adoption of ASU 20¥will have a significant impact on our finan:
position, results of operations or cash flows.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-O&air Value Measurement (Topic 820): Amendments ¢hidve Common Fair Value Measurement
Disclosure Requirements in U.S. GAAP and IFRSs"StA2011-04"). This update amends ASC Topic 820jr“Walue Measurement and Disclosure.”
ASU 201104 clarifies the application of certain existingr faalue measurement guidance and expands theodisels for fair value measurements
are estimated using significant unobservable (L&)ehputs. ASU 201D4 is effective for annual and interim reportingipds beginning on or aft
December 15, 2011, which means that it will be @ffe for the Company' fiscal quarter beginning January 1, 2012. The geidance is to be adop
prospectively and early adoption is not permitfede Company does not believe that adoption of ABW1D4 will have a significant impact on
financial position, results of operations or cashs.

On June 16, 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 201T®@&mprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentatio@a@fprehensive Income” (“ASU 2011-05"
This update amends ASC Topic 220, “Comprehensigerntre”to provide that total comprehensive income willrbported in one continuous staten
or two separate but consecutive statements of dinhperformance. Presentation of total comprehensicome in the statement of stockholders' e
or the footnotes will no longer be allowed. Thecaédtion of net income and basic and diluted nepine per share will not be affected. ASU 2@DE-
is effective for fiscal years, and interim periadishin those years, beginning on or after Decemlier2011, which means that it will be effective foe
Companys fiscal year beginning July 1, 2012. Retrospectigleption is required and early adoption is peedittThe Company does not believe
adoption of ASU 2011-05 will have a significant iagb on its financial position, results of operasi@r cash flows.

F-12




Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

2 Allowance for doubtful accounts

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accountsf&ddawch 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 compr

2009 2010 2011
$ in thousands $ in thousands $ in thousands
Balance, April 1 634 2,59¢ 1,46(
Write-off - (768) -
Charge / (write back) for the year 1,95¢ (365) (45)
Balance, March 31 2,592 1,46( 1,41¢t

Most of the Companyg trade receivables are generally unsecured, ekmephe customer with receivables covered by tiedurance under a factori
agreement.

In fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, the Companpgeized an allowance of approximately $1,959,af/0dbubtful accounts. When the Comp
disposed of its Canadian subsidiary, Gram, on Ndeari, 2008, Gram issued a promissory note to tragany to repay $1,700,000, the amount d
the Company prior to the disposal, by installmer@8ice Gram had operating losses during the figeats ended March 31, 2009 and 2008
recoverability of the full amount of $1,700,000 wamubtful. As a result, the Company establishedliowance of $1,700,000, which was include
allowance for doubtful accounts of approximatelydD,000. The remaining provision of approximate®$9,000 was relating to trade receivables
third party companies which the Company believedeimonrecoverable. During the year ended March 31, 20 0Company wrote off approximat
$768,000 for the non recoverable trade receivafitas third party companies. As of March 31, 20iie Company had collected $45,000 f
Gram. The Company believed that the recoverahilitthe remaining $1,415,000 was doubtful, and iooetd to include this amount in allowance
doubtful accounts as of March 31, 2011.

3 Inventories

The components of inventories as of March 31, 201®2011 are as follow

2010 2011
$ in thousands $ in thousands
Raw material 1,90¢ 1,57¢
Work in progres: 1,85( 1,75(C
Finished goods 1,23¢ 1,52¢
4,99( 4,84¢

During the years ended March 31, 2009 and 201lgdhapon material composition and expected usageCtimpany established an allowance
obsolete inventories of approximately $559,000 $88,000, respectively, which were charged to thresolidated statements of operations under ct
sales. During the year ended March 31, 2010Ctrapany wrote back approximately $108,000 of thenalnce for obsolete inventories.
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)
Held-to-maturity Investments

Held-to-maturity investments represent an investment iriaf@ company principally engaged in the biochémisdustry in the United States
America. The purpose of holding the investment teagenerate additional income.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, thenfiany invested in a ongear $1,000,000 bond through one of its banks. iffhestment matured
July 2009 for approximately $1,059,000.

Property, plant and equipment, net

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 28i@ 2011, depreciation expenses charged to thelxeted statements of operations amountt
approximately $2,282,000, $1,794,000 and $99,088pectively. As at March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2@1lly, depreciated assets that were still in us
the Group amounted to $5,015,000, $30,427,000 aad22,000, respectively, when they were bought.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2009, theu@rsold one of its properties located in Hong Kuuitth a net book value of $401,000 to a third p
at a consideration of $564,000 and made a gairi@8.$00.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, theuprdisposed of two apartment units located in hen with a combined net book value of $97
to a third party at a consideration of $252,000 mwadie a gain of $155,000.

Property, plant and equipment were assessed faifmpnt according to the policy described in n§§ IThe Company concluded that no impairn
to property, plant and equipment was requiredHerfiscal year ended March 31, 2011.
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Interests in subsidiaries

Particulars of principal subsidiaries as of Mardh 3010 and 2011 are as follows:

Bonso Electronics International Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Particulars of

Place of issued capital/
incorporation and kind of  registered Percentage of capita
Name of company legal entity capital held by the Company Principal activities
2010 2011
Bonso Electronics Limited * Hong Kong, HK5,000,00( Trading of scales and
(“BEL™) limited liability company (US$641,02¢€ 100% 100% telecommunication produc
Bonso Investment Limited
(“BIL”™) Hong Kong, HK3,000,00(
limited liability company (US$384,61¢ 100% 100% Investment holding
Bonso Electronics (Shenzhen) US$12,621,22
Co. Limited (“BESCL") PRC, Production of scales and
limited liability company 100% 100% telecommunication produc
Bonso Advanced Technology
Limited* Hong Kong, HK1,000,0(
(“BATL") limited liability company (US$128,20¢ 100% 100% Investment holding
Bonso Advanced Technology
(Xinxing) Limited PRC,
(“BATXXL") limited liability company US$4,933,90 100% 100% Investment holding
Modus Enterprise Internationa
Inc. * British Virgin Island, HK7,80C
(“MEII™) limited liability company (US$1,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Korona Haushaltswaren Gmbl  Germany, EUR511,29:
& Co. KG (“Korone”) limited liability partnership  (US$795,48¢ 100% 100% Trading of scale
Bonso USA, Inc. (“Bonso USA, limited liability
USA") company US$ 1,001 100% 100% Trading of scale

* Shares directly held by the Compa
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)
Brand name and other intangible asset

Brand name and other intangible assets are anahsémlows:

Brand name Other intangible assets
March 31, March 31,

2010 2011 2010 2011
$inthousands $inthousands $inthousands $ inthousands
Cost 3,00( 3,00( 5,39( 6,27
Less: accumulated amortizati (1,409 (1,409 (1,53%) (1,779
Less: accumulated impairme (1,597) (1,597) - -
Less: disposal - - - (472)
- - 3,85¢ 4,031

As of March 31, 2008, management noted declingbarcurrent and projected operating results antd flaws of Korona. Together with certain ot
indicators, such as a drop in selling prices ofdfar branded products, management was of the viatthke carrying value of the Korona brand n
might not be recoverable and therefore performeingairment review on the brand name. Managemealtiated the recoverability of the brand ni
in accordance with the requirements under ASC 3% ASC 360-10-20, “Accounting for the Impairment ladng-lived Assets.”Based upon tt
analysis, management determined that the brand maioe of $1,597,000 should be fully impaired asvirch 31, 2008. Amortization expense
relation to brand name was $nil, $nil and $niltlee years ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 201lectsgely.

The components of other intangible assets arellasvi

March 31,
2010 2011
$ in thousands $ in thousands

Land use right of factory land in Shenzhen, Guangd®RC (to be expired in June

2024) 1,69¢ 1,647

Land use right of factory land in Xinxing, Guangdo®RC (to be expired in June
2037) 1,68: 2,38¢
Taxi licenses in Shenzhen, Guangdong, PRC 47E -
3,85¢ 4,031

All five taxi licenses were disposed of in July PQfor a total consideration of approximately $®08), resulting in a gain on disposal of approxiry
$41,000. Amortization expense in relation to otimangible assets was approximately $172,000, D84and $208,000 for each of the fiscal y
ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.

As of March 31, 2011, future minimum amortizatiogpenses in respect of other intangible assetssaf@laws:

$ in thousands

2012 20&
2013 20E
2014 20&
2015 20t
2016 20&
Thereafter 3,00€
Total 4,031
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)
8 Banking facilities

As of March 31, 2011, the Group had general manfacilities for bank overdrafts, letters of citediotes payable, factoring, short-term loans lmg-
term loans. The facilities are interchangeabldwatal amounts available of $8,554,000 (2010: €83,000). The general banking facilities utilizzy
the Group are denominated in United States dalladsHong Kong dollare
The Group’s general banking facilities, expresseUnited States dollars, are further detailedbiews:

Terms of banking

Amount available Amount utilized Amount unutilizec facilities as of
March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 201:
2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 Interest Repaymen
$ in thousand $ in thousand $ in thousand rate terms
Import and
export facilities
Combined limit 8,71¢ 6,15¢ 2,16¢ 1,33: 6,55¢ 4,821
Including sub-
limit of:
Repayable i
full within
Notes payabl 7,052 4,487 2,09t 1,33: 4,957 3,15¢ HIBOR*+2.5% 120 day
Prime rat Repayable ¢
Bank overdraft: 1,02t 641 69 - 95¢€ 641 + 1% demani

Other facilities

Factoring 4,96¢ 2,40 - - 4,96¢ 2,400 HIBOR* +1.5%

13,68: 8,55¢ 2,16¢ 1,33¢ 11,51¢ 7,221

* HIBOR is the Hong Kong Interbank Offer Rate
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)
Banking facilities (Continued)
The United States Dollar equivalent amounts of bamkacilities utilized by the Group are denomirthie the following currencies

Amount utilized

March 31,
2010 2011
$in $in
thousands thousands
Hong Kong dollars 2,16/ 1,332

The Prime Rate and HIBOR were 5.00% and 0.33% peura, respectively, as of March 31, 2011. The ErRate is determined by the Hong K
Bankers Association and is subject to revision ftome to time. Interest rates are subject to ckahthe Company defaults on the amount due urtd
facility or draws in excess of the facility amounts at the discretion of the banks.

Average amount of bank borrowings were $2,006,0@D%1,653,000 for the fiscal years ended 2010 &id 2respectively.

The weighted average interest rates of short-temolvings of the Group are as follows:

As of March 31,
2010 2011

Bank overdraft: 5.7% 6.0(%
Notes payabli 3.02% 2.8(%
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Income tax

The companies comprising the Group are subjec&xcoh an entity basis on income arising in or datifrom Hong Kong, Germany, the PRC,
United States of America (“USA’and Canada. The tax rate of the subsidiaries tpgrsm Hong Kong was 16.5% for the year ended Ma&t, 201
(2009: 16.5%, 2008: 17.5%). The subsidiary of@reup in Germany was registered as a partnershigeimany, which was subject to a statutory
rate of 14.17% during each of the three years éngriod ended March 31, 2010. The Group is nbjestito income taxes in the British Vir
Islands. The statutory tax rates in Canada antl 8% were 36% and 34%, respectively, for the tlyesrs ended March 31, 20:

Hong Kong Tax

BEL, BATL and BIL are subject to the Hong Kong pteftax rate of 16.5% (2010 and 2009: 16.5%). Managnt of BEL has determined that
income and expenses are offshore and not subjétog Kong profits tax. As a result, BEL did notim any Hong Kong profits tax during the ye
presented. BATL did not have any assessable pffofithe year. Therefore, no provision for taxatfeas been made.

PRC Tax

BESCL is registered and operates in Shenzhen,Ri@ Bnd is subject to a tax rate of 24%, 22% ar¥d & the years ended December 31, 2011,
and 2009, respectively. BATXXL is registered innXing, Guangdong, PRC, and was entitled to an ekemfrom PRC income tax for the two -
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2009 and itedrttita 50% reduction in PRC income tax for threghyears ended December 31, 2010, 201
2012.

On March 16, 2007, the PRC Enterprise Incorag Taw (the “EIT Law")was enacted by the PRC government. The EIT Lafectfe January

2008, imposes a uniform tax rate of 25% for botmestic and foreiginvested enterprises and revokes the then curagngétemption, reduction a
preferential treatments applicable to foreign-inedsenterprises. However, there is a transitionogefor enterprises, whether foreigmvested ¢
domestic, that were receiving preferential tax ttremts granted by relevant tax authorities at thee tthe EIT Law became effective. Under
grandfathering rules of the EIT Law, enterprisest tre subject to an enterprise income tax (“EF&te lower than 25% will continue to enjoy lo\
rates with gradual transition to the new tax redt@%% in five years from the effective date of thRH Law. Enterprises that are currently entitle
exemptions or reductions from the standard incaaredte for a fixed term may continue to enjoy strehtment until the fixed term expire

During the period from January 1, 2008 to March 2010, the Companyg’subsidiaries operating in the PRC were subjeth¢oEIT Law and i
standard tax rate of 25%, but the PRC subsidianiesentitled to the grandfathering incentives. thertax years ended December 31, 2007, 200
2009, BECSL, the Comparg/PRC subsidiary, was subject to a tax rate of 1% and 20%, respectively. BESCL is subject orédes of 22% ar
24% for the tax years ended December 31, 2010 amd, Zespectively, and a uniform tax rate of 25%tle tax year ending December 31, 2012
thereafter. BATXXL was entitled to an exemptioarfr PRC income tax for the two tax years ended Dbeerdl, 2008 and 2009. BATXXL is subj
to a tax rate of 12.5% for the tax years ended Bee 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, and will be subfeattax rate of 25% thereafter.
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9 Income tax (Continued)
(c) Income is subject to taxation in the various caestin which the Company and its subsidiaries dper@he loss before income taxes by geograr
location is analyzed as follow
2009 2010 2011
$inthousands  $inthousands  $ in thousands

Hong Kong (1,666 61¢ 2,451

PRC 444 (1,289 (3,876

Others (2,419 147 (6)

Total (3,647 (529%) (1,437)

Others mainly include the (loss) / profit from B&ihd the United State

(d)
2009 2010 2011
$inthousands  $inthousands  $ inthousands
Deferred income ta (205) 5) -
Current income tax expense (3) (4) -
Total income tax expense (20€) (9) -

The components of the income tax expense by gebgalpocation are as follow:

2009 2010 2011
$inthousands  $inthousands  $ in thousands
Hong Kong (205) 9) -
PRC 6) - ;
Others - - -
Total (20€) (9) -

At the end of the accounting period, the incomélihilities are as follows

2010 2011
$ in thousands $ in thousands
Non-current 2,59¢ 2,59
Current 7 24
Total 2,60z 2,61¢
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9 Income tax (Continued)

(€)

Deferred income tax asse
Deferred income tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets comprise the following:

Tax loss carry forward
Others
Less: Valuation allowance

Less: current portion
Non-current portion

As of March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, the Groupdwimulated tax losses amounting to $7,052,000%,866 and $2,206,000 (the tax ef
thereon is $1,759,000, $122,000 and $485,000)entisply, subject to the final agreement by theveht tax authorities, which may be car
forward and applied to reduce future taxable incevheh is earned in or derived from Hong Kong atfteo countries. Realization of defer
tax assets associated with tax loss carry forwardiependent upon generating sufficient taxablerime prior to their expiration. A valuati
allowance is established against such tax losses wianagement believes it is more likely than hat & portion may not be utilized. As

Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

2009 2010

2011

$inthousands  $inthousands

(19 19

$ in thousands

(19

14 (19

19

2009 2010

2011

$ in thousands $ in thousands

1,75¢ 12z

(1,759 (122

$ in thousands

48t

(48%)

March 31, 2011, the Gro’s accumulated tax losses of $556,000 will expir2dh3, and $1,650,000 will expire in 20:

() Changes in valuation allowance are as follc

Balance, April 1

Charged / (credited) to income tax expense

Balance, March 31

2009 2010 2011
$inthousands  $inthousands  $ in thousands
2,997 1,75¢ 122
(1,239) (1,637) 362
1,75¢ 122 48E
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9 Income tax (Continued)

(9) The actual income tax expense attributable to egsnfor the fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 201D2011 differed from the amounts compute
applying the Hong Kong statutory tax rate in aceoe with the relevant income tax law as a regutiefollowing:

2009 2010 2011
$inthousands $inthousands $ in thousands
Loss before income tax (3,64)) (529) (1,43))
Income tax benefit on pretax income at statutory 60C 86 23€
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiary
operating in other jurisdictior 33¢ 67 21F
Profit not subject to income t: - 5,06¢ 4,657
Expenses not deductible for income tax purpt (2,385) (5,019 (5,11¢)
Tax effect of future temporary differenc - 5) -
Decrease / (increase) in valuation allowa 1,23¢ 1,637 (3639)
(Provision made) / reversal of provision as a ftesiulevelopment of :
rules - 4) 7
(Utilization of tax losses not previously recogri}é tax losses not ye
recognized - (1,837 364
Total income tax benefit / (expense) (20¢€) (9) -

The statutory rate of 16.5% used above is that @igHKong, where the Compasymain business is located. The 2009 and 201G yemare bee
changed to that rate from 34% to conform to thiarigepresentation.

(h) Effective April 1, 2007, the Company adopted AS®.74As a result of the adoption of ASC 740, the @any recognized a $1,170,000 increase il
liability for unrecognized tax benefits and peredtiof $994,000, which were accounted for as a temuco the April 1, 2007 balance of retail
earnings. The Company assessed the tax positiimgdihe fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 and eated that the same tax liability was to be ca
forward. Included in the total tax liabilities 2,619,000 (2010: $2,602,000, 2009: $2,602,00@),uticertain tax liabilities in respect of this tbe
years ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 ardlew$o

2009 2010 2011
$inthousands $inthousands $in thousands

Balance, April 1 2,16¢ 2,16¢ 2,16¢
Increase in uncertain tax liabilities - - -

Balance, March 31 2,16¢ 2,16¢ 2,16¢

The Companys accounting policy is to treat interest and péslas components of income taxes. As of Marct2811, the Company had accr
penalties related to uncertain tax positions of. $ni
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(Expressed in United States Dollars)
Taxation (Continued)
The Company files income tax returns in Hong Kaheg, PRC and various foreign tax jurisdictions. Eharre two subsidiaries which operate within «
of the Companys major jurisdictions, resulting in a range of opax years. The open tax years for the Companyitarggnificant subsidiaries ran
between the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 aedishal year ended March 31, 2010. The provisimasle as a result of these open tax case
subject to a final agreement by the relevant takaities.
Leases
Capital lease

As of March 31, 2011, the Group did not have anyr minimum payments under capital leases withiainterms of more than one year (2C
$52,000).

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 282011, the Group entered into additional cafgtae obligations amounting to $nil, $nil and ;
respectively

Plant and machinery include the following amoutsdapitalized lease

March 31,
2010 2011
$ in thousands $ in thousands
Cost 374 -
Less: accumulated depreciation (80) -
294 -

Operating lease

As of March 31, 2011, future minimum lease pagtaen respect of nonancellable operating leases for factory, officenpises and staff quarters
Hong Kong, the PRC and the United States are &sifsl

$ in thousands

2011 141

Rental expense for all operating leases amountagpooximately $358,000, $397,000 and $191,00@heffiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 201(
2011, respectively
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Commitments

Capital expenditures contracted at the balancet slage but not yet provided for is as follov

March 31,
2010 2011
$ in thousands $ in thousands
Land use righ - -
Construction in Xinxing, Guangdong, PRC 1,63° 54¢
1,63 54¢

In December 2009, the Company entered into a odoireagreement to construct a factory building be tand in Xinxing, the PRC for to
consideration of $2,038,000. $1,556,000 had beed and the remaining balance of $482,000 is tgp&id by installment in accordance with
progress of the construction. This constructioexpected to be completed by December 2012. Timainéng capital commitment of $66,000 is
other construction and leasehold improvement cotstra

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, then@any entered into other contractor agreementsafiproximately $73,000 for leaseh
improvements.

Discontinued Operations
On November 1, 2008, the Company disposed of tiseeinterests in Gram to a third party for $1. gtpulated in the agreement, the Company agre
forfeit an amount receivable from Gram of approxieha$5,000,000, except for $1,700,000, of whichnthty payments of $10,000 were to be pai
the Company in the six months from December 200814y 2009 and monthly payments of $20,000 wereeighid from June 2009 until the 1
amount of $1,700,000 was repaid.

On March 31, 2009, the CompasyGerman subsidiary, Korona, sold its assets (adsgaceivable, inventories, toolings and intelletproperty rights
to a third party. Korona had no operations sinpelA, 2009 and is now in the liquidation process.

The following table summarizes the result of théiseontinued operations, net of income taxes.

Discontinued Operations (Korona and Gram)

2009 2010 2011
$in $in $in
thousands thousands thousands
(restated
Sales 10,72: - -
Cost of Sales (11,21¢) (70) -
(49€) (70C) -
Selling expense (1,149 (15) -
Salaries and related co: (1,48)) (127) -
Administrative expenses (1,489 (16€) (12)
Operating los: (4,619 (382) (129
Interest incom 53 - -
Other income 66¢ 28¢ -
Gain on disposal of proper - (28) -
Interest expense (247) - -
Foreign exchange ga 44 - -
Income tax expenst (8) - -
Gain from disposal of a subsidiary - Gram 363 - -
Net loss (3,735 (12€) (129)

The March 31, 2009 statement of operations andrsett of cash flows have been restated to refiectdilowing reclassifications:

According to FASB ASC 205-20-45-3in“a period in which a component of an entity aithas been disposed of or is classified as helddd®, th
income statement of a business entity or statemieattivities of a not-foprofit entity (NFP) for current and prior periodsadl report the results
operations of the component, including any gairloss recognized in accordance with paragraphs 8685140 and 360-10-48; in discontinue
operations.” As a result, the Company has revieecconsolidated statement of operations and cdmepgive income (“statement of operationaiic
statement of cash flows by reclassifying the gaimf disposal of a subsidiary of approximately $868, from continuing operations to discontin
operations.
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Discontinued Operations (Continued)

According to FASB ASC 810-10-45-1a$ consolidated financial statements are basetieoagsumption that they represent the financiatipnsanc
operating results of a single economic entity, satdtements shall not include gain or loss on #&etiens among the entities in the consolid
group.” Therefore, the Company has revised the statemeoperfations and statement of cash flows by remothegwaiver of loan to subsidiaries
approximately $3,691,000 and the waiver of loanstibsidiaries held for sale of $2,181,000 from curitig operations and reclassified then
discontinued operations. Also, the loan forgivenesm continuing operations of $3,691,000 was negdoand other income was reduced by $2,18:
from $2,849,000 to $668,000.

The above changes to the statement of operatitatengent of cash flows and this Note 12 did notehany effect on the net sales, gross profit, ret
comprehensive loss and earnings per share foigba fyear ended March 31, 2009. The changestaffeanly the loss from continuing operations
loss from discontinuing operations in the statenoémiperations and statement of cash flows.

The carrying values of the assets and liabilitiethe disposal group classified as held for salatadarch 31, 2010 and 2011 were as follows:

March 31, 2010 March 31, 2011

Assets: $ in thousands $ in thousands

Cash and bank balanc 29 5
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 171 -
Current and total assets of discontinued operations 20C 5
Liabilities:

Rent payable 71E 68<
Accrued charges and deposits 38z 403
Liabilities of discontinued operations 1,09¢ 1,08¢

Stockholders’ equity
Repurchase of common sta

In August of 2001, the Company's Board of Directauthorized a program for the Company to repurchigsto $500,000 of its common stock. 1
repurchase program does not obligate the Compaagdoire any specific number of shares or acqiages over any specified period of time. No s
had been repurchased when, on November 16, 208&dmpany's Board of Directors authorized anotied®,000 for the Company to repurchas
common stock under the same repurchase program atittiorization to repurchase shares increasesnbent authorized for repurchase from $500
to $1,500,000. The Board of Directors believed tha common stock was undervalued and that thercbpse of common stock would be benefici
the Company's shareholders. During the fiscal gaded March 31, 2009, 70,019 ($134,000) shares prerhased under this program. No shares
repurchased during the two fiscal years ended MaicH2010 and 2011. The Company may from timente repurchase shares of its common ¢
under this program.
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Stockholders’ equity (Continued)
Preferred stoc

The Company has authorized share capital of $100{®010,000,000 shares of preferred stock, withyzdue of $0.01 each, divided into 2,500,
shares each of class A preferred stock, class Brmpee stock, class C preferred stock and classelfeped stock. Shares may be issued within eah
from time to time by the Comparg/Board of Directors in its sole discretion withdké approval of the shareholders, with such degigns, powe
preferences, rights, qualifications, limitation arestrictions as the Board of Directors shall fimdaas have not been fixed in the Company’
Memorandum of Association. The Company has noegsuny shares of preferred stock as of March 311 2

Dividends
No dividends were declared by the Company for edithe fiscal years ended March 31, 2009, 2010281d, respectively.
Stock option and bonus plan

On September 7, 2004, the Company’s stockhokldopted the 2004 Stock Bonus Plan (the “StoakuBdPlan”)which authorizes the issuance of u
five hundred thousand (500,000) shares of the Cag’s common stock in the form of stock bon

The purpose of this Stock Bonus Plan is to (i) oedlbey employees to remain in the employment ofdbmpany or of any subsidiary of the Comp:i
(i) encourage such employees to secure or incri@siestock ownership in the Company; and (iilvaed employees, noemployee directors, advist
and consultants for services rendered or to beereddto or for the benefit of the Company or anytefubsidiaries. The Company believes tha
Stock Bonus Plan will promote continuity of managetand increase incentive and personal interabeinvelfare of the Company.

The Stock Bonus Plan shall be administered by antittee appointed by the Board of Directors whicingists of at least two but not more than t
members of the Board, one of whom shall be aemployee of the Company. The existing Committeenbers are Mr. Anthony So and Mr. Woo F
Fok. The Committee has the authority, in its stieretion: (i) to determine the parties to recddemus stock, the times when they shall receivé
awards, the number of shares to be issued anihtketerms and conditions of the issuance of ao} shares; (i) to construe and interpret the tew
the Stock Bonus Plan; (iii) to establish, amemdl rescind rules and regulations for the adstration of the Stock Bonus Plan; and (iv) to mak
other determinations necessary or advisable foirddtaring the Stock Bonus Plan.
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Stock option and bonus plans (Continued

On March 23, 2004, the Company’s stockholdeoptetl the 2004 Stock Option Plan (the “2004 Plavtiich provides for the grant of up to six hunc
thousand (600,000) shares of the Com['s common stock in the form of stock options, sutfecertain adjustments as described in the |

The purpose of the 2004 Plan is to secure key gmaplbto remain in the employment of the Companytarghcourage such employees to secu
increase on reasonable terms their common stoclemsip in the Company. The Company believes that2004 Plan promotes continuity
management and increased incentive and persopat&ttin the welfare of the Company.

The 2004 Plan is administered by a committee apediby the Board of Directors which consists ofeast two but not more than three members ¢
Board, one of whom shall be a nemployee of the Company. The current committee begmare Mr. Anthony So and Mr. Woo Ping Fok.

committee determines the specific terms of theomgtigranted, including the employees to be grantgibns under the plan, the number of sk
subject to each option grant, the exercise priceagh option and the option period, subject tordrgiirement that no option may be exercisable

than 10 years after the date of grant. The exempigce of an option may be less than the fair etaxalue of the underlying shares of Comi
Stock. No options granted under the plan will taasferable by the optionee other than by willter laws of descent and distribution, and each o
will be exercisable during the lifetime of the @ptée only by the optionee.

The exercise price of an option granted pursuathéa2004 Plan may be paid in cash, by the surresfdeptions, in common stock, in other prope
including a promissory note from the optionee, yatctombination of the above, at the discretiothefCommittee.

In October 1996, the Company’s Board of Directgpraved the 1996 Stock Option Plan and 1996 Noni&yee Directors'Stock Option Plan. Und
the 1996 Stock Option Plan, the Company may grptibes of common stock to certain employees andcttirs of the Company for a maximurr
900,000 shares. The 1996 Stock Option Plan isridtaered by a committee appointed by the Boardicddiors which determines the terms of opt
granted, including the exercise price, the optieniquls and the number of shares to be subjectdb eption. The exercise price of options gra
under the 1996 Stock Option Plan may be less tharfair market value of the common shares on the diagrant. The maximum term of optic
granted under the 1996 Stock Option Plan is 10sye@he right to acquire the common shares is s&igaable except for certain conditions stipulat
the 1996 Stock Option Plan.

Under the 1996 Non-Employee Directors’ Stocki@pPlan, the nommployee directors were automatically granted stiations on the third busine
day following the day of each annual general megetihthe Company to purchase shares of common .stddle maximum number of authorized sh
under the 1996 Non-Employee Director's Stock Optilan was 600,000. The exercise price of all ogtigranted under the 1996 N&mployet
Directors’ Stock Option Plan shall be one hundred percen@fair market value per share of the common shamethe date of grant. The maxim
term of options granted under the 1996 Non-Empldyiectors’ Stock Option Plan is 10 years. No stock option fbeyexercised during the first
months of its term except for certain conditionsyided in the 1996 Non-Employee Directo&tock Option Plan. The right to acquire the com
shares is not assignable except for under certaiditions stipulated in the 1996 N-Employee Director Stock Option Plar

In April 2003, the Company issued options tdaiardirectors and noamployee directors of the Company to purchase greggte of 372,500 shares
common stock of the Company at an exercise pric81061. The options shall expire on March 31, 2@b8 can be exercised at any time
granting. The exercise prices of these option®evegual to the fair market value at the time ohgraNo such options have been exercised durin
years ended March 31, 2009 2010 and 2

In March 2004, the Company issued options téagemnonemployee directors of the Company to purchase greggte of 40,000 shares of comr
stock of the Company at an exercise price of $6T#% options shall expire on March 25, 2014 and lo& exercised at any time after granting.
exercise prices of these options were equal tdaimemarket value at the time of grant. No sucliays have been exercised during the years ¢
March 31, 2009, 2010 and 20:
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Stock option and bonus plans (Continued
(Continued)

In September 2004, the Company issued optionsrtainenonemployee directors of the Company to purchase greggte of 40,000 shares of comr
stock of the Company at an exercise price of $6Tte options shall expire on September 12, 20H4can be exercised at any time after granting.
exercise prices of these options were equal tdainenarket value at the time of grant. No sucti@pwas exercised during the years ended Marc
2009, 2010 and 2011.

In December 2005, the Company issued options taioemonemployee directors of the Company to purchase greggte of 30,000 shares of comr
stock of the Company at an exercise price of $4TB@. options shall expire on December 4, 2015 amdbe exercised at any time after granting.
exercise prices of these options were equal téaihenarket value at the time of grant. No suchiam had been exercised during the years endedh
31, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

On November 16, 2006, the Board of Directors of @menpany voted to rescind the Company’s 1996 NomplEypee DirectorsStock Option Plan (tt
“Non-Employee Directors’ Plan”). All options prewisly granted under the Non-Employee Directétsin continue in full force and effect pursuar
their terms of grant.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, noeshar share options were granted under the 1988 iption Plan.

The stock options summary as of M&@th2011 is as follows:

Weighted
average
Number exercise
of options price
Balance, March 31, 20(C 1,104,500 $ 4.15
Retired (248,000 $ 8.01
Balance, March 31, 201 856,50( $ 3.01
Retired (30,000 $ 7.8
Balance, March 31, 2011 826,50( $ 2.8¢
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14 Stock option and bonus plans (Continued
(c) The following table summarizes information abolisédck options of the Company outstanding as athal, 2011
Weighted
Number average Exercisable
eighted averag! outstanding at remaining life shares at
exercise price March 31, 2011 (years) March 31, 2011
$1.61 342,50( 2.0 342,50(
$2.50 168,00( 1.0 168,00(
$2.55 10,00( 0.6 10,00(
$3.65 196,00( 0.1 196,00(
$4.50 30,00( 4.8 30,00(
$6.12 40,00( 3.0 40,00(
$6.20 40,00( 3.5 40,00(
$2.83 826,50( 1.5 826,50(

The intrinsic value of options outstanding and eisatble was $nil, $nil and $nil on March 31, 202010 and 2011, respectively. The intrinsic v
represents the pre-tax intrinsic value (the difieeebetween the closing stock price of the Compaogimmon stock on the balance sheet date ai
exercise price for both the outstanding and exabdésoptions) that would have been received byotiten holders if all options had been exercise
March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011.

New shares will be issued by the Company upon éutercise of stock optior
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15 Related party transactions
(a) The Group paid emoluments, commissions and/or dtamy fees to its directors, officers and formiectors as follows
Year ended Mr. So Hung Gun, Mr. Chung Kim Mr. Fok Woo
March 31, Anthony Wah Pin
Director, Chief Executive
Officer and Treasury Director Director
$ in thousand: $ in thousand: $ in thousand:
2009 $930 (i), (iii) $163 (iii) Nil
2010 $80((i) $151 Nil
2011 $915 (i), (iii) $165 (iii) Nil
Mr. J. Stewart Mr. Henry Mr. George Mr. So Chun Wah,
Jackson, I\ Schluete O’Leary Albert
Director and Chief Financial
Director Assistant Secretan Former Director (iv) Officer and Secretary
$ in thousand: $ in thousand: $ in thousand: $ in thousand:
2009 Nil $1009 (ii) $24((v) $8€
2010 Nil $78 (ii) $6C(v) $87
2011 Nil $87 (ii) Nil $11¢

(i) Apart from the emoluments paid by the Group as shabove, one of the properties of the Group in HKpgg is also provided to Mr. !
Hung Gun, Anthony for his accommodatit

(i) The amounts for the years ended March 31, 2009) 26d 2011 represented professional fees paidiiu&er & Associates, P.C., the Grosip’
SEC counsel, in which Mr. Henry Schlueter is onghefprincipals

(iii) The amount for the year ended March 31, 2009, deduunpaid vacation payments of $115,000 and $04®@0Mr. So Hung Gun, Anthon
and Mr. Chung Kim Wabh, respectively. The amounmttfe year ended March 31, 2011, included unpa@htian payments of $115,000 ¢
$14,000 for Mr. So Hung Gun, Anthony, and Mr. Chifimm Wah, respectively

(iv) Mr. George (' Leary resigned from his position as director of @@mpany on November 16, 20(

(v) This represented a consultancy fee paid to Mr. @Ge@leary for provision of support and management sesvzin Germany, for completi

an asset deal to sell Korosassets (accounts receivable, inventories, tookmgl intellectual property rights) to a third gasbmpany and fc
progressing the liquidation of Koror
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Concentrations and Credit Risk

The Group operates principally in the PRC (inclgdiiong Kong) and grants credit to its customerghia geographic region. Although the PR!
economically stable, it is always possible thatniicgpated events in foreign countries could disthye Group’s operations.

Financial instruments that potentially subject@reup to a concentration of credit risk consistagh, trade and notes receivables.

At March 31, 2010 and 2011, the Company had credit exposure of uninsured cash in banks of apprately $8,085,000 and $5,407,C
respectively.

A substantial portion, 45%, 57% and 60% of revemas generated from one customer for the yearsdekiéech 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respecti
The net sales to customers representing at le&stof®et total sales are as follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2009 2010 2011
$in $in $in

thousands % thousands % thousands %

Sunbeam Products, In 17,99( 45 16,29¢ 57 16,93« 60
Gottl Kern + Sohn GMBF 3,91: 10 2,57¢ 9 3,97( 14
Pitney Bowes Inc 5,00¢ 12 2,30( 8 1,745 6
TTI Tech Co. Ltd 4,512 11 2,127 7 85¢ 3
78 81 83

The following customers had balances greater tf¥8f df the total trade receivables at the balaneetstiates set forth below:

March 31,
2010 2011
$in $in
thousands % thousands %
Sunbeam Products, Ir 457 35 962 73
Pitney Bowes Inc. 24¢ 19 51 4

- 0

At March 31, 2010 and 2011, these customers acedunt 54% and 77%, respectively, of net tradeivettes. The trade receivables have repay
terms of not more than twelve months. The Grougsdwt require collateral to support financialriastents that are subject to credit risk.
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Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Employee retirement benefits and severance paymeatiowance

With effect from January 1, 1988, BEL, a Wir@mwned foreign subsidiary of the Company in Hong gamplemented a defined contribution plan
“Plan™) with a major international insurance company tovige life insurance and retirement benefits for emmployees. All permanent full tir
employees who joined BEL before December 2000,ueley factory workers, are eligible to join the ®RlaEach eligible employee that choose
participate in the Plan is required to contribu¥ &f their monthly salary, while BEL is requireddontribute from 5% to 10% depending on the eli
employe’s salary and number of years in serv

The Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPRVgs introduced by the Hong Kong Government and cenaad in December 2000. BEL joined the |
by implementing a plan with a major internationasurance company. All permanent Hong Kong fulletismployees who joined BEL on or a
December 2000, excluding factory workers, must jbim MPF, except for those who joined the Plan ieefdecember 2000. Both the employeahc
employer’s contributions to the MPF are 5% of thigilele employees monthly salary and are subject to a maximum ntangaontribution o
HK$1,000 (US$128) per month.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations, the Gisupquired to make contributions for each empdoya rates based upon the employestandar
salary base as determined by the local Social #gd&ureau, to a defined contribution retiremerftesme organized by the local Social Security Bu
in respect of the retirement benefits for the Gfegmployees in the PRC.

The contributions to each of the above schemesem@gnized as employee benefit expenses when tieegitee and are charged to the consolic
statement of operations. The Gromfbtal contributions to the above schemes forythars ended March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 amoun
$325,000, $276,000 and $318,000, respectively. Giimeip has no other obligation to make paymentespect of retirement benefits of the employ

According to the New Labor Law in the PRC whigas effective on January 1, 2009, a companygsired to provide one month'of salary for eac

year of service as a severance payment. As seeltampany recognized a provision of $660,000 énfigcal year ended March 31, 2011 for sever
payments for staff in the PRC (2010: $659,000)e @bcrued severance payment allowance is reviewesg gear.
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Loss per share

Year ended March 31
2009 2010 2011
$inthousands  $inthousands  $inthousands

Loss applicable to common shareholc

— continuing operation $ (3,849 $ (532) $ (1,43))
— discontinued operations $ (3,735 $ (12€) $ (12€)
Net loss $ (7,589 $ (65€) $ (1,560
Weighted average shares outstant 5,246,903 shar 5,246,903 sharr 5,246,903 shar
Loss per shar— continuing operation $ 0.79) $ 0.10 $ (0.27)
Loss per share — discontinued operations $ (0.72) $ (0.09) $ (0.02)
Net loss per share, basic and dilu $ (1.45) $ (0.19) $ (0.29)

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing nss$ lavailable to common shareholders by the weightedage number of shares of common ¢
outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is compirteal manner consistent with that of basic earnipgisshare while giving effect to all potenti:
dilutive shares of common stock that were outstagnduring the period, including stock options.

The diluted net loss per share is the same asabie bet loss per share for the years ended Matc2@9, 2010 and 2011, as all potential ordi

shares (856,500 shares on March 31, 2009 and 201826,500 shares on March 31, 2011) from the eseaf stock options are ardtilutive and ar
therefore excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share.
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Business segment informatiol

The Group is organized based on the producifers. Under this organizational structure, @®up’s operations can be classified into three bus
segments, Scales, Telecommunication Products amer<

Scales operations principally involve productiord anarketing of sensdrased scales products. These include bathroomhekitcoffice, jewelry
laboratory, postal and industrial scales that aesllin consumer, commercial and industrial apptioat

Telecommunication Products operations principatiyolve production and modification of tweay radios and cordless telephones that are us

Bonso Electronics International Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

consumer and commercial applications.

The “Others”segment is a residual, which principally includes &ctivities of (i) tooling and mould charges $oales and telecommunication produ
and (ii) sales of scrap materials.

The accounting policies of the Grospeportable segments are the same as those @ekarilthe description of business and significaroanting

policies.

Summarized financial information by business segrasrof March 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011 is as follows

2011

Scales
Telecommunication Produc
Others

Total operating segmer
Corporate

Group
Discontinued operations

Total Assets

2010

Scales
Telecommunication Produc
Others

Total operating segmer
Corporate

Group
Discontinued operations

Total Assets

Identifiable Depreciation
Operating assets as of and Capital
Net sales profit /(loss) March 31 amortizatior expenditure

$ in thousand

$ in thousand

$ in thousand

$ in thousand

$ in thousand

25,90 (554) 9,16¢ - 584
2,05¢ (202) 4,32¢ - 691
42¢ 104 102 - -
28,38 (652) 13,59¢ -
(979) 8,211 307 1,27¢
28,38 (1,63) 21,80: 307 1,27¢
5
21,81
25,17: 1,14¢ 8,53¢ 657 228
3,02: (925) 3,87C 73C 26€
34¢ 13€ 69 - -
28,54 35C 12,47 1,381 491
- (1,008) 11,01 571 -
28,54 (655) 23,48¢ 1,95¢ 491
20C
23,68¢
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Business segment information (Continued

(Continued)

2009

Scales
Telecommunication Produc
Others

Total operating segmer
Corporate

Group
Discontinued operations

Total Assets

Operating profit / (loss) by segment equals tofarating revenues less expenses directly attritaittbthe generation of the segmentperatin
revenues. Operating loss of the corporate segouersists principally of salaries and related co$@dministrative staff, and administration and eyex
expenses of the Group. ldentifiable assets by eagare those assets that are used in the opeddtthat segment. Corporate assets consist peitg

Identifiable Depreciation
Operating assets as of and Capital
Net sales profit / (loss) March 31 amortization expenditure

30,35: 151 8,70¢ 824 33
9,47t (2,06€) 6,00 91€ 39
551 99 42 - -
40,37¢ (1,81¢) 14,75 1,74C 72
- (2,337) 10,86¢ 714 -
40,37¢ (4,149 25,61¢ 2,45¢ 72

3,82(

29,43¢

of cash and cash equivalents, deferred incomessetsiand other identifiable assets not relatedifegadly to individual segments.

The Group primarily operates in Hong Kong, the PB€rmany, Canada and the United States. The matotéeof components and their assembly
finished products and research and developmerdaared out in the PRC. The Hong Kong office is mharesponsible for the purchase of raw mate
and arrangement of shipments. Subsidiaries in Geym@anada and the United States were respongiblthé distribution of electronic scales .
telecommunication products in Europe and North AcgerAs the operations are integrated, it is nacpicable to distinguish the netcome derive

among the activities in Hong Kong, the PRC, Germ&wanada and the United Stal

Total property, plant and equipment, net by gedgjcg areas are as follows:

Hong Kong and US/
The PRC

Total property, plant and equipment

March 31, March 31, March 31,
2009 2010 2011
$inthousands  $inthousands  $inthousands
1,672 1,181 1,082
1,702 1,12¢ 2,47¢€
3,37¢ 2,307 3,55¢
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19 Business segment information (Continued

(c) The following is a summary of net export sales bpgraphical areas, which are defined by the fihglraent destination, constituting 10% or mor
total sales of the Company for the years ended Mat¢ 2009, 2010 and 201

Year ended March 31,

2009 2010 2011
$in $in $in
thousands % thousands % thousands %
United State: 26,92 67 19,79¢ 69 18,89: 67
Germany 4,782 12 3,92¢ 14 5,557 20
Other EU countrie 2,85¢ 7 68t 3 1,011 3
Asia and others 5,81¢ 14 4,13¢ 14 2,92¢ 10
40,37¢ 10C 28,54: 10C 28,38’ 10C
(d) The details of sales made to customers constitdii®g or more of total sales of the Company arelmfs:

Year ended March 31,

Business
segment 2009 2010 2011
$ % $ % $ %
Sunbeam Products, In Scales 17,99( 45 16,29¢ 57 16,93« 60
Gottl Kern + Sohn GMBF Scales 3,91: 10 2,57¢ 9 3,97( 14
Pitney Bowes Inc Scales 5,00¢ 12 2,30( 8 1,743 6
Tele-
communicatiol
TTI Tech Co., Ltd. Products 4,512 11 2,127 7 85¢ 3
31,42: 78 23,30: 81 23,50¢ 83
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States Dollars)

Fair value of financial instruments

Effective April 1, 2008, the Group adopted ASC 82@rmerly, SFAS No. 157), “Fair Value Measuremenf$ASC 820"). ASC 820 clarifies th
definition of fair value, prescribes methods forasering fair value and establishes a fair valueanidy to classify the inputs used in measuring
value as follows:

Level 1-Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices invaatiarkets for identical assets or liabilities ke at the measurement date.

Level 24nputs are unadjusted quoted prices for similae@sand liabilities in active markets, quoted ita identical or similar assets and liabilitia
markets that are not active, inputs other thanepliptices that are observable and inputs derivard br corroborated by observable market data.

Level 34dnputs are unobservable inputs which reflect ttporeéng entity's own assumptions on what assumgptthe market participants would ust
pricing the asset or liability based on the besilable information.

The adoption of ASC 820 did not have a materialdotpn the Group’s fair value measurements, asaih@alue of the Groug assets or liabilities «
not differ from their book value.
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Exhibit 12.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Anthony So certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 28f-Bonso Electronics International Inc. (the “Ccang”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report d¢sontain any untrue statement of a material dfacimit to state a material fact necessary to 1
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by this ahregort;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in tlaisnual report, fairly present in all material resg
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the Company as of, and for, the pisrjgresented in this annual report;

4. The Company's other certifying officer and nifyaee responsible for establishing and maintairdigglosure controls and procedures (as defin
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) aretriat control over financial reporting (as definadExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 1Half)) for the
Company and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls pratedures, or caused such disclosure controlspaodedures to be designed under
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatneg to the Company, including its consolidatedsdiaries, is made known to us by others w
those entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal cortvelr financial reporting to be designed undei
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance riegpttle reliability of financial reporting and thmeparation of financial statements for exte
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Gamy's disclosure controls and procedures and miexbén this report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and progesias of the end of the period covered by thierntebased on such evaluations; and

d. Disclosed in this report any changthin Company's internal control over financial mtipg that occurred during the period covere:
the annual report that has materially affecteds oeasonably likely to materially affect, the Caang's internal control over financial reporting.

5. The Company's other certifying officer and Vdalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiamternal controls over financial reporting, tee
Company's auditors and the audit committee of CaryipaBoard of Directors (or persons performingeheivalent function):

a. All significant deficiencies and maaémeaknesses in the design or operation of iafecontrols over financial reporting which
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Compaaipiity to record, process, summarize and repoarcial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not materiahttimvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the Company's intel
controls over financial reporting.

Date: September 30, 2011

/s/ Anthony So
Anthony So, President, Chief Executive Officer dindasurer







Exhibit 12.:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
S ECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Albert So certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form af-Bonso Electronics International Inc. (the “Caang”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report d@ésontain any untrue statement of a material dacimit to state a material fact necessary to 1
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by this ahregort;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in thisnual report, fairly present in all material reg
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the Company as of, and for, the gsrigresented in this annual report;

4. The Company's other certifying officer and nifyaee responsible for establishing and maintairdigglosure controls and procedures (as defin
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ararat control over financial reporting (as definedexchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 151é&){)) for the
Company and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls pratedures, or caused such disclosure controlspaodedures to be designed under
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatieg to the Company, including its consolidatetbsidiaries, is made known to us by others w
those entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is being prepared,;

b. Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal cordvelr financial reporting to be designed undel
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance riegpttle reliability of financial reporting and thmeparation of financial statements for exte
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the @amy's disclosure controls and procedures and mebén this report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and progesias of the end of the period covered by thuertébased on such evaluations; and

d. Disclosed in this report any changthin Company's internal control over financial néipg that occurred during the period covere:
the annual report that has materially affecteds oeasonably likely to materially affect, the camp's internal control over financial reporting.

5. The Company's other certifying officer and Vdalisclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiamternal controls over financial reporting, tee
Company's auditors and the audit committee of the@ny's Board of Directors (or persons perforntivegequivalent function):

a. All significant deficiencies and matmweaknesses in the design or operation of imlecontrols over financial reporting which
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Compaabpidity to record, process, summarize and repoaricial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not materiahttmvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the Company's intet
controls over financial reporting.

Date: September 30, 2011

/sl Albert So
Albert So, Chief Financial Officer and Secret







EXHIBIT 13.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbadey Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of settl350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Goeach of th
undersigned officers of Bonso Electronics Inteal, Inc., a British Virgin Islands internatiortalsiness company (the “Corporationdpes hereby certify,
such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the yesded March 31, 2011 (the “Form 20-F”") of the Qogtion fully complies with the requirements of ec 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 19&lamended, and information contained in the R+ fairly presents, in all material respects, tmafficia
condition and results of operations of the Corporat

Date: September 30, 2011

/sl Anthony Sc
Anthony So

President, Chief Executive Officer and Treasi







EXHIBIT 13.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbdesy Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of settl350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Goeach of th
undersigned officers of Bonso Electronics Intemnadi, Inc., a British Virgin Islands internatiortalsiness company (the “Corporationdpes hereby certify,
such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the yeraded March 31, 2011 (the “Form 20-F") of the Qoation fully complies with the requirements of tec 13
(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 128lamended, and information contained in the F20+4A fairly presents, in all material respects, tmaficia
condition and results of operations of the Corporat

Date: September 30, 2011

/sl Albert Sc
Albert So
Chief Financial Officer and Secrete



